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Corporate Information
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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AUDITOR
Confucius International CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountant
(appointed on 11 April 2024)
HLM CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (resigned on 11 April 2024)
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,/Financial Highlights

Results B

Revenue e
Cultural and entertainment XAk K 3R %t 9918 56,832
Financing BE 31,301 55,329
41,219 112,161
Gross profit EH 35,591 78,934
Operating (loss)/profit e (BR), & (486,091) (116,815)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(BER), & F (506,497) (122,867)

Consolidated Statement SREMBRAR

of Financial Position
Total assets BERE 183,121 703,583
Total liabilities BEBE (58,121) (57,665)
Net (liabilities)/assets (BEFH)  BESE 125,000 645918
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Management Discussion and Analysis

iR E S

BUSINESS REVIEW

NOVA Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the operation
of cultural and entertainment comprehensive services platform
and provision of loan and financing services. The Group has
discontinued its business in the organisation and sponsorship of
exhibitions and events for the year ended 30 June 2023.

Revenue and segment results of the Group for the year ended 30
June 2024 (the "Reporting Year") and for the year ended 30 June
2023 (the "Prior Year” or “2023") are set out as follows:

E 5B

AEEEERARAR(EAQT]) RHEH
BAR(GREIAEE])EE2LFLEL
FIRGIF ARG T B AR IRHERERE R
B-BE_Z_=FXA=tHLFE &
SECRIEEKEENNEDRES NED
ES

AEERBE_Z-_MFEA=THIEFE
((REEEDRBE-_ZE_=F A=+
AFFETEF I ZBE=F K=
ROEEEHTIMT ¢

2024
—ETNE
HK$’000
FHBT
Revenue U=
Exhibitions and events TeRki5E - =
Cultural and entertainment XAk M iR 31,561 9918
Financing BE - 31,301
31,561 41,219
Segment loss from PaN=iaki=|
Exhibitions and events BEE2 MR = (371)
Cultural and entertainment XAk B R g (25,001) (155,675)
Financing BhE (170,667) (315,626)
(195,668) (471,672)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEER RS

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Exhibitions and Events Business

As reported in the annual report of the Company for the year ended
30 June 2023 (“2022/23 Annual Report”), we had discontinued
operation of the exhibitions and events business segment, and
hence no revenue from such business segment was recorded for
the Reporting Year.

Cultural and Entertainment Business

During the Reporting Year, revenue from our cultural and
entertainment business contributed to approximately HK$31.6
million, which represent 100.0% of the Group's revenue. The
Group's revenue mainly comprised of approximately HK$13.1
million, or approximately 41.3% and HK$18.2 million, or
approximately 57.5% from clubbing and entertainment operation
and sales and distribution business respectively.

As disclosed in the 2022/23 Annual Report and the interim report
of the Company for the six months ended 31 December 2023, the
outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, coupled with the subsequent
economics downturn in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"),
has had a significant adverse impact on the Group's business.
In response to these challenges, the Group launched a new
income stream by opening a night club in Central, Hong Kong in
November 2023 (the “Clubbing and Entertainment Operation”).
The night club primarily targeting customers on entertainment
and wine, and also holds various events designed to customers.
However, due to the changed of consumer habits, the continued
emigration of middle-to high-income individuals and the trend of
consumption shifting north that generally faced by the Hong Kong
catering and entertainment industry, the revenue of the Clubbing
and Entertainment Operation was suffered and recorded loss-
making position. In light of the weak performance of the Clubbing
and Entertainment Operation, the Group has devoted tremendous
management time and efforts on the Clubbing and Entertainment
Operation with the hope to turnaround its performance.
Despite various cost control measures and strategies have been
implemented, no significant improvements were noted and the
Group decided to cease operation in February 2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEER RS

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Cultural and Entertainment Business (Continued)

Taking into account the persistent financial losses of the Clubbing
and Entertainment Operation, it was vital for the Group to reassess
its business strategy concerning the Cultural and Entertainment
Operation. Given that the liquor business is one of the Group's
primary activities, after considering the policy developments
favourable to the Chinese liquor industry, the growing influence of
younger consumers on the Chinese liquor consumption, increasing
international demand and strong cultural support for the Chinese
liquor and leveraging Hong Kong's trade advantages as well as
exhibitions and promotions activities, the Group has decided to
redeploy its internal resources toward the sales and distribution of
Chinese liquors, which commenced in May 2024 (the “Sales and
Distribution Business”).

The Sales and Distribution Business recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$18.2 million and a profitable financial position
from the commencement date to the year ended date 30 June
2024. The Sales and Distribution Business of the Group primarily
involves the wholesale and retail of the Chinese liquors both
oversea and/or in Hong Kong. The Group classifies (i) sales to
merchants and other customers whose business operations involve
the resale of the products as wholesale; and (i) sales to corporate
and individual customers who purchase the products for their own
consumption or collection as retail.

The Group offers a diverse and extensive selection of Chinese
liquors, effectively catering to both wholesale and retail customers.
Its strategic partnership with the authorised distributors allows
the Group to offer the famous Chinese liquors. In addition, as the
exclusive general agent for a famous Chinese brandy in Hong
Kong, the Group is well-positioned to capture growing segment
of consumers interested in premium liquors. The products are
sourced from renowned brand known for its superior quality and
craftsmanship, making them highly appealing to both local and
international consumers. This focus on quality and variety helps the
Group differentiate itself in a competitive market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEmENIT )

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Cultural and Entertainment Business (Continued)

In addition, the Group also benefits from an efficient operational
framework and a robust distribution network. Therefore, the
Group's ability to adapt to market trends and consumer behaviors
is also a significant competitive strength. By staying attuned to
industry developments and leveraging data analytics, the Group
can identify emerging opportunities and tailor its offerings
accordingly. This strategic vision positions the Group to capitalise
on the growing global interest in Chinese liquors, particularly
among younger consumers seeking authentic and premium
experiences.

On the other hand, as disclosed in the 2022/23 Annual Report, the
outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic and the implementation of
a four-month long lockdown in Shanghai in 2022 had curtailed
almost all consumerist businesses thereat, thereby turning what
was once a boom into a bust. Suffice to say, the subsequent
economic downturn in the PRC has hit hard in many walks of
trade, and our Group was no exception, in particular our cultural
and entertainment, and financing businesses. In the meantime,
the economic downturn in the PRC has yet to show any marked
abatement, and, as such, our cultural and entertainment business
had been continuously held back. Some of the Group's NOD
Union members, customers in brand management and/or long-
term relationship customers have either temporarily suspended or
chosen to close down their operations. In spite of the revocation
of the COVID-19 social distancing measures, the economic scars
lasting from them have impacted consumer confidence by far,
the continual lackluster consumerism did not have any positive
impact on the Group during the Reporting Year. As a result, except
for the revenue generated from the Clubbing and Entertainment
Operation and Sales and Distribution Business, our revenue
from other businesses in this business segment contributed an
insignificant amount of approximately HK$0.3 million of the Group's
revenue.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EREwm RN

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Cultural and Entertainment Business (Continued)

The cultural and entertainment comprehensive services platform is
currently divided into the following components:

Brand management Mg E R
Promotion and consulting services & KBRS
Trading of goods HmE S
Sales and distribution of goods HERDHE M
Club and entertainment business AT RIRGE TS

EFEEE)
AR IR ()

XAe M IRGET G IRTGF B IR D B N IR RR
Al

Financing Business

The financing business of the Group is divided into credit factoring,
finance leasing and money lending. No revenue was generated
from our financing business during the Reporting Year as compared
to approximately HKS$31.3 million for the Prior Year. For the recovery
of the factoring receivables, finance lease receivables and loan
receivables, please refer to the below section of “Impairment and
amounts written off” for details.

2023/24F FiR « HEEBIERERAT
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEER RS

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Impairment and amounts written off

As disclosed in the 2022/23 Annual Report, the factoring
receivables, finance lease receivables and loan receivables in
relation to the financing business amounted to approximately
HK$168.3 million, HK$2.2 million and HK$0.4 million, respectively,
net of impairment allowances of approximately HK$337.9 million,
HKS$16.0 million and HKS1.1 million, respectively as at 30 June 2023,
among which impairment allowances of approximately HK$327.3
million, HK$13.5 million and HKS$1.1 million, respectively, were
charged to profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2023.

For the Reporting Year, the factoring receivables, finance lease
receivables and loan receivables amounted to approximately
HK$167.0 million, HK$2.2 million and HK$0.4 million, respectively
net of impairment allowances of approximately HK$335.2 million,
HKS$15.9 million and HKS$1.1 million, respectively as at 30 June
2024 which were fully written off and charged to profit or loss for
the year ended 30 June 2024. The impairment allowances after
exchange realignment of approximately HK$335.2 million, HK$15.9
million and HK$1.1 million, respectively brought forward from 30
June 2023 which were fully written off during the Reporting Year.

As disclosed in the 2022/23 Annual Report, the trade receivables
amounted to approximately HK$5.0 million net of impairment
allowances of approximately HK$30.0 million as at 30 June 2023,
among which impairment allowances of approximately HK$17.6
million was charged to profit or loss for the year ended 30 June
2023.

For the Reporting Year, the trade receivables amounted to
approximately HK$4.9 million net of impairment allowances of
approximately HK$29.7 million as at 30 June 2024 which were fully
written off and charged to profit or loss for the year ended 30 June
2024. The impairment allowances after exchange realignment of
approximately HK$29.7 million brought forward from 30 June 2023
which was fully written off during the Reporting Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEER RS

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Impairment and amounts written off (Continued)

The deterioration of such impairment allowance recognised for the
Prior Year was arising from the uncertainty of the recoverability of
the factoring receivables, which was mainly due to the outbreak
of the COVID-19 pandemic and the ensuing implementation of
lockdown measures in Shanghai as previously mentioned in the
2022/23 Annual Report. Following the relaxation of travel measures
in February 2023, it had not given the Group any positive impact
or even a dust of vitality. In any event, we have no sense to predict
whatever the momentum of the global economic downturn will
be, how the businesses become worse resulting from this crisis,
or how long it will take for the global market to recover. During
the Reporting Year, we have tried to recover the debts in the best
possible way and attempted to communicate with our customers
in several ways, such as through site visits, sending out demand
letters, and/or phone calls, as well as by consulting an independent
law firm in the PRC about the possibility of taking legal action
against our customers for the recovery of debts. Unfortunately,
there was no significant progress on the recovery of debts.

During the Reporting Year, for the purpose to evaluate the
recoverability of the outstanding debts from both legal and
financial perspectives and whether the impairment of debtors
to be made is appropriate, the Group has engaged a PRC legal
adviser to conduct due diligence on the outstanding receivables
(the "Receivables”) with an aggregate outstanding amount of
approximately RMB469 million which represented most of the
Group's receivables before impairment allowances for the year
ended 30 June 2024. This due diligence process includes desktop
searches and site visits conducted by the PRC legal adviser.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEmENIT )

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Impairment and amounts written off (Continued)

Based on the opinion form the PRC legal adviser, it is noted that
(i) the Receivables are no longer in operation; and (ii) regarding
the financial positions of the Receivables, their respective
shareholders and the debtors of the Receivables that are subject to
various issues, including but not limited to high-limit restrictions,
dishonored debtors, litigation, seizure and freezing of assets,
outstanding tax payments, and registered and paid-in capital that
is too low relative to the scale of the factoring fund. The PRC legal
adviser has advised that litigation costs of taking legal proceedings
against the Receivables for recovering the outstanding debts far
exceed the actual benefits gained from the lawsuit. In addition,
the PRC legal adviser also stated that the recovery rate for debts
overdue by more than three years seemed to be remote, according
to research and operational conditions of the PRC companies
involved in the disposal of non-performing assets.

After taking into account of the legal opinion provided by the
PRC legal adviser, the Group believes that it is reasonable for the
Group to impair the Receivables and there is a high possibility
of encountering the dilemma of winning the lawsuit but facing
difficulties in enforcement if the Company chooses to pursue
recovery through legal actions, given (a) the Receivables being
out of operation; (b) most of the Receivables having poor financial
conditions based on latest information available, resulting in a loss
of repayment ability; (c) shareholders of the Receivables being
heavily indebted; and (d) shareholders of the Receivables being
liable only to the extent of the registered capital, which is below
RMB 1 million.

After considering the aftermath impact of COVID-19 pandemic on
the macroeconomic environment and the legal opinion provided
by the PRC legal adviser, the board of directors of the Company
believes it is reasonable for the Group to fully write off the long
outstanding factoring receivables, finance lease receivables, loan
receivables and trade receivables for the year ended 30 June 2024.
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HEEBEHERGEEARE
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEER RS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Reporting Year, the Group had recorded approximately
HKS$31.6 million in revenue, representing a decrease of
approximately 23.4% as compared with that in the Prior Year of
approximately HK$41.2 million. Operating loss from continuing
operations for the Reporting Year was approximately HK$204.5
million as compared with an operating loss from continuing
operations of approximately HK$486.1 million for the Prior Year. Net
loss for the Reporting Year was approximately HK$210.0 million,
representing an decrease of approximately 58.5% as compared
with the net loss in the Prior Year of approximately HK$506.5
million. The decrease in net loss was mainly attributable to (i)
decrease in recognition of impairment losses under expected
credit loss model and write-off of receivable in Reporting Year, net
of reversal of approximately of HK$174.6 million compared to Prior
Year, approximately HK$359.5 million; and (ii) no recognition of
impairment losses on goodwill in the Reporting Year compared to
approximately HK$129.0 million was recognised in the Prior Year.

The following table sets forth a summary of the performance of the
Group for the Reporting Year with comparative figures for the Prior
Year as follows:

A T3 1 RR

RBEFE - AEESBF K4 31,600,000
B I B R 441,200,000 JT D 4
234% c MEFEREFELEER 21L&
&5 18 49 & 204,500,000 7 7T+ 2= F RIE% 15 2K
BB G E T 2 18 & B8 %) 486,100,000
BT IEFE 2 FEEL 210,000,000
BT B EF FE 18 49506,500,0007 JT
A HI585%  FEEBMALEZHNOR
REFERRAEPREEBEBEEAET 2R
EE B & B FIE MR L - f0BR BB 4
174,600,000 7T * M & & /& #9359,500,000
B RNRBEFEABREERES
18 & BIFETR#9 129,000,000 7T °

TR AEERFEFEZXRERE - &
RIEFHLBRBEFOT

For the year ended 30 June
BEANA=1THLFE

2024 2023
—ENEF —T-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

(Restated)

(&%)

Revenue g 31,561 41,219
Gross profit EF 9,783 35,591
Operating loss K EE (204,503) (486,091)
Operating loss margin (%) RE BB E (%) (647.96%) (1,179.29%)

Net loss on financial assets at FVTPL

Impairment loss on goodwill
Impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets
Impairment loss on intangible assets
Provision for impairment losses under
ECL model and write-off of receivable,
net of reversal
Loss for the year

BAHEFABGE EREE

ZIEEFEE = (830)
EEREEE - (129,032)
M - WEREERERE

(6,043) -
FREEERERSRE (5,162) (970)
| EERBEREIE - (730)
EHEEEEBEAB T ZRE

BB e R B IR

SRIEMEH (FNBR#EE) (174,570) (359,493)
FEEE (210,038) (506,497)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEER RS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Revenue

The revenue had decreased by approximately HK$9.6 million, or
approximately 23.4%, from approximately HK$41.2 million for the
Prior Year to approximately HK$31.6 million for the Reporting Year.
The decrease was mainly the result of no revenue was recognised
from the financing segment in the Reporting Year, compared to
approximately HK$31.3 million in the Prior Year.

Other Gains and Losses

The other losses had decreased by approximately HK$2.1 million,
or approximately 56.68%, from net other losses of approximately
HK$3.6 million for the Prior Year to net other losses of approximately
HKS$1.5 million for the Reporting Year.

Impairment Loss on Goodwill

The Group had not recognised impairment loss on goodwill in
the Reporting Year. During the Prior Year, the Group recognised
impairment loss on goodwill of approximately HK$129.03 million, of
which approximately HK$126.51 million was for Cheer Sino Group
cash-generating unit ("CGU(s)"), approximately HK$2.09 million was
for Fortune Selection Group CGU, approximately HK$0.33 million
and approximately HK$0.10 million were for CIS CGU and Hanahal
CGU, respectively.

Provision for Impairment Losses under ECL Model and Write-
off of Receivable, Net of Reversal

During the Reporting Year, the Group recognised impairment
losses under expected credit loss ("ECL") model and write-off of
receivable, net of reversal of approximately HK$174.6million. The
impairment assessment under ECL model is performed individually
or based on a provision matrix. The credit risk has increased
significantly as there is a higher risk that a prolonged pandemic
could lead to increased credit default rates. However, such credit
default rates had not dropped after relaxation of social distancing
measures as our customers are still suffering from ripple effect
of the COVID-19 pandemic. In particular, enterprises, shops and
restaurants remain adversely impacted resulting in temporary
suspension or even close-down of their operations. The ECLs are
estimated based on the probability of default and loss given default
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue costs or effort.

BAFEEEE (&)
Y=

Wz B £ F 441,2000008 TR D 4
9,600,000 JT 3 #1234 E R H F E L
31,600,000 7 o WM EERRRNMEFE
WEERRERE DIz W @ mEF R
SR #931,300,000 7T °

Hitt 2 & & 18

H b 5518 B & F H th B5 18 7F B8 49 3,600,000
7B 7T A #9 2,100,000 78 7T 3k 4 56.68% = ¥R
T H A E 1B FREAY 1,500,000 78 T ©

BB EEE

AEEBRREFETERRTEREES
Be£F AEEBREBEBZREEED
129,030,000/ 7T+ H & #9126,510,000/%8
TERESEBRRCELEN(REE
H£ BT ) 492,090,000 7T B R Fortune
Selection e B3R & EE £ BE AL ~ #9330,0007%
TR #)100,000 8T A RIBR RS ESE
BUNELERESEEBENM -

FAHFEEERRENAT 2REBRRERE
SRR S (FOBRIE @)

RBEFE AEEBRABHEEERE
([FEREEFE D EXBET 2 REBER
JE LA S TE 8 (FN Bk # 81 ) 49 174,600,000 78
TC o ANEEIRER| B EEETEREER
EEEXT ZREFNE - ARNRIEFHETE
BEEEHREMHERES @ BUILEER
RE ARG o AW - RGBS
% EEEHNRIARTE  REEEFDA
SXCOVID- 19 EMERERE - LEED
¥ EHERBEDAZITAFE  BHE
FEE  BEREFEIEE - BHEEBHBR
BRI EMBLIBREEITHE - YT
AR BZ ARSI ESNATE KL A]
SERIEMERHEL AZ -

14 NOVA Group Holdings Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEER RS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Selling and Administrative Expenses

The Group's selling expenses had decreased by approximately
65.8%, from approximately HK$5.2 million for the Prior Year to
approximately HK$1.8 million for the Reporting Year. Such decrease
was primarily affected by the decrease in revenue.

The Group's administrative expenses for the Reporting Year had
increased to approximately HK$25.6 million (2023: approximately
HKS$23.7 million).

Operating Loss from Continuing Operations and Operating
Loss Margin

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s operating loss from
continuing operations for the Reporting Year was approximately
HKS$204.5 million, as compared with an operating loss from
continuing operations of approximately HK$486.1 million for
the Prior Year. The Group had an operating loss margin of
approximately 647.96% for the Reporting Year, as compared with
an operating loss margin of approximately 1,179.29% for the Prior
Year. The significant decrease in operating loss was mainly due to
the decrease in impairment loss on goodwill and impairment losses
under ECL model and write-off of receivable, net of reversal led
after considering the recoverability of the outstanding receivable.

Finance Costs

The Group's finance costs had increased by approximately HK$1.4
million, or approximately 35.5%, from approximately HK$4.0 million
for the Prior Year to approximately HK$5.4 million for the Reporting
Year.

Loss for the Year Attributable to the Owners of the Company

The Group's loss for the year attributable to the owners of the
Company had decreased by approximately HK$305.9 million, from
approximately HK$506.5 million for the Prior Year to approximately
HK$200.5 million for the Reporting Year.

BAFEEREE (&)
SHERTHEAX

AN EE RS E R XA & F 45,200,000 7T
B 47 65.8% F 3R F 491,800,000 7T ©
EERLEBZWSI RO E -

AEBRREFENTHRHAIEINELY
25,600,00078 7T (ZZF = = £ : 4923,700,000
BIT) °

AR LR AEBRFEFEREF
B S E TS 2 48 B 1B %) 5 204,500,000 78
T MEFRABELCLEEE ZELEIBY
#5486,100,0008 7 c AEBE 2K EHEEX
RBEFEEHNB647.96% @ MEFZIKEE
BEAE1,17920% ° KL EBRAER L E
TR E B AR EE RIGIE 2 Al B 1 1%
BYNEmEREEEREREESEEXE
T2 B EEE & EW SR IEM S (R ER)

B R AN

7N £ B /9 B 7% A 2K /7 25 F 49 4,000,000 78 7T
N4 1,400,000 7 TCEK #9 35.5% B MREFE
#9 5,400,000 7 TT, ©
KRAREEAEBEFEEER

AAREE ANEBLEAEEZ FEBEBILEF

#506,500,000 7 T J& 2> #9305,900,000 78 JT
ZIREFEEZ A 200,500,000 7 TT ©
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EREFRE )

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Save as disclosed in this announcement, the Group did not hold
any significant investments during the Reporting Year.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
RESOURCES

As at 30 June 2024, the Group's total current assets and current
liabilities were approximately HK$26.5 million (2023: approximately
HK$182.9 million) and approximately HK$74.7 million (2023:
approximately HK$58.1 million), respectively, while the current ratio
was about 0.36 times (2023: about 3.15 times).

As at 30 June 2024, the Group maintained cash and bank balances
of approximately HK$2.7 million (2023: approximately HK$2.4
million). The cash and bank balances of the Group as at 30 June
2024 were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$") and
Renminbi (‘RMB”).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 30 June 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

Capital Commitments

As at 30 June 2024 and 2023, the Group had no material capital
commitments contracted but not provided for.

Capital Structure

As at 30 June 2024, the Company's issued share capital was
approximately HK$4.11 million (2023: approximately HK$4.11
million) with 2,054,153,277 (2023: 2,054,153,277) ordinary shares of
HK$0.002 each inissue.

EXRE

BRANDMFIIRERESN
BREEMERKRE -

nEEE - MBEERREFER

AEERREFEL

RZZTE_OFERNA= +E! AEEREE
EXReaEEE D B A4 265000008
T(ZEZ=%F: z’]1829000005%77:)&%’\]
74,700,000/ JL(Z & = = 4F : #958,100,000
BIL) MABLERALBE(ZE=Z=
& H3.1518) °

R-ZZE-_MESNA=+tH X&£ERS
FERITE SR EFE# 2,700,008 T (ZE ==
F 1 492,400,00087T) c RZEZMF XA
Z+H AEBZREMRITHEGHEB NS
TR EARE(TARYEETE -
HAEE
R-E-UER-—ZE-_=FHA=1+H" ' &
SEEVETAEAKAEE -

BANESE

R-B_EER-_FT_=FAXA=FTH &
SEWEDITOERBE I EREARAE -

BARRHE

RZZE-_WFANA=+H ' XQFEET
A4 AB41100008 T(ZEZ=F : 4
4,110,000/ 7t ) * H A B #172,054,153,277
(=T = =4 : 2,054,153,277 ) B EE
0.002 BTz LB ©
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEST RS2

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
RESOURCES (Continued)

Borrowing and Corporate Bonds

In the foreseeable future, the Group expects to fund its capital
expenditures, working capital and other capital requirements
from the internal resources and other financing means which
the Company may from time to time consider appropriate. As at
30 June 2024, the Group's borrowing and corporate bonds were
approximately HK$58.4 million (2023: approximately HK$43.9
million).

REBESR - MBARREFERE)

BRRLRES

RAITER KR - AEEBHEERBERK
RABAIRETNERBEE 2 Hibph & 77 =%
NEEATH LEBEESREMBERT K-
F_Z_Eﬁf—\ﬂ_-f-a ZX%@ZF?A’

N A& % A #)584000008 T(— T - =
¢ : #743,900,0007T) ©

2024

—s-me
HK$'000

AR R RRES

Borrowing and corporate bonds

FEx

Within 1 year —FRA 20,574 43,906
Over 1 year and within 5 years —FAERFUA 37,839
Total HEt 58,413 43,906

The Group manages its capital to safeguard the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders of the Company through maintaining the equity and
debt in a balanced position.

As at 30 June 2023, the corporate bonds of approximately HK$48.0
million were unsecured and fixed rate interest bearing debt
securities.

The gearing ratio is the ratio of total debt divided by total assets.
As at 30 June 2024, the gearing ratio was approximately 197.35%
(2023: approximately 23.98%).

2023/24FF4R o

AEFBEEAEER  IREXAEEFELE
ZBEN - RIE BB AR B AR E A&
REARR AR B o

RZE-=F/NA=1H8 ' 448,000,000
TTZAREFABEERKLETEF R BERS

ERBBLREEHABRUNEERB L

R -R-_B_NFEXA=+H EXBELL
R E197.35% ( “ B - =4 : #723.98%) °
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

B ES &S 2)

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

There was no specific plan for material investments or capital assets
as at 30 June 2024.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the Reporting Year.

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Reporting Year (2023: Nil).

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

The Group has no significant event after the end of the Reporting
Year up to the date of this announcement.

FUTURE PLANS AND PROSPECTS

The past few years after the COVID-19 were so eventful that most
enterprises experienced unprecedented challenges. Multiple
unexpected factors gave rise to a tough time for the Group to
keep a stable development and its normal operations. Although
the COVID-19 pandemic has subsided and both the PRC and Hong
Kong governments have relaxed anti-pandemic measures, it still
takes time for businesses to resume under the sluggish global
economy.

EXREHEFEEZKRKETE
RIE-MOFERA=+H  TEBEAKRER
BAREEARE -

EXWEREE

AEERREFELBEAEARBRLE
MEBAR - BEQRAERE -

iz 8

EETEIRBREFERNRPRE(ZF
—=FETER) -

BEFERER

RBEFEFERREEARMAY » K&
I AL ERFE o

RIRETEIRAI=

COVID-19RIBERBEBFEBLZE 2
REHEEBIFFIABHLE - ZTEE
INARSAEEH UL BERRRIIEEE
E o BECOVID-19ZIBEHER  FBRE
BT E RGP R A i - B7E 2 BREE R 2K
BB T EE IR R o
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEETwmEDIT )

FUTURE PLANS AND PROSPECTS (Continued)

Faced with such market pressures and challenges, the Group
constantly reviews and consolidates insights. We understand that
remaining stagnant would only lag itself behind its peers. Therefore,
after prudent consideration, the Group and its management
decided to cease its Clubbing and Entertainment Operation in
order to allocate its resources more efficiently on existing and
potential business projects. Going forward, the Group will continue
strengthen its Sales and Distribution Business in a proactive
manner, the Group is confident that its strategic initiatives will not
only enhance its market position but also contribute significantly
to long-term growth and profitability. We will also consider various
ways to enhance our strength with an aim to improve the overall
performance.

The Group and its management recognise the importance of
diversity of income streams under the adverse market condition.
Except for seeking various channels for fund raising, the Group
will prudently monitor the potential business opportunities and
make full use of our existing resources to strive for more diversified
business opportunities, so as to diversify our business risk and
income stream as well as to maximise shareholders’ value as a
whole.

KIRTEIRAIR(E)

EHZETIHEN ME - NEE TR
REARE - HZfMIAR -  FHTAIIRES
FRERET - Bt - KEEZEIEL A%
B R EEEERERILE S NIRRT -
NEEBREEERDETIRE MBEE
BIEE - RERK  AREBEEERR(C
HIFERDHER - ARER(E - AERE
B MERBRITEMGHA - AR TFERK
HIRRRANGENEHERETR - HATE
ZRERTRSTAERESEN  HEEBE
=| e

AEBMEEERBRMABANRIREZ TR T
MR TZERE BRYEEREREES
Sh - AEERERERBEDHE - XRDH
RREERFREZZTENEE - fEmD
HEBRE - ZILERARER - BERERE
BEERKL-
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEETwmE DT )

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES IN THE PAST TWELVE
MONTHS

Save as disclosed below, there was no other equity fund raising
activity of the Company during the last 12 months prior to the date
of this announcement:

Date of
announcements

=

Approximate
net proceeds

BAFREHERE

Fund raising activity

585D

BET-ERAZEEES

BT XA EE SN - ARRIRA R B HAR
RET_EAGELMRAEELS

Actual use
of proceeds

FERAERAR

Intended use of proceeds

FrERERERR

30 December 2022 and
20 January 2023

Placing of ordinary shares  HK$13.50 million

(the "Placing")

—ZE-- =2l 13,500,000 78 7T
+-A=+8R (IRE)D
—E-=F

—A=-+H

(i) Approximately 22.22%
towards the repayment of
debts of the Group;

Fully used as
intended

(il) Approximately 18.52%
towards potential
investments when
opportunities arise; and

(i) Remaining amount
towards replenishment
of working capital of
the Group to support its
business operations

0 HuNwAREERAE Z2HAERTRZ
Bl &

(i) 18520 AR KEHE
BETBERE

(i) HEARNHEASEZ
EEERULTRBERE
&

During the Reporting Year, with view to bringing in additional
capital to the Company and strengthening the cash flow position
of the Group, a total of 198,250,000 ordinary shares of the Company
have been issued under general mandate through a placing agent
to not less than six independent placees at HK$0.073 per placing
share (net price per placing share: approximately HK$0.068; closing
price of shares on 30 December 2022: HKS0.09 per share) pursuant
to the terms and conditions of the placing agreement dated 30
December 2022. For other details of the Placing, please refer to the
announcements of the Company respectively dated 30 December
2022 and 20 January 2023.

RBEEE - BREANDRS AZEINE R
BAEBZESREMRN  BARERER
—MEERERAAE_ TS _—_F+-A=7
A2 B E R IR - REREERN
0073 BT 2 BIRAT DR NBE AR A
176 198,250,000 R A A A E @A (TR
FeERDFE : 8900688TT: R-T -
F+_A=ZTBBRHUTE: 880095
JL) c B E 2 EMEFE - F2HEAAA
HBE AT _F+=-_A=+HEK=F
—ZF—A-t+HzZAMHm
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEETwmEDIT )

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group manages or operates its business in Hong Kong and
the PRC and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising financial
instruments for hedging purpose.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had a total of 20 full-time employees
in Hong Kong and the PRC (2023: 23 full-time employees).
The remuneration payable to its employees included salaries,
discretionary bonus and commissions. Remuneration packages
were generally structured according to market situations and
individual performance. Apart from the mandatory provident fund
and statutory retirement benefits, the Group also provided medical
benefits and trainings to its employees. The Company has also
adopted a share option scheme as incentive to eligible employees.

Furthermore, the remuneration committee of the Board will review
and give recommendations to the Board as to the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management of the Group
with reference to salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and senior
management of the Group.

The total remuneration paid to employees, including the Directors,
for the Reporting Year was approximately HK$12.4 million (2023:
approximately HK$13.2 million). Remuneration was determined
with reference to market terms and the performance, qualification
and experience of each individual employee.

SINEE [ B

AEEREFENTEEENEELRE I
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEETwmE DT )

AUDITOR’S DISCLAIMER OF OPINION AND
PROPOSED ACTION PLAN OF THE GROUP TO
ADDRESS THE DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters
described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section” of our
report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our
opinion the consolidated financial statements have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION

A)

22

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING CONCERN

As described in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group reported a loss attributable to the
owners of the Company of approximately HK$200,549,000
and operating cash outflow of approximately HK$3,610,000
for the financial year ended 30 June 2024. The Group's current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$48,130,000 and
its total liabilities exceeded its total assets by HK$86,240,000
as at 30 June 2024 and, as of that date, the Group's cash and
bank balances amounted to approximately HK$2,737,000
while the Group's current and non-current borrowings
of approximately HK$10,449,000 and corporate bond of
approximately HK$47,964,000. These conditions indicate the
existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have carried out a detailed
review of the cash flow forecast of the Group for the next
twelve months from the date of this report and have
undertaken to carry out a number of measures to improve
the Group's liquidity and financial position which are set out
in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

ERERR )

AUDITOR’S DISCLAIMER OF OPINION AND
PROPOSED ACTION PLAN OF THE GROUP TO
ADDRESS THE DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION (Continued)

A)

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING CONCERN
(Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends on
the outcome of the following measures, which are subject
to multiple uncertainties, including (i) the Group can obtain
additional sources of financing as and when needed; and (ii)
the Group can successfully improve its operation to generate
sufficient operating cash inflow. The consolidated financial
statements do not include any adjustments that would result
from the failure to obtain additional sources of financing to
improve its financial positions, to provide liquidity and cash
flows.

We consider that the going concern basis of preparation of
the consolidated financial statements has been adequately
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, and we
also consider that the material uncertainty relating to the
Group's going concern has been adequately disclosed in
the consolidated financial statements. However, in view
of the extent of the multiple uncertainties relating to the
maintaining of sufficient operation to generate operating
cash inflow and the obtaining of additional sources of
financing, we disclaim our opinion in respect of the material
uncertainty relating to the going concern basis.

Should the Group fail to achieve the intended effects
resulting from the plans and measures as mentioned in note
3 to the consolidated financial statements, it might not be
able to operate as a going concern, and adjustments would
have to be made to write down the carrying amounts of the
Group's assets to their respective net realisable amounts,
and to provide for any further liabilities that may arise and
to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities respectively. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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AUDITOR’S DISCLAIMER OF OPINION AND
PROPOSED ACTION PLAN OF THE GROUP TO
ADDRESS THE DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION (Continued)

B)

24

OPENING BALANCE AND CORRESPONDING FIGURES AND
WRITE-OFF OF RECEIVABLES

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 30 June 2023 were audited by other auditors
(the “Predecessor Auditors’), who expressed a disclaimer
opinion on 29 September 2023. The Predecessor Auditors
were unable to satisfy themselves about the recoverability
of factoring receivables, finance lease receivables and trade
receivables at 30 June 2023. The carrying amount of factoring
receivables, finance lease receivables and trade receivables
amounted to approximately HK$168,313,000, HK$2,225,000
and HKS$4,975,000 respectively as at 30 June 2023.

The Predecessor Auditors were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence relating to the financial status
of these debtors and lack of information to ascertain the
uncertainty on the enforcement actions taken to recover
the aforesaid balances, therefore the Predecessor Auditors
were unable to assess the recoverability of the factoring
receivables, finance lease receivables and trade receivables
as at 30 June 2023, and unable to determine whether any
adjustments to the impairment loss recognised during
the year ended 30 June 2023 in respect of the factoring
receivables, finance lease receivables and trade receivables
were necessary, which might have a significant impact on the
Group's financial position as at 30 June 2023, and its financial
performance and the elements making up the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2023 and
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEETwmEDIT )

AUDITOR’S DISCLAIMER OF OPINION AND
PROPOSED ACTION PLAN OF THE GROUP TO
ADDRESS THE DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION (Continued)

B)

OPENING BALANCE AND CORRESPONDING FIGURES AND
WRITE-OFF OF RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The directors of the Company determined to write-off the
factoring receivables, finance lease receivables and trade
receivables, as there is no realistic prospect of recovery
after taken into account: (a) an independent review of the
possibility and viability of taking legal proceedings against
all factoring debtors for recovering the outstanding debts,
which was conducted by an independent professional
law firm in the PRC indicating all factoring debtors were in
financial difficulties; (b) no recovery from legal proceedings
against the finance lease debtors since year 2022; and (c)
the respective outstanding amounts of trade receivables
are past due. The write-off of factoring receivables, finance
lease receivables and trade receivables of HK$166,994,000,
HK$2,208,000 and HK$4,936,000 respectively is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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AUDITOR’S DISCLAIMER OF OPINION AND
PROPOSED ACTION PLAN OF THE GROUP TO
ADDRESS THE DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION (Continued)

B)

26

OPENING BALANCE AND CORRESPONDING FIGURES AND
WRITE-OFF OF RECEIVABLES (Continued)

However, in view of the lack of information relating to
the financial status for the factoring receivables, finance
lease receivables and trade receivables, we were unable
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy
ourselves about those management judgment, assumptions
and estimation techniques adopted in such impairment
assessment for the factoring receivables, finance lease
receivables and trade receivables that fully written off.
Our opinion on the current period’s consolidated financial
statements is also disclaimed because of the possible effects
of these matters on the comparability of the current period’s
figures and corresponding figures. The closing balances as at
30 June 2023 of these receivables of the Group are brought
forward as the opening balances as at 1 July 2023 and hence
entered into the determination of the financial performance
and cashflows of the Group for the current year ended 30
June 2024. Any adjustments that might have been found to
be necessary in respect of the above may have consequential
significant effects on the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of cashflows, and related disclosures in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2024. Accordingly, we were unable to determine
whether adjustments might have been necessary in respect
of the performance and cashflows of the Group reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year ended 30 June 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EREwmENIT &)

THE MANAGEMENT’S POSITION, VIEW AND
ASSESSMENT ON THE DISCLAIMER OF OPINION AND
ACTIONS TO BE TAKEN BY THE GROUP

The following sets for the management’s position, view and
assessment on the disclaimer of opinion and where appropriate,
actions to be taken by the Group to address the disclaimer of
opinion ("“Disclaimer of Opinion") included in the auditor’s report
of Confucius International CPA Limited (“Confucius”) in relation to
the consolidated financial statements of the Group:

Basis A: Matters relating to material uncertainties relating to
going concern

As described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group reported a loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of approximately HK$200,549,000 and operating cash
outflow of approximately HK$3,610,000 for the financial year
ended 30 June 2024. The Group's current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by HK$48,130,000 and its total liabilities exceeded
its total assets by HK$86,240,000 as at 30 June 2024 and, as of
that date, the Group's cash and bank balances amounted to
approximately HK$2,737,000 while the Group's current and non-
current borrowings of approximately HK$10,449,000 and corporate
bond of approximately HK$47,964,000. These conditions indicate
the existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
Although the directors of the Company have carried out a detailed
review of the cash flow forecast of the Group for the next twelve
months from the date of this report and have undertaken to carry
out a number of measures to improve the Group's liquidity and
financial position. However, in view of the extent of the multiple
uncertainties relating to the maintaining of sufficient operation to
generate operating cash inflow and the obtaining of additional
sources of financing, Confucius disclaim their opinion in respect of
the material uncertainty relating to the going concern basis.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEETwmE DT )

THE MANAGEMENT’S POSITION, VIEW AND
ASSESSMENT ON THE DISCLAIMER OF OPINION AND
ACTIONS TO BE TAKEN BY THE GROUP (Continued)

Basis A: Matters relating to material uncertainties relating to
going concern (Continued)

The basis set out under Basis A giving rise to the Disclaimer of
Opinion on the financial statements for the year ended 30 June
2024 (“2023/24 Financial Statements”) was developed on
should the Group fail to achieve the intended effects resulting from
the plans and measures as mentioned in note 3 to the 2023/24
Financial Statements, it might not be able to operate as a going
concern.

Having considered that based on the latest preliminary
management account of the sales and distribution business of the
Group, the total revenue for the sales and distribution business
is satisfied. The expansion of sales and distribution business and
growth in revenue mitigate the Group's liquidity pressure and
improve its cash flow. Therefore, subject to the implementation of
the fundraising activities, the directors of the Company believe the
going concern Issue will be solved. In accordingly, such basis for
the Disclaimer of Opinion on 2023/24 Financial Statements will be
removed on the consolidated financial statements of the Company
for the year ended 30 June 2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

ERERR )

THE MANAGEMENT’S POSITION, VIEW AND
ASSESSMENT ON THE DISCLAIMER OF OPINION AND
ACTIONS TO BE TAKEN BY THE GROUP (Continued)

Basis B: Opening balances and corresponding figures and
write-off

The predecessor auditors were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence relating to the financial status of these
debtors and lack of information to ascertain the uncertainty on
the enforcement actions taken to recover the aforesaid balances,
therefore the predecessor auditors were unable to assess the
recoverability of the factoring receivables, finance lease receivables
and trade receivables as at 30 June 2023, and unable to determine
whether any adjustments to the impairment loss recognised
during the year ended 30 June 2023 in respect of the factoring
receivables, finance lease receivables and trade receivables were
necessary, which might have a significant impact on the Group's
financial position as at 30 June 2023, and its financial performance
and the elements making up the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year ended 30 June 2023 and related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. Although the directors of the
Company determined to fully write-off the factoring receivables,
finance lease receivables and trade receivables for the year ended
30 June 2024, after considered several factors, as there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. However, in view of the lack of information
relating to the financial status for the factoring receivables,
finance lease receivables and trade receivables, Confucius was
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy
ourselves about those management judgment, assumptions and
estimation techniques adopted in such impairment assessment
for the factoring receivables, finance lease receivables and trade
receivables that fully written off. As a result, Confucius disclaim their
opinion in respect of the opening balances and corresponding
figures and write-off.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEETwmE DT )

THE MANAGEMENT’S POSITION, VIEW AND
ASSESSMENT ON THE DISCLAIMER OF OPINION AND
ACTIONS TO BE TAKEN BY THE GROUP (Continued)

Basis B: Opening balances and corresponding figures and
write-off (Continued)

The Company is of the view that, the matters which were the
subject matters of the scope limitation referred to above no longer
have possible effects on the figures presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2024,
and it shall not have carried forward effect to consolidated financial
statements of the year ending 30 June 2025, except the effect of
comparability of the relevant financial information presented as
comparative figures, barring unforeseen circumstances which may
arise after the date hereof over the relevant items, such basis set
out under Basis B giving rise to the Disclaimer of Opinion on the
2023/24 Financial Statements will be removed in the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 30 June
2025.

Based on the above, the Company is of the view that it will be
able to address the basis for the Disclaimer of Opinion expressed
by Confucius on the 2023/24 Financial Statements, and the
relevant basis for the Disclaimer of Opinion on the 2023/24
Financial Statements will be removed in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2025.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EREZEEFR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Ms. Woo Lan Ying (“Ms. Woo"), aged 57, is an entrepreneur
operating various businesses, including but not limited to
consultancy and entertainment business. Ms. Woo has extensive
experience in corporate management and project investments.
Ms. Woo also involved in a lot of charitable and community
activities and was a member of the Campaign Committee of The
Community Chest of Hong Kong for the year of 2018/2019. Ms.
Woo was appointed as an executive director on 1 December 2020
and redesignated as chairman of the board of directors on 30
June 2021 of Jisheng Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8133),
a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. Ms. Woo
had been an executive director and vice chairman of the board
of directors of Hing Ming Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8425), a
company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, for the period
from March 2021 to January 2022. Ms. Woo has been appointed as
an executive director and vice chairperson of the board of directors
of Silkware Inc (Stock Code: 471), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange since 14 May 2024. Ms. Woo also has been appointed as
an executive director and the chief executive officer of Yuk Wing
Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1536) since 2 July 2024.

Mr. Deng Zhonglin (“Mr. Deng"), aged 50, was appointed as
an executive Director on 14 October 2016. Mr. Deng holds
directorships in several subsidiaries of the Company includingf@
EmEMRE (R BRAA (transliterated as Furuida Financial
Leasing (Shenzhen) Co,, Ltd) and E/BFEREREBRA A
(transliterated as Shanghai Shouxin Commercial Factoring Co., Ltd.),
etc.
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Biographical Details of Directors (continued)

BEEZEEHIE 2

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Deng graduated from Shenzhen University in 1995. He has over
23 years of experience in corporate management and strategic
planning. He is familiar with the exhibition industry and the
operation of advertising business. Mr. Deng served as an assistant
to the general manager of L/8BAMEEBR QA (transliterated
as Shanghai Wanzhou Shipping Co., Ltd.) from 1999 to 2003. Mr.
Deng served as the managing director of K Z M EAR A
A] (transliterated as Ever Maru Shipping Co., Ltd.) from 2004 to
2009. Mr. Deng also served as the general manager of /8% R
B EEAR AR (transliterated as Shanghai Public Advertising
Communications Co., Ltd.) from 2010 to 2017, which was mainly
engaged in advertising, display and exhibition services as well as
conference services.

Mr. Wong Ka Shing (“Mr. Wong"), aged 45, holds a Bachelor of
Arts (Hon) degree in Accounting and Finance issued from The
Leeds Metropolitan University in 2003. He is a fellow of both The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wong was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of China Supply Chain
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 3708) (a company listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, (the
“Stock Exchange”)) on 12 October 2021 and re-designated as
an executive director since 1 October 2022 and appointed as the
chief executive officer since 14 June 2023. Mr. Wong had been (i)
an executive director of Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 1536) (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange) during the period from January 2019 to January 2021;
and (i) an independent non-executive director of Jisheng Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8133) (a company listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange) during the period from April 2015 to April
2022. Mr. Wong has extensive experience in accounting, auditing,
company secretary and financial management.
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Biographical Details of Directors (continued)

BEEZEEHIE 2

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tsang Wing Ki (“Mr. Tsang"), aged 62, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 9 March 2017. Mr. Tsang
is currently the chairman of the audit committee of the Board
and a member of the remuneration committee of the Board. Mr.
Tsang has over 28 years of experience in finance, accounting
and auditing. Mr. Tsang obtained a professional diploma in
accountancy from Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in November 1987 and a
master of professional accounting from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in November 2000. Mr. Tsang is a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (FCPA)
and a fellow member of the Chartered Association of Certified
Accountants (FCCA).

Mr. Tsang was a chief financial officer of Xin Dau Ji Membership
Management Limited from July 2015 to September 2019. Mr. Tsang
was an independent non- executive director of VBG International
Holdings Limited (currently known as Hatcher Group Limited), a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8365)
from May 2017 to December 2017. Mr. Tsang was an independent
non-executive director of ICube Technology Holdings Limited
(currently known as Central Wealth Group Holdings Limited), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 139) from November 2014 to July 2016. Mr. Tsang was an
independent non-executive director of Unity Investments Holdings
Limited (currently known as Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 913) from September 2004 to October 2014. Mr. Tsang
was also an executive director of Noble Jewelry Holdings Limited
(currently known as Central Development Holdings Limited), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 475) from August 2008 to December 2011.
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Biographical Details of Directors (continued)

BEEZEEHIE 2

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. Wong Kong Tin, JP (‘Dr. Wong"), aged 57, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 13 December 2017.
Dr. Wong is the chairman of the remuneration committee of
the Board, and a member of each of the audit committee and
the nomination committee of the Board. He has over 30 years of
practical experience in the legal fields of cross-border investment
in Greater China, financing, corporate acquisition, merger, listing,
real estate project development, e-commerce, brand management,
corporate governance, arbitration mediation, and media and public
administration.

Dr. Wong holds an LLB and LLM from Peking University,
postgraduate diploma in English and Hong Kong Law from The
Manchester Metropolitan University in the United Kingdom,
and LLD in constitutional and administrative law from Renmin
University of China. He is also an associate of each of Chartered
Institute of Arbitrators and Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators, a
Hong Kong registered financial planner, a fellow of the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors, an accredited general mediator of the Hong
Kong Mediation Accreditation Association Limited, a founding
member of The Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive Director
Association, and an associate of The Hong Kong Association of
Financial Advisors Limited.

Dr. Wong's current community services include: the chairman
of the Hong Kong Liquor Licensing Board, the chairperson of
the Property Management Services Authority, a member of the
Advisory Committee on Post-service Employment of Civil Servants
of the Government of Hong Kong, a member of the Citizens
Advisory Committee on Community Relations of the Independent
Commission Against Corruption, the vice chairman of the
Association of Hong Kong Professionals, a member of each of the
Finance Committee and Management Committee of Hong Kong
News-Expo and an executive committee member of the Basic
Law Institute Limited. He was also an observer of Independent
Police Complaints Council from September 2007 to August 2015, a
member of the panel to the Appeal Board (Hotel and Guesthouse
Accommodation), a member of the panel to the Appeal Board
(Bedspace Apartments), a member of the panel to the Appeal
Board (Clubs (Safety of Premises)) from April 2012 to April 2018
a member of the Panel of Adjudicators of the Obscene Articles
Tribunal from August 2010 to August 2019 and a member of the
Solicitors Disciplinary Tribunal Panel from May 2010 to May 2022.
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Biographical Details of Directors (continued)

BEEZEEHIE 2

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. Wong currently serves as the vice chairman of the Greater China
Legal Affairs Committee and the Community Relations Committee
of the Law Society of Hong Kong. Dr. Wong is also a member of
the tenth to twelfth Shanghai Committee of the Chinese People's
Political Consultative Conference, a member of the Chinese
Association of Hong Kong and Macau Studies, a member of the
Hong Kong Basic Law and Macau Basic Law Research Association,
a member of Expert Committee of the China (Guangdong) Free
Trade Zone in Hengging New Area and an Arbitrator of Court
of Arbitration for Labour and Personal Dispute, Nansha Area,
Guangdong Free Trade Zone.

Dr. Wong also serves as an arbitrator of Arbitration Commission
in Shenzhen, Shanghai, Guangzhou, Zhuhai, Huizhou, Liuzhou,
Zhengzhou, Hohhot, Hainan, Chengde, Nanchang, Nanning,
Taiyuan, Shenyang and Guiyang.

Dr. Wong is currently an independent non-executive director of
Times Neighborhood Holdings Limited (stock code: 9928). From
June 2010 to July 2014, Dr. Wong served as an independent non-
executive director of Great Wall Technology Company Limited
(original stock code: 74) which was privatised and automatically
delisted from the Stock Exchange in July 2014.

Mr. To Chun Wai ("“Mr. To"), aged 68, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 12 May 2023. Mr. To is
currently a member of each of the audit committee, nomination
committee and remuneration committee of the Board. He has
wide administrative and management experiences in both the
public and private sectors, and holds a master degree of public
administration from the University of Hong Kong.

Mr. To is at present the chief executive officer of a Hong Kong
consultancy company, and an independent non- executive director
of Auto lItalia Holdings Limited (stock code: 720), DeTai New Energy
Group Limited (stock code: 559), Greenheart Group Limited (stock
code: 94) and ISP Holdings Limited (stock code: 2340), all of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Biographical Details of Directors (continued)

BEEZEEHIE 2

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Prior to Mr. To's retirement in 2011, Mr. To had spent most of his
career with the Hong Kong Police since 1974, during which Mr.
To was promoted to Assistant Commissioner (Crime), and was
responsible for the overall policy design and operation of, among
others, the Commercial Crime Bureau, the Organized Crime & Triad
Bureau, the Criminal Intelligence Bureau, the Financial Investigation
Bureau (Anti Money- laundering) and the Technology Crime
Bureau.

In recognition of Mr. To's long-term and outstanding service and
contribution to the Hong Kong society, Mr. To was awarded the
Police Meritorious Service Medal by the Chief Executive of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. From 2011 to 2012, he
served as a part-time tutor at the University of Hong Kong teaching
applied public administration and government policy analysis.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors hold any other
position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries nor any
directorship in any public companies the securities of which are
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the
last three years, nor do they hold any other major appointments
and professional qualifications. Save as disclosed above, none
of the Directors is connected with any other Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders
of the Company, nor do they have any interests in the shares of
the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
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Report of the Directors
EFEHRE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of NOVA
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) (together with its
subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the “Group”) presents its
report and the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2024 (the “Reporting Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note
20 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A discussion and analysis of the Group's performance during
the Reporting Year and the financial key performance indicators
affecting its results and financial position are set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” (‘MD&A") of this
annual report.

The information about a fair review of, and an indication of likely
future development in the Group's business is set out in the MD&A
of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in the MD&A of this annual report under the
section headed “Event after the Reporting Period”, there are no
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the
end of the Reporting Year.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The results and business operations of the Group may be affected
by a number of risks and uncertainties. The followings are the
major risks and uncertainties currently faced or anticipated by the
Group, and it is not meant to be exhaustive. There may be other
risks and uncertainties which are currently not known to the Group
or immaterial but could turn out to be material in the future.

Operation Risk

The global economy has seen successive shocks in a brief span of
three years. As the world has reopened following the COVID-19
pandemic, geopolitical tensions have remained elevated. By
recommending to the Board that improvements be made, the
audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”) continues
to assess and manage a wide range of risks that may affect the
Group's operation and the impact of economic climate changes on
the Group.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
EFEHRE®)

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (Continued)
Operation Risk (Continued)

The Group's financing business, including credit factoring,
finance leasing and money lending, requires the renewal of
licences periodically for its operations. The Group might face non-
compliance risk and risk of losing such licences.

The Group has internal control policy and procedures for staff
to follow and has a team to monitor and update the rules and
regulatory requirements.

The Group's business and profitability growth during the Reporting
Year was affected by the increase in competition in the industry
and the volatility and uncertainty of the macro- economic
conditions in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"). The Group is expected to continue to be affected by the
above factors.

Financial Risk

The details of financial risk management objectives and practices
of the Group are set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties
in addition to those mentioned above which are not known to the
Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to be
material in the future.

PRC Economic, Political and Legal Risk

The Group's business operations are mainly conducted in the
PRC and therefore significantly affected by the economic, political
and legal developments in the PRC. The PRC government may
implement various measures to encourage economic growth,
some of the measures may have a negative effect on the Group.

The Group has a team to monitor the development in the PRC to
enable the Group to make necessary adjustments to its business
strategies. Any material changes that could impact the Group
significantly will be reported to the Board for actions.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
EFEHRE®

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to building an environmentally- friendly
corporation that pays close attention to conserving natural
resources. The Group strives to minimise its impact on the
environment by reducing electricity consumption and encouraging
recycling of office supplies and double-sided printing. For further
details, please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report set out on pages 81 to 125 of this annual report.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

To the best knowledge of the Board and the management, the
Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group's business and operation
during the Reporting Year.

Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers

The Group’s management policies, working environment,
career prospects and employees’ benefits have contributed to
building good employee relations and employee retention for
the Group. The Group offers competitive remuneration packages
commensurate with industry practice, provides various fringe
benefits to employees and internal training appropriate to
individual needs. The management regularly reviews its employees’
remuneration packages to ensure they are up to the prevailing
market standard. The Group has established long-term business
relationships with its major suppliers and customers. The Group
will endeavour to maintain its established relationships with these
existing suppliers and customers.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 133 to 134 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Reporting Year (2023: Nil).
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
EFEHRE®)

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, the objective of
which is to allow shareholders of the Company to participate in
the Company's profits whilst retaining adequate reserves to sustain
the Group's future growth. The declaration, form, frequency and
amount of dividend paid by the Company must be in accordance
with applicable laws and the relevant provisions of the amended
and restated articles of association of the Company (the “Amended
and Restated Articles of Association”) adopted by way of
special resolution passed at the annual general meeting of the
Company ("AGM") held on 2 December 2022. In deciding whether
to declare any dividend, the Board will take into account a number
of factors, including the financial results, the distributable reserves,
the operations and liquidity requirements, and the current and
future development plans of the Company. The Board will review
the dividend policy of the Company as appropriate from time to
time.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on pages 299 to 300 of this
annual report.

BORROWINGS

The total borrowings of the Group (including debentures) as at 30
June 2024 amounted to approximately HK$20.57 million (30 June
2023: approximately HK$43.91 million). Details of borrowings are
set out in Notes 33 and 34 to the consolidated financial statements
of the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the Reporting Year are set out in Note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the
Reporting Year are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
EFEHRE®

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Amended and Restated Articles of Association or the laws of the
Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company
was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the
Reporting Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of
the Group during the Reporting Year are set out in Note 40 to
the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity of the Group, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the Company’s distributable reserves as at 30 June 2024
are set out in Note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

No charitable donation was made by the Group during the
Reporting Year (2023: Nil).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Directors’ and senior officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against them arising out of corporate activities. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors
throughout the Reporting Year and as at the date of approval of
this annual report.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
EFEHRE®)

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Year, the revenue generated from the
Group's five largest customers accounted for approximately 58.02%
(2023: approximately 28.92%) of the Group's total revenue and the
revenue from the largest customer included therein accounted for
approximately 32.25% (2023: approximately 6.44%) of the Group's
total revenue.

During the Reporting Year, the fees paid to the Group's five largest
suppliers accounted for 99.38% (2023: approximately 100%) of the
Group's cost of sales and the supplies from the largest supplier
included therein accounted for approximately 79.64% (2023:
approximately 95.60%) of the Group's cost of sales.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company's issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in
the Group's five largest customers and/or five largest suppliers for
the Reporting Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Reporting Year and up to
the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Woo Lan Ying (Chairman)
(appointed on 9 January 2025)
Mr. Deng Zhonglin
Mr. Wong Ka Shing
(appointed on 6 September 2024)
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun Alan
(resigned on 9 January 2025)
Mr. Lam Wai Hung
(resigned on 9 January 2025)

Non-executive Director

Ms. Huang Chian Sandy (resigned on 2 November 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tsang Wing Ki
Dr. Wong Kong Tin, Jp
Mr. To Chun Wai
Mr. Choi Hung Fai
(resigned on 16 July 2023)
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
EFEHRE®

DIRECTORS (Continued)

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Amended and Restated
Articles of Association, the Directors shall have the power from
time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to
the existing Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold office
only until the first AGM after his appointment and shall then be
eligible for re-election. Ms. Woo Lan Ying and Mr. Wong Ka Shing
so appointed shall hold office only until the first AGM after each
of their appointments on 9 January 2025 and 6 September 2024
respectively, and will then, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM.

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Amended and Restated
Articles of Association, at each AGM, one-third of the Directors
for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three,
the number nearest to but not less than one-third), shall retire
from office by rotation. Mr. Deng Zhonglin and Mr. To Chun Wai
will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATIONS FROM
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange’), the Company has received
an annual confirmation from each independent non-executive
Director confirming his independence. The Company has assessed
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors and
considers that for the Reporting Year, all of them were independent
based on the independence criteria in accordance with the
requirements under the Listing Rules, their non-involvement in
the daily operation and management of the Company, and the
absence of any relationships which will interfere with the exercise
of their independent judgments.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save for those disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” in this Report of the Directors, at no time during the
Reporting Year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to
any of the Directors or their respective spouses or minor children,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
has or is proposed to have a service contract with the Company
not determinable by the Company within one year without the
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ emoluments are determined by the Board after
considering the recommendations from the remuneration
committee of the Board (the "Remuneration Committee”)
with reference to Directors’ duties and responsibilities, individual
performance and the results of the Group. Such emoluments are
subject to the shareholders' approval at the AGM.

Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments for the Reporting Year are
set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director of the Company or any entity connected with the Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of or at any time during the Reporting Year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

For the Reporting Year, the Board is not aware of any business or
interests of the Directors and their respective associates that had
competed or might compete with the business of the Group and
any other conflicts of interests which any such person had or might
have with the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in Note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements. None of these related party transactions
constitutes a connected transaction as defined under the Listing
Rules which is required to be disclosed.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, the Company
did not enter into any contracts with any individual, firm or body
corporate to manage or administer the whole or any substantial
part of any business of the Company during the Reporting Year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

During the Reporting Year, the Company operates a share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of
providing incentives or rewards to selected participants for their
contributions to the Group. The Share Option Scheme was adopted
by the Company on 18 October 2013 (the “Adoption Date”).

Summary of Terms
(i) Purpose and participants

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Group to grant options to selected participants as
incentives or rewards for their contributions to the Group.
Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include the
following classes of participants:

(@ any employee (whether full-time or part-time
including any executive directors but excluding any
non-executive directors) of the Company, any of the
subsidiaries or any entity (the “Invested Entity”) in
which the Group holds an equity interest;
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Summary of Terms (Continued)

(i)

Purpose and participants (Continued)

(b)

any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, any of the
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the
Group or any member of any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to
the growth of the Group, and, for the purposes of the
Share Option Scheme, the options may be granted to
any company wholly-owned by one or more persons
belonging to any of the above classes of participants.

The eligibility of any of the above classes of participants to the
grant of any option shall be determined by the Directors from
time to time on the basis of the Directors’ opinion as to his/her/its
contribution to the development and growth of the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Summary of Terms (Continued)

(ii)

Total number of shares available for issue

The maximum number of shares of the Company which may
be allotted and issued upon the exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group shall not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share
capital (the “Issued Share Capital’) of the Company from
time to time. The total number of shares which may be
allotted and issued upon the exercise of all options (excluding,
for this purpose, options which have lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Group) to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Group as may from time to time be adopted by the
Company as permitted under the Listing Rules initially must
not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the Issued Share Capital
as at the time dealings in the shares of the Company first
commence on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (and
thereafter, if refreshed, shall not exceed 10% of the Issued
Share Capital as at the date of approval of the refreshed limit
by the shareholders). After the refreshment of the limit of the
Share Option Scheme with the approval of the shareholders
on 10 May 2019, the maximum number of shares which
may be issued upon the exercise of the refreshed limit of
146,290,000 options (being 10% of the Issued Share Capital
on 10 May 2019) together with all outstanding options as at
the date of this annual report carrying the right to subscribe
for 12,000,000 shares is 158,290,000 shares, representing
approximately 7.71% of the total number of shares in issue as
at the date of this annual report. Any further grant of options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in
a general meeting with such participant and his associates
abstaining from voting.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Summary of Terms (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

48

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon the exercise of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group (including both exercised or outstanding options)
to each grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1%
of the Issued Share Capital for the time being (the “Individual
Limit"). Any further grant of options in excess of the
Individual Limit in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of such further grant must be separately approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting of the Company
with such grantee and his associates abstaining from voting.

Period within an option may be exercised

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on a day after the date upon
which the offer for the grant of options is made but shall end
in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant
of the option subject to the provisions for early termination
thereof.

Minimum period for which an option must be held before
being exercised

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in
the offer of the grant of option(s) to an eligible participant,
there is no minimum period required under the Share
Option Scheme for the holding of an option before it can be
exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance of the option and the period
within which payments must be paid

The offer of a grant of option(s) may be accepted within 21
days from the date of offer, upon receipt by the Company of
the payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 and signed
acceptance of offer by the eligible participant.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Summary of Terms (Continued)

(vii)

(viii)

Basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price per share under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by the Directors, but
shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations
sheet on the date of the offer of grant; (i) the average closing
price of the shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (jii) the nominal
value of a share.

Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

Subject to any earlier termination in accordance with its rules,
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in force for a period
of 10 years commencing on 18 October 2013 (i.e. until 18
October 2023).

On 1 June 2018 (the "Date of Grant”), the Company granted an
aggregate of 100,000,000 share options under the Share Option
Scheme, at an exercise price of HK$1.89 per share. The exercise
price was the higher of (i) the closing price of HK$1.85 per share on
the Date of Grant; and (i) the average closing price of HK$1.89 per
share for the five business days immediately preceding the Date of
Grant. The closing price per share immediately before the Date of
Grant was HK$1.87. The share options granted to each grantee shall
vest conditional upon the fulfilment of certain performance targets
relating to the Group in accordance with the following schedule:
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Percentage of the Share

options vested

Vesting Date on the Vesting Date
REEEH

FEAH ERENERENT L
1June 2018 —ZE-N\FRHA—H 0%
31 December 2018 —ZE-N\E+A=+—H 25%

30 June 2019

31 December 2019

30 June 2020

—E-AFNA=1+H
—E-hAF+-A=+—H

—E-EFRNA=1+H

25% (i.e. up to 50% in total)
25% (BNZE % R4EFEH) 50%)
25% (i.e. up to 75% in total)
25% (BNEZ B1BTEN 75%)
25% (i.e. up to 100% in total)
25% (BN E % [ ERH) 100%)
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) AR RERT Sl (&)
Summary of Terms (Continued) RRBLE (&)

During the Reporting Year, no share option has been granted W& FE - HERIBEREZF HER
under the Share Option Scheme. Details of the share options  # - IRIEBRET IR E 2BERER -
granted under the Share Option Scheme as at 30 June 2024 areas —PUENA=+HZFHBENT :

follows:

Options
Options Options cancelled/
Options granted exercised lapsed Options
Exercise outstanding during the during the duringthe  outstanding
Category of Date of price asat Reporting Reporting Reporting asat
participants grant per share Exercise period 1July 2023 Year Year Year  30June 2024
R® REEFE R-Z-RF
—2-=f% R® R® B/ AA=tH
tA-B2 BREFE BREFE BAMZ ZRITR
SHEEER RHAH BRORE TEHEH AMIRBRE RUzBRE TRZBRE BRE BRE
(HK$)
(1)
Executive Director
Mr. Deng Zhonglin -~ 1 June 2018 31 December 2018 to
189 31 May 2028 12,000,000 = = = 12,000,000
HITES
Bkt —E-N\E —2N\F
~A—H +ZA=+-BZ%
—EoNF
fA=+—-8H
12,000,000 - - - 12,000,000
Employees 1June 2018 31 December 2018 to
189 31 May 2028 - - - - -
Es —E-N\F —E-N\E
~A—H +ZRA=+—-BZ%
ZBDN\E
BA=+—H
Total wst 26,630,000 - - - 12,000,000

The share options, once vested, shall be exercisable within a period Bk — B BB EN B B EL 105 H
of 10 years from the Date of Grant. Except for the Director listed  FEfT{# B FRFFFIZE RSN - HREBARAEST
in the table above, none of the grantees under the Share Option ~ ZIIE T 7 &S A AAREE 2 BE A+ -
Scheme is a connected person of the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
Summary of Terms (Continued)

The weighted average fair value for each granted share option
at grant date was HK$0.79, which was determined by using the
Binomial Option Pricing Model. The significant inputs into the
model included share price of HK$1.85 at the Date of Grant,
exercise price of HK$1.89, volatility of 33.02%, dividend yield of
0.0%, an expected share option life of 10 years and an annual risk-
free interest rate of 2.21%. The expected volatility is determined
by calculating the historical volatility of the share price of listed
companies with similar business as the Group. The expected
dividend yield is determined with reference to historical dividend
and share price of the Company. No amortisation of share options
(2023: Nil) was recognised as staff costs in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the
Reporting Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS

AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY
ORANY OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 30 June 2024, the interests and short positions of each
Director and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO")), which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of SFO (including interests and short positions which they
are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code") under the Listing Rules, were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY
ORANY OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
(Continued)

Interest in underlying shares of the Company

EFRRRITBRAEREAATHEAL
Sl B (48 € £ 3 = 4F fa] = 4t 4R Bl i
Bzt - HEARGREFZERR

RB(E)

RARDTEBER G 2 s

Approximate
Number of percentage of
underlying interest
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest shares in the Company
EARRE R
BExpE B REEtE HERS B E BMYBDEE
(Note 1)
(PM4zE1)
Mr. Deng Zhonglin Beneficial owner 12,000,000(L) 0.58%
kil e EREEAA (Note2)
(B&E2)
Notes: Hiat -

1. “L" denotes long position and "S" denotes short position.

2. These 12,000,000 underlying shares represent the 12,000,000 shares which may be allotted
and issued to Mr. Deng Zhonglin upon full exercise of the share options granted to him on
1 June 2018 under the Share Option Scheme.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2024, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interests and/or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO), which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO) or pursuant to the Model Code, or which were required to be
entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section
352 of the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 30 June 2024, to the best of the knowledge and belief of the
Directors, the following persons (other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO, or who was, directly or indirectly, interested
in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
any other member of the Group or any options in respect of such
shares:

F BRI A2 5] Bz 4 K 48 B8 Bx 3
ZHEZRRE

R-ZZ_WNENA=Z+H RESMEMAK
BE UTALT(FBEBREESRARARS
THRAB)RARRIRD RBEBR DT HES
BIREH R EERHIE XV EP S 2 &3 70 2Bk
NAMARR MBI E 2 ESAR
LR AR AR IE B H L HE 1505 336
BETHFEZECMzERIAR KB
SR A A B A A R AT M 1B R T AE A B
EREMKE AR ZBRERE EREZER
HRIRAEESOS M ZER D 2 EFERE
A 5% s A _EEYRERS ¢

Number of Approximate
shares/ percentage of
underlying interest in
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest shares the Company
B3 B  hERAEERZ
EEnS B, REEtE R E BMYBDEE
(Note 1)
(PM4zE1)
Mr. Chen Chao Beneficial owner 163,835,000 (L) 7.98%

REEsEE ERBEAA

Note:

1. “L" denotes the corporation/person’s long position (as defined under Part XV of the SFO) in
the shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2024, the Directors are not
aware that there is any party (other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company) who had any interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO, or who was, directly or indirectly,
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of any other member of the Group or any options in
respect of such shares.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
EFEHRE®)

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the
Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors.

AUDIT COMMITTEE, REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
AND NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Details of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the nomination committee of the Board are set out in the section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non- executive
Directors, namely Mr. Tsang Wing Ki (chairman), Dr. Wong Kong Tin,
Jp and Mr. To Chun Wai. The Audit Committee has reviewed, with
the management and the independent auditor of the Company,
the annual results and the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the Reporting Year.

AUDITOR

HLM CPA Limited (“HLM") was engaged to audit the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the Reporting Year.
HLM resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from 11
April 2024. Due to the restructuring between HLM and Confucius
International CPA Limited (“Confucius”), the Board, with the
recommendation from the audit committee of the Company, has
resolved to appoint Confucius as the new auditor of the Company
with effect from 11 April 2024 to fill the casual vacancy arising from
the resignation of HLM and to hold office until the conclusion of
the next annual general meeting of the Company. Confucius will
retire at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment at a fee to be agreed by the Board.

On behalf of the Board

Woo Lan Ying
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Corporate Governance Report
SEEARE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of NOVA
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) is pleased to present the corporate
governance report for the year ended 30 June 2024 (the
“Reporting Year"). This report describes how the Group has
applied its corporate governance practices to its daily activities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES AND
COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company has applied the principles and adopted all
code provisions, where applicable, as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as contained in Appendix
C1 to the Rules (the "Listing Rules") Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) as its own code of corporate governance.

The Company reviews its corporate governance practices regularly
to ensure compliance with the CG Code. During the Reporting
Year, the Company has applied the principles and complied with all
applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code except for the
following deviations:

®  Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. The
chairman provides leadership for the board and ensures that
the board works effectively and performs its responsibilities
whilst the chief executive officer has overall chief executive
responsibilities for business development and day-to- day
management generally.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES AND
COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE (Continued)

Ms. Woo Lan Ying was appointed as the chairman of the
Board (the “Chairman”) on 9 January 2025. During the
Reporting Year, the Company does not have any officer
with the title of Chief Executive Officer (the “CEQ"), but such
duties are shared by the members of the Board. In addition,
under the supervision of the Board which is comprised
of three executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors, the Board is appropriately structured
with a balance of power to provide sufficient checks and
supervision to protect the interests of the Company and its
shareholders. The Company may seek to re-comply with
code provision C.2.1 by identifying and appointing a suitable
and qualified candidate to the position of the CEO in due
course by considering the business needs and developments
of the Group.

Except for the above deviation from the CG Code, the Board is of
the view that the Company has complied with the CG Code for the
Reporting Year.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s
code of conduct for dealings in securities of the Company by
the Directors. In response to the specific enquiries made by
the Company, each of the Directors confirmed that he/she had
complied with the Model Code during the Reporting Year.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Subsequent to the adoption of the amended and restated articles
of association of the Company (the “Amended and Restated
Articles of Association”) by way of special resolution passed at
the annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM") held on 2
December 2022, no amendment to the memorandum and articles
of association of the Company has been made as at the date of this
annual report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

As at 30 June 2024, the Board comprised three executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors. The composition
of the Board and its changes during the Reporting Year and up to
the date of this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. Woo Lan Ying (Chairman)
(appointed on 9 January 2025)
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun Alan
(resigned on 9 January 2025)
Mr. Deng Zhonglin
Mr. Wong Ka Shing
(appointed on 6 September 2024)
Mr. Lam Wai Hung
(resigned on 9 January 2025)

Non-executive Director

Ms. Huang Chian Sandy
(resigned on 2 November 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tsang Wing Ki
Dr. Wong Kong Tin, Jp
Mr. To Chun Wai
Mr. Choi Hung Fai
(resigned on 16 July 2023)

The biographical details, relationships among them and the terms
of appointment of the Directors (including the non- executive
Director and independent non-executive Directors) up to the date
of this annual report are set out in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors” of this annual report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Board Composition (Continued)

The Board believes that it has a balanced composition of executive
and non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) and there is a strong independent element in
the Board, which can effectively exercise independent judgment.
As at 30 June 2024, the Company had three independent non-
executive Directors who provide the Group with adequate check
and balance. Each of them is considered to be independent with
respect to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Their functions are not
limited to a restricted scope and they have contributed to the
Group with diversified industry expertise, and advised on the
Group's management and proceedings.

One of the independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tsang
Wing Ki, has appropriate professional accounting qualifications and
related financial management expertise as required under Rule
3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Responsibilities of the Board and Delegation

The Board is responsible for the approval and monitoring of the
Group's overall strategies and policies, the approval of business
plans and the evaluation of their performance, the oversight and
review of the management and corporate governance function.
It is also responsible for promoting the success of the Group's
businesses by directing and supervising the Group's affairs. The
Board delegates day- to-day operations of the Group to executive
Directors and senior management of the Group while reserving
certain key matters for its approval. The Board committees for
specific functions have been set up to ensure efficient Board
operations. The respective functions and responsibilities reserved
to the Board and those delegated to Board committees have been
clearly set out in their respective terms of reference. Decisions
of the Board are communicated to the management through
executive Directors who have attended the Board meetings.

To facilitate effective oversight and decision making by the Board,
the Company has established a mechanism to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. On an annual basis, the
Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of such
mechanism.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Corporate Governance Functions and Duties

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions with the following duties:

(@)

to develop and review the Company'’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations on
any necessary changes and updates;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management of the Company;

to review and monitor the Company'’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees of the
Company and the Directors;

to review and monitor the evaluation and management of
issues related to the Company’s environmental, social and
governance ("ESG") matters;

to review and monitor the progress made against ESG-
related goals and targets;

to review the Company’s ESG strategy; and
to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and

disclosure in this corporate governance report (‘CG Report”)
and the Company's ESG report (the “ESG Report’).
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Corporate Governance Functions and Duties (Continued)

During the Reporting Year, the corporate governance duties
performed by the Board were as follows:

(@) reviewed the Company's corporate governance policies and
practices;

(b) reviewed the Company's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

() reviewed the Company's compliance with the CG Code and

disclosure in the CG Report and the ESG Report;

(d) reviewed the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the
Company;

(e) reviewed the code of conduct and compliance manual
applicable to employees of the Company and the Directors;

() reviewed and monitored the evaluation and management of
issues related to the Company’s ESG matters;

(g) reviewed and monitored the progress made against ESG-
related goals and targets; and

(h)  reviewed the Company’s ESG strategy.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Ms. Woo Lan Ying was appointed as the Chairman on 9 January
2025. During the Reporting Year, the Company does not have
any officer with the title of CEO, but such duties are shared by the
members of the Board. In addition, under the supervision of the
Board which is comprised of three executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors, the Board is appropriately
structured with a balance of power to provide sufficient checks
and supervision to protect the interests of the Company and its
shareholders. The Company may seek to re-comply with code
provision C.2.1 by identifying and appointing a suitable and
qualified candidate to the position of the CEO in due course by
considering the business needs and developments of the Group.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

Ms. Woo Lan Ying, as an executive Director, entered into a service
agreement dated 9 January 2025 with the Company, pursuant to
which Ms. Woo Lan Ying will hold office for an initial term of three
years commencing on 9 January 2025 and renewable automatically
on expiry for successive terms of three years, subject to terms and
conditions to be mutually agreed by both parties and retirement
by rotation and re- election at the AGM in accordance with the
Amended and Restated Articles of Association.

Mr. Deng Zhonglin, as an executive Director, entered into a
service agreement dated 14 October 2016 (supplemented by
a supplemental service contract dated 14 October 2019) with
the Company, pursuant to which Mr. Deng holds office for an
initial term of three years commencing on 14 October 2016 and
renewable automatically on expiry for successive terms of three
years, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
AGM in accordance with the Amended and Restated Articles of
Association.

Mr. Wong Ka Shing , as an executive Director, entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company with no fixed terms but will
be subject to retirement by rotation and reelection at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company. He will hold office until the next
general meeting of the Company at which he will be eligible for re-
election in accordance with the Articles.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors
(Continued)

The non-executive Director and all independent non- executive
Directors have been appointed for an initial term of one year,
renewable automatically for successive term of one year each
commencing from the next day after the expiry of the then current
term appointment. All remuneration paid to executive Directors are
covered by respective service contracts and all remuneration paid
to the non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors are covered by the respective letters of appointment.

Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Articles of Association,
any Director newly appointed by the Board shall hold office until
the following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-election. Also,
pursuant to the Amended and Restated Articles of Association, at
each AGM, at least one- third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation,
provided that every Director (including the non-executive Director
and independent non-executive Directors) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Every newly appointed Director will be provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company's operations and businesses as well
as his/her responsibilities under the relevant statutes, laws, rules
and regulations.

Board Meetings

During the Reporting Year, the Board met regularly to review
the financial and operating performance of the Company and
to discuss future strategy. The Directors may participate either in
person or through electronic means of communications.

For the Reporting Year, the Company has adopted the practice
of holding Board meetings regularly at least four times a year
in approximately quarterly intervals. At the Board meetings, the
Board reviewed significant matters including the Company's
annual consolidated financial statements and interim consolidated
financial information, proposals for dividends (if any), annual and
interim reports, approved material capital expenditure (if any) and
other corporate actions of the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Board Meetings (Continued)

In order to ensure that the Board procedures, and all applicable
rules and regulations are followed, all Directors are able to
access the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) for advice from time to time. Moreover, upon
reasonable request, the Directors will be able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense. All Directors were given an opportunity to include matters
in the agenda of meetings for discussion.

To ensure a competent Board operation, all Directors gave sufficient
time and attention to the affairs of the Group. During the Reporting
Year, 15 Board meetings (excluding delegated committees’
meetings) were held and the attendance record of each Director is
set out as follows:
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Attendance/Number of
HERY, ERRH

Annual

Board general

Name of Directors meetings meeting

BEEps EXEe8E RREEXE

Executive Directors HITES

Ms. Woo Lan Ying (Chairman) R R (£E)

(appointed on 9 January 2025) (RZZE-_HFE—ANBEZT) 0/0 0/0
Mr. Deng Zhonglin BB LA 15/15 1/1
Mr. Wong Ka Shing BERELE

(appointed on 6 September 2024) (RZZE-MFNARBEZME) 0/0 0/0
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun Alan BEEBEE

(resigned on 9 January 2025) (RZEZHF—ANAEE) 15/15 1/1
Mr. Lam Wai Hung WEHELE

(resigned on 9 January 2025) (RZZEZRF—ANBET) 15/15 1/1
Non-executive Director FHTES
Ms. Huang Chian Sandy BALLT

(resigned on 2 November 2023) (RZEB-=F+—A_HEHT) 0/6 0/0
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. Tsang Wing Ki LoxEEE 15/15 1/1
Dr. Wong Kong Tin, B LKXBTAFHL 15/15 1/1
Mr. To Chun Wai HRE L L 15/15 1/1
Mr. Choi Hung Fai BIEBE A

(resigned on 16 July 2023) (RZZE_=ZF+A+BET) 0/0 0/0
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

Each newly appointed Director will receive induction on the first
occasion of his/her appointment to ensure a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and business and awareness of the
Director’s responsibilities.
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The details of the continuous professional development BENREFEELXRMHE 7 IFEEEXRTEN
participated by the Directors during the Reporting Year are as | :
follows:
Attending
courses,
Reading seminars or
Name of Directors materials conferences
BHERE -
ESnf MEME  HHERER
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Woo Lan Ying (Chairman) HERZ T (£E)

(appointed on 9 January 2025) (RZE-HE—RANBEZE) v v
Mr. Deng Zhonglin BB LA v v
Mr. Wong Ka Shing BERELE

(appointed on 6 September 2024) (RZZZEFNAASBEZME) 4 v
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun Alan BEEBEE v v
Mr. Lam Wai Hung METE T &

(resigned on 9 January 2023) (RZZZ=F—ANBET) 4 4
Non-executive Director FHITES
Ms. Huang Chian Sandy iﬁﬁi

(resigned on 2 November 2023) (RZZEZ=F+—AZB#T) v v
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHTES
Mr. Tsang Wing Ki B LS v v
Dr. Wong Kong Tin, BEILRELAFRT v v
Mr. To Chun Wai HRE & v 4
Mr. Choi Hung Fai BIEBE A

(resigned on 16 July 2023) (RZZZ=F

+ A+NBEE) 4 v
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional
Development (Continued)

To enable the Directors to make informed and relevant
contributions to the Board, all the Directors are encouraged to
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. During the Reporting Year, all the
Directors were provided with regular updates and presentations
on the changes and developments of the Group's business and
the latest developments in laws, rules and regulations relating to
directors’ duties and responsibilities.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy on 18 October 2013
and discussed all measurable objectives set for implementing the

policy.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity
of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has
a balance of skills, experience and a diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.

All Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis
with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board members.
Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, experience (professional or otherwise),
skills and knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon the
merits and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to
the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, there is one female Director on
the Board. In the future, the Board will continue to pay due regard
to the importance of diversity in identifying potential candidates
for directorships and continue to ensure that gender is one of the
factors to be considered in appointing Directors by the Nomination
Committee (as defined below).

The Board also recognises the importance of diversity at the
workforce level. As at 30 June 2024, the gender ratio of the
workforce of the Group (including senior management) was 1:1
male to female.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

During the Reporting Year, the Board reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the Company’s board diversity policy and
considered the policy effective.

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

The Company has established the audit committee of the Board
(the "Audit Committee") with specific written terms of reference
that have included the duties set out in provision D.3.3 of the CG
Code with appropriate modifications when necessary.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal
of the external auditor, to review the financial information and
material advice in respect of financial reporting and to oversee the
financial reporting system, risk management and internal control
systems of the Company.

During the Reporting Year, the Audit Committee has reviewed
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June
2024, including the Group's adopted accounting principles and
practices, internal control and risk management systems and
financial reporting matters (in conjunction with the external auditor
for the annual results). The Audit Committee has also monitored
the effectiveness of the external audit and its independence.
The Audit Committee has endorsed the accounting treatments
adopted by the Company and, to the best of its ability assured that
the disclosure of the financial information in this annual report
complied with the applicable accounting standards and Appendix
D2 to the Listing Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non- executive
Directors, namely Mr. Tsang Wing Ki (the chairman of the Audit
Committee), Dr. Wong Kong Tin, JP and Mr. To Chun Wai. The
Company has complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Tsang Wing Ki with appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial

management expertise.

BERZRESRE-R2BUIIFNTES  AIE

KELE(BEREESERE) -

=L KB L

APt RMIRESRE - ARARIERT £H
MAIEI2NRRTE - BRREBEETRERE K
BtE - HABEEEXE RN SR AR

MBERER -

During the Reporting Year, 3 Audit Committee meetings were held ~ R¥REFE © RKIBBESE D 82173 0EX
pursuant to its terms of reference and the attendance record of ZE @@ - KB HESH 2 T W
each member as to such meetings is set out as follows: i
Attendance/
Number of
Name of Directors Meetings
9% V4
BExpg BERY
Independent Non-executive Directors BYKBTES
Mr. Tsang Wing Ki LKL 3/3
Dr. Wong Kong Tin, BIRE LA FH+ 3/3
Mr. To Chun Wai HIRERE 313
Mr. Choi Hung Fai BHELE(RZS-=F
(resigned on 16 July 2023) + A+NHEHT) 0/0
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Remuneration Committee

The Company has set up the remuneration committee of the
Board (the “‘Remuneration Committee”) with specific terms of
reference stating clearly its authority and duties with appropriate
modifications when necessary. In December 2022, the Company
has adopted a revised terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include to
make recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy and
structure of all Directors’ and senior management'’s remuneration,
to review and approve the management's remuneration proposal
with reference to the Company's corporate goals and objectives,
to determine the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments comprising any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment, to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of the non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors and to review and/or approve matters relating
to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee comprises four members, namely Dr.
Wong Kong Tin, JP (the chairman of the Remuneration Committee),
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun Alan, Mr. Tsang Wing Ki and Mr. To Chun Wai.
The Company has complied with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued) EEEESE &)
Remuneration Committee (Continued) FNEES(E)

During the Reporting Year, 1 Remuneration Committee meeting MBEFEDRITIATHEEE S - U
was held for reviewing the remuneration policy and structure of the  BEIEER SR EIRE ~ HNE M 224 -
Directors and senior management, assessing the performance of  FHEMITE S 2 XERIENITEERES
executive Directors and approving the terms of executive Directors’  #)Z (&5 - B HE @3 2 08 5 10
service contracts. The attendance record of each member asto | :

such meetings is set out as follows:

Attendance/
Number of
Members of the Remuneration Committee meetings
HERE,
¥FHEEERE SRRH
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Dr. Wong Kong Tin, Jp (Chairman) BIRE LA FH+(FE) /1
Mr. Tsang Wing Ki DKL E 1/1
Mr. To Chun Wai HIRExLE 1/1
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Woo Lan Ying (appointed on 9 January 2025) HEELT(RZE-AF—ANBEZE) 0/0
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun Alan (resigned as a member of the BEBEE(RZE-RFE—ANA
Remuneration Committee on 9 January 2025) BIFMEEgKE) 1/1

Details of the Directors’ emoluments, retirement benefits and ZEE#E - BRI RENSLEETIEERKE
remuneration payable to members of senior management are 2 &7 sEIE BN G A BIGIRKRMET 14 ©
disclosed in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Nomination Committee

The Company has set up the nomination committee of the Board
(the “Nomination Committee”) with specific terms of reference
stating clearly its authority and duties with appropriate modification
when necessary.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include to review
the structure, size, composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) and diversity of the Board, to identify, screen
and recommend to the Board on appropriate candidates for
directorship, to assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors, to make recommendations to the Board on
the appointment or re- appointment of Directors and to review
the board diversity policy of the Company and to monitor its
implementation from time to time.

A summary of the work of the Nomination Committee during the
Reporting Year is as follows:

e it conducted (i) an annual review of the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of the Board and considered that the Board's composition
reflects an appropriate mix of skills, experience and diversity
among its members that are relevant to the Company's
strategy, governance and business and contributes to
the Board's effectiveness; (i) an annual assessment of the
independence of each independent non-executive director
and considered all of the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent; and (iii) an annual review of the
implementation and effectiveness of the Company’s board
diversity policy and considered it to be appropriate;

* it endorsed for approval by the Board a target that female
Board members should account for more in the coming
years; and

® it made recommendations to the Board in respect of the
appointments of new Directors to the Board, in particular, the
Chairman and the CEO, and the election and re-election of
the Directors retiring at the AGM.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Nomination Committee (Continued)

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, namely
Ms. Woo Lan Ying (the chairman of the Nomination Committee),
Dr. Wong Kong Tin, JP and Mr. To Chun Wai. The Company has
complied with Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Year, 1 Nomination Committee meeting
was held for, among others, reviewing the structure, size
and composition of the Board, reviewing the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors, and making
recommendations to the Board on the retirement by rotation and
re-election of Directors in the AGM. The attendance record of each
member as to such meetings is set out as follows:

ESEEE(H)

REZEE(E)
REZBEBEE=AKE  RAMELL
(IRBZBEXIR) ®mIXBLAFHL

RHRERE - ARRIEET EHRANE
327AMRME

RBEFEERTIRREAZEE®E U
(EhEm)BHEZe2R/E  RERA
B BBV IFMTES BN RHRE
ERBRRBERG L mERENERET
MESSREHEEER SKELFESH
FCEREIIAT

Attendance/
Number of
Members of Nomination Committee meeting
HERE
REZEEHE BERY
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Woo Lan Ying R
(appointed as chairman of the Nomination (RZZE-AF-ANBEZHE
Committee on 9 January 2025) RIREEEEERE) 0/0
Mr. Wong Yuk Lun Alan (resigned on 9 January 2025) BEBELE(N-_S-_RE—ANHBEHT) 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BYKHTES
Dr. Wong Kong Tin, ENPNCS e e 1/1
Mr. To Chun Wai (appointed on 12 May 2023) HIREEERZT-=F
LA+-BEEE) 11
Mr. Choi Hung Fai (resigned on 16 July 2023) BIEELE(R-_ZT =&
T AtTRBEHE) 0/0

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tung Tat Chiu Michael ("Mr. Tung") was an external service
provider engaged by the Company as the Company Secretary until
9 January 2025. Mr. Wong Ka Wah was appointed as the Company
Secretary on 9 January 2025 until he was resigned with effect on 1
March 2025. The Company engaged an external service provider
on 1 March 2025 and Mr. Kwong Chun Chung (‘“Mr. Kwong"), who
was appointed as Company Secretary on 1 March 2025, and Ms.
Woo Lan Ying, the Chairman and executive Director, was the key
contact person with whom Mr. Kwong can contact.

Mr. Tung has confirmed to the Company that he has attended
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
Reporting Year.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with applicable statutory requirements and accounting standards
and the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Group adopted the
going concern basis in preparing its financial statements. Save as
disclosed under the section headed “Material Uncertainties relating
to Going Concern” of this Corporate Governance Report below, the
Directors were not aware of any other material uncertainties which
may affect the Company’s business or cast significant doubt upon
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

A statement by the external auditor of the Company about
its reporting responsibilities is set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor’'s Report” of this annual report.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN

Basis of Disclaimer on Going Concern

As stated under the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis — Auditor’s Disclaimer of Opinion and Proposed Action Plan
of the Group to Address the Disclaimer of Opinion” on pages 32 to
46 of this annual report and the subsection headed “A) MATERIAL
UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING CONCERN" of the report by
the external auditor of the Company (the “Auditor’s Report”) on
pages 145 to 146 of this annual report, the external auditor of the
Company has expressed a disclaimer of opinion on the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the Reporting Year (the
“Consolidated Financial Statements’) relating to, inter alia,
material uncertainties on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern (the “Disclaimer on Going Concern”). Details of the basis
for the Disclaimer on Going Concern are reproduced as follows:

As described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group reported a loss attributable to the owners of the Company
of approximately HK$200,549,000 and operating cash outflow of
approximately HK$3,610,000 for the financial year ended 30 June
2024. The Group's current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$48,130,000 and its total liabilities exceeded its total assets by
HK$86,240,000 as at 30 June 2024 and, as of that date, the Group's
cash and bank balances amounted to approximately HK$2,737,000
while the Group’s current and non-current borrowings of
approximately HK$10,449,000 and corporate bond of approximately
HK$47,964,000. These conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN

Basis of Disclaimer on Going Concern (Continued)

The directors of the Company have carried out a detailed review of
the cash flow forecast of the Group for the next twelve months from
the date of this report and have undertaken to carry out a number
of measures to improve the Group's liquidity and financial position
which are set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis, the validity of which depends on the
outcome of the following measures, which are subject to multiple
uncertainties, including (i) the Group can obtain additional
sources of financing as and when needed; and (ii) the Group can
successfully improve its operation to generate sufficient operating
cash inflow. The consolidated financial statements do not include
any adjustments that would result from the failure to obtain
additional sources of financing to improve its financial positions, to
provide liquidity and cash flows.

We consider that the going concern basis of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements has been adequately disclosed
in the consolidated financial statements, and we also consider that
the material uncertainty relating to the Group’s going concern has
been adequately disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.
However, in view of the extent of the multiple uncertainties relating
to the maintaining of sufficient operation to generate operating
cash inflow and the obtaining of additional sources of financing, we
disclaim our opinion in respect of the material uncertainty relating
to the going concern basis.

Should the Group fail to achieve the intended effects resulting from
the plans and measures as mentioned in note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements, it might not be able to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write down
the carrying amounts of the Group's assets to their respective net
realisable amounts, and to provide for any further liabilities that
may arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively.
The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.

For further details in relation to the material uncertainties relating
to the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, please
refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis
- Auditor’s Disclaimer of Opinion and Proposed Action Plan of
the Group to Address the Disclaimer of Opinion” on pages 22 to
30 of this annual report and the subsection headed “A) MATERIAL
UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING CONCERN" of the Auditor’s
Report on pages 126 to 132 of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining a sound
system of risk management and internal control within the Group
and reviewing their effectiveness. However, such system was
designed to manage various risks (including ESG risks) of the Group
within certain acceptable risk level, rather than to completely
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the business objectives of the
Group and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The Board delegates their responsibility to the Audit Committee
to review the practices of management with respect to risk
management and internal control, including the design,
implementation and supervision of the risk management and
internal control systems, on an annual basis.

During the Reporting Year, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, conducted an annual review of both the design and
implementation effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, covering all material controls, with
a view to ensuring that the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group's
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions, as well
as those relating to the Company’s ESG performance and reporting
are adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee communicates
any material issues to the Board.

The Board has engaged an external professional service firm to
carry out the internal audit function of the Group. Review of the
Group's internal controls covered major financial, operational and
compliance controls, and risk management functions of different
systems have been performed on a systematic rotational basis
on the risk assessments of the operations and controls. During
the risk assessment process, the firm interviewed the relevant
personnel and identified the business objectives and significant
risks of the Group. A risk management review and internal audit
report prepared by the firm which sets out the risks, issues and
recommended action plan was presented to the Board for review
and endorsement. The Board considered that significant risks of
the Group were managed within the acceptable level and the
management will continue to monitor the residual risks and report
to the Board on ongoing basis. The Board has reviewed the risk
management and internal control system and procedures, and
save as disclosed hereinafter, the Board considers them effective
and adequate.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
(Continued)

At the same time, the Board is aware that the external auditor of
the Company issued a disclaimer of opinion on the Consolidated
Financial Statements in respect of, inter alia, material uncertainties
arising from opening balance and corresponding figures and write-
off of receivables.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 30 June 2023 were audited by other auditors (the
‘Predecessor Auditors”), who expressed a disclaimer opinion
on 29 September 2023. The Predecessor Auditors were unable to
satisfy themselves about the recoverability of factoring receivables,
finance lease receivables and trade receivables at 30 June 2023. The
carrying amount of factoring receivables, finance lease receivables
and trade receivables amounted to approximately HK$168,313,000,
HK$2,225,000 and HK$4,975,000 respectively as at 30 June 2023.

The Predecessor Auditors were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence relating to the financial status of these
debtors and lack of information to ascertain the uncertainty on
the enforcement actions taken to recover the aforesaid balances,
therefore the Predecessor Auditors were unable to assess the
recoverability of the factoring receivables, finance lease receivables
and trade receivables as at 30 June 2023, and unable to determine
whether any adjustments to the impairment loss recognised
during the year ended 30 June 2023 in respect of the factoring
receivables, finance lease receivables and trade receivables were
necessary, which might have a significant impact on the Group's
financial position as at 30 June 2023, and its financial performance
and the elements making up the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year ended 30 June 2023 and related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
(Continued)

The directors of the Company determined to write-off the factoring
receivables, finance lease receivables and trade receivables, as
there is no realistic prospect of recovery after taken into account:
(a) an independent review of the possibility and viability of taking
legal proceedings against all factoring debtors for recovering the
outstanding debts, which was conducted by an independent
professional law firm in the PRC indicating all factoring debtors
were in financial difficulties; (b) no recovery from legal proceedings
against the finance lease debtors since year 2022; and (c) the
respective outstanding amounts of trade receivables are past due.
The write-off of factoring receivables, finance lease receivables
and trade receivables of HK$166,994,000, HK$2,208,000 and
HKS$4,936,000 respectively is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the
year ended 30 June 2024.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group has zero tolerance for bribery and corruption. The
Group's ethical standards and requirements are clearly set out in
the employee handbook, which requires all business activities to
be operated with high level of integrity. Regardless of seniority and
employment nature, all employees are required to fully comply
with the following anti-bribery and anti-corruption legislation:

—  The Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC
—  The Criminal Law of the PRC

Employees are prohibited from committing theft, fraud or
dishonesty in connection with the Group's properties, or
committing a criminal offence outside the Group, which brings
adverse publicity to the Group and/or affects the Group's
reputation. The policy on declaration and handling of conflict of
interest requires employees in key positions to submit an annual
declaration of interests in work situations.
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WHISTLEBLOWING SYSTEM

The Group's whistleblowing policy states that whistleblowers can
make confidential reports to the Board directly upon any suspicious
activities, either in person or email to the chairman of the Audit
Committee. All reports and the identities of whistle-blowers would
be treated in the strictest confidence. In the event an employee
is found to have committed any act of misconduct, the Group
reserves the rights to take disciplinary actions including termination
of employment. The Group has not aided, abetted, assisted or
colluded with an individual who has committed, or conspired to
commit any unlawful activities. No non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
relating to corruption, bribery, fraud and money laundering had
been identified during the Reporting Year. There was no concluded
legal case regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group
or its employees during the Reporting Year.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Reporting Year, the Group's external auditor provided
the following services to the Group:
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Notes HK$'000

M & FTET
Audit services ZEURS (i 800
Non-audit services I EBRTS (ii) 240
Total =H 1,040
Notes: Wiz -

0] include audit services provided in connection with the audit of the consolidated financial
statements. All such services are to be provided by the external auditor.

(ii) include services that would normally be provided by an external auditor but not generally
included in audit services.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

General Meetings with Shareholders

The Company communicates with its shareholders through
its annual report, interim report and statutory and voluntary
announcements. The Directors, the Company Secretary or
appropriate members of the senior management, where
appropriate, also respond to inquiries from shareholders and
investors on a timely basis. The AGM provides a useful platform for
direct communication between the Board and the shareholders.

Resolutions put to vote at the general meetings of the Company
are taken by poll. Procedures regarding the conduct of the poll
are explained to the shareholders at the commencement of each
general meeting. The poll results are posted on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company respectively on the same day of
the poll.

How shareholders can convene an extraordinary general
meeting

In accordance with Article 58 of the Amended and Restated
Articles of Association, extraordinary general meetings shall be
convened on the requisition of one or more shareholders of the
Company holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having
the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall
be made in writing to the Directors or the Company Secretary
for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Directors for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days
of such deposit the Directors fail to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Directors shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS (Continued)

The procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board
and sufficient contact details to enable these enquiries to be
properly directed

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
by addressing them to the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong at Unit E2, 8/F, Kingston International
Centre, 19 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong by
post for the attention of the Board.

Procedures and sufficient contact details for putting forward
proposals at shareholders’ meetings

There is no provision in the Amended and Restated Articles of
Association setting out procedures for shareholders to put forward
a resolution at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to move
a resolution may request the Company to convene a general
meeting following the procedures as set out in the paragraph
headed "How shareholders can convene an extraordinary general
meeting” above.

Investor Relations

The Company has adopted the shareholders’ communication
policy and considers that effective communication with its
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. The Company has established various and a wide range
of communication channels with its shareholders. These include
shareholders’ general meetings, interim results announcements
and annual results announcements, interim reports and annual
reports, and other announcements and circulars.

The Company endeavours to disclose all material information about
the Group to all interested parties as widely and timely as possible.
It has disclosed all necessary information to the shareholders in
compliance with the Listing Rules. When announcements are made
through the website of the Stock Exchange, the same information
will be made available on the Company's website. During the
Reporting Year, the Company has issued announcements which
can be viewed on the Company’s website.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS (Continued)

Investor Relations (Continued)

Shareholders and investors may at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board in writing to the Company Secretary at
the Company'’s office in Hong Kong. Shareholders may also raise
their enquiries in general meetings.

In view of the above, the Company has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy and considered the policy effective.

The Company has uploaded its Amended and Restated
Articles of Association on the websites of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/) and of the Company
(http://www. novahldg.com/) on 2 December 2022.

Save for the amendments as reflected in the Amended and
Restated Articles of Association, there are no significant changes in
the Company’s memorandum and articles of association during the
Reporting Year.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIE - HEREBRE

ABOUT THE GROUP

NOVA Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the operation
of cultural and entertainment comprehensive services platform and
the provision of loan and financing services.

Environmental and social responsibilities are viewed as the Group's
core commitment to the environment, internal workplace and
external community, and an integral part of the Group's practice to
create value for stakeholders.

Our strategy is to fulfil the Group's environmental and social
responsibilities by achieving environmental and social objectives
during operations and complying with all relevant legal
requirements.

The board of directors (the “Board”) has overall responsibility for
the Group’s Environmental, Social and Governance strategy and
reporting. The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining
the Group's Environmental, Social and Governance related risks and
ensuring that appropriate and effective Environmental, Social and
Governance risk management and internal control systems are in
place.

Introduction of this Report

The Group is pleased to release our sixth Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (hereinafter this “Report” or “ESG report”).
Through this Report, we wish to respond to different issues
regarding Environmental, Social and Governance (hereinafter
“ESG") which major stakeholders are concerned in a comprehensive
and transparent manner, and disclose the Group's vision, strategies
and practices in the process of sustainable development objectively
to enhance stakeholders’ understanding and confidence in the
Group so as to continuously improve our ESG performance.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Title Description

"o

For the convenience of expression and reading, “NOVA Group”, “the

Group”, “we" and “us” in this Report refer to “NOVA Group Holdings
Limited”.

Report Scope and Boundary

This Report contains information that is material to understand
the Group's ESG practices and performance in its daily operations.
The reporting period of this Report covered for the year ended 30
June 2024, with appropriate forward and backward extensions for
certain contents in order to better reflect the ESG performance of
the Group. The contents disclosed in this Report (including policy
documents, statements and data, etc.) mainly covered major
business segments of the Group:

. Financing segment - Money Lending, Factoring and
Financing Lease

e  (Cultural and Entertainment segment — Trading, Promotion
and Consulting Services and Branding

This Report is prepared with reference to Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide ("ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out
in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"HKEX"). The Group has complied with the disclosure requirements
of the “comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide. This Report summarised the Group's performance in
corporate and social responsibilities applying the reporting
principles of “Materiality, Quantitative, Balance and Consistency”.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)
Report Scope and Boundary (Continued)

Should you wish to provide comments or recommend
improvements on our ESG reporting, please reach us through our
feedback hotline (telephone no. at (852) 2607 7307). Although
there were no specific programs to engage stakeholders outside
the Group when this Report was being prepared, we have included
the key issues that are of different stakeholder groups’ concerns,
based on our continual communication with them. Alternatively,
you are also welcome to send your comments and suggestions
regarding our ESG performance to our Chief Executive Officer, Mr.
Wong, by mail.

Data Sources and Reliability Statement

The information and cases disclosed in this Report are from the
Group's internal documents, statistical reports or relevant public
information. The Group assures that the contents of this Report,
for which the Group accepts full responsibility for its truthfulness,
accuracy and completeness, are free of any false statements,
misleading representations or material omissions.
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COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group strives to conduct its business in a transparent,
equitable, legal and socially responsible manner, and continues
to care about the impact its daily operation may bring to the
environment, customers and community, making an effort to
safeguard the interests of all stakeholders and strike a balance
between environmental, social and economic development.

The expectations and opinions of stakeholders are essential for the
Group to improve its sustainable development strategy. Over the
years, we have continued to maintain close communication with
internal and external stakeholders such as government/regulatory
bodies, shareholders, suppliers, employees, customers and the
community public through a wide range of channels such as regular
meetings, activities, reports, websites, etc., to understand their
opinions on the performance of the Group, actively communicate
with various stakeholders, constantly collect their opinions and
feedback, fully understand their expectations and suggestions, and
identify areas for improvement. In order to balance our business
requirements, social demand and environmental impact, we keep
monitoring the risks and opportunities arising from our daily course
of operation, and promote a corporate management culture
with high transparency to ensure our sustainable development
strategies are being communicated to significant stakeholders such
as employees, customers, suppliers and the community.

Set out below are the expectations and concerns of respective
significant stakeholders and our corresponding communication
channels during the Reporting Period.
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COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS (Continued)

Stakeholders
FlzzAEEE A

Expectations and concerns
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Communication channels

BBEARX

Government and
regulatory authorities

B K
EEHRE

In compliance with laws and
regulations

Legal operation

In compliance with the Listing Rules
BTRRER

BREE

BT AR A

Information disclosure
Communication with regulatory
authorities

Tax returns

ZEWE

B BB

AN ER R

Shareholders

Profit return

Business development
ESG governance
Corporate image

Group announcements
General meetings

Site inspection

Timely reporting
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Suppliers ® |egal operation and quality ®  Meeting with suppliers
standards of suppliers ®  Online survey
®  Fair and reasonable treatment of ~®  Review and evaluation
business partners ®  Tendering and bidding activities
®  Service quality and customers’
satisfaction
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COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS (Continued)

HFl A B (E)

Stakeholders Expectations and concerns Communication channels
R85 BWLRFR BES
Employees * Employee compensation and ®  Staff representative meetings
benefits ®  Group activities
®*  Employee health and safety ®  |etter communication
®  |legaland lawful recruitment ®  Recommendation box
®*  Employee training
and development
O Working environment
8T o BIFBHERN s BITARXRKE
e EBIRRREZRE o EKEHEP
s AEAKAI o @8
o BIFEERE o EFEM
. I{EEHE
Customers ®  Quality of product and service e Satisfaction survey
e Customer information security e Salesfeedback
®  |legal operation
®  Health and safety protection
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Community e Community environment e Community communication
e Charity and public benefit activites ~ ®  Press release/announcements
e Community contribution
®  |legal operation
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ANALYSIS OF MATERIALITY ISSUES EEMREDT

The Group reviewed the material ESG issues identified by the Group ~ ARNE B B R A E B R RS B R T [RE 2k
during the Reporting Period from various sources, such as issues R BIFIE B ESGERE - B FrE 3] -
identified in the Guide of the Stock Exchange, previous ESG report,  ¥B7EESGIRE - N EITEBE R KBS

internal policies industry trends and

the Sustainability Accounting  FTERIZEBE€MEEMHERENFERIAERE ©

Standards Board’s Materiality Map. The ESG issues have been ESGHBE R E —ZRIEZETHFT - B1F
analysed with reference to an array of factors, including the Group's ~ REBERZEERE - LR - BEKER - K
overall strategy, development, and goals and targets. The Group ~S£E D ETEE W T - U EHEEEB R
has conducted a materiality assessment to rate the identified ESG 0 EHEHNC #AIESCEBREE AN
issues that are pertinent to its business and stakeholders, and their ~ 2852/E - BRI EEHESGEBNEE M
respective level of impact. The result of materiality assessment on  FE{h &SRB AT -

the identified material ESG issues are summarized as follows:

Identify relevant issues

W Bl B R

Identification of material issues

BAEEMRE

Confirmation of material issues

BREEMRE

Identify ESG issues relevant to the business of the Group based on the results of
materiality assessments in previous years, issues of concern to the industry, Hong
Kong and international reporting standards and the United Nations Sustainable
Development Goals, etc.

REEFHEZNTEER  RENEIZE B8 NERRETENE
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Assess the materiality of each issue to stakeholders and to the Group, a materiality
matrix is created to determine the material issues to be considered in priority.
HERREHMNREEST REAEENEEN BEUEEMER - BEH
BEZRMNEBBERE

The identified material issues to be reviewed by the Board of the Group and
disclosed in this Report.
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ANALYSIS OF MATERIALITY ISSUES (Continued)
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External Assessment
(Impact on Stakeholders)
SMERER(E (BHSRENRE)

Material 22

Immaterial FE2E

EEMRER 2

Material EE

Product and Service 2.
Quality
EnkRBEE

Employee Health 7.
and Safety
BTRESARE

Equipment 12.
Procurement and

Supply

RERELAME

Green Environmental 17.
Protection Publicity and
Education

BRERREEHE

Internal Assessment (Impact on Business)

Legal and Compliance
Operation
REARER

Employee Benefits and
Welfare
BITFBAERET

Integration of Services
with Local Community
MRS E At EER
Ba

Waste Disposal and
Emission Reduction

PR BE IR BRI

3.

The boldfaced topics in the table are identified material issues.

POERETE (BEHNRE)

Legal and Compliance 4.
Employment

BEEHRAT

Employee 9.
Communication

BTAR

Diversified Staff 14.
Background
BETIERZKI

Water Consumptionand  19.
Conservation

KB RIEFE K&K
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Internal Integrity
Management

MR ER

Intellectual Property
Protection

HBERRE

Operation Wastewater
Discharge and
Treatment

BRI E

Greenhouse Gas
Emissions and Emissions
Reduction

BERBHR SRS

10.

15

20.

Employee Training and
Development
BTl EER

Suppliers Legal
Operation and Quality
Standards
HEFSLELRR
Bk

Environmental and
Social Performance of
Suppliers
HEFRNREEL S
e

Donations and
Volunteering Activities

RRESREY

FEPHBAECERNEREEE -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (ontinued)

IRIE - HEREQRE 2

MANAGEMENT EXCELLENCE
BOARD’S ESG GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The Company is committed to strictly complying with the
disclosure requirements of the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide of the Stock Exchange. The Company
recognizes the importance of ESG to the Company's long-term and
stable operation, and has established effective ESG management
and governance mechanisms to promote the harmonious
integration of the Company with the environment and society,
creating sustainable environmental, social and corporate values.
The Company’s Board is the highest authority and decision-making
body for ESG matters, bearing full responsibility for the Company’s
ESG strategies and reports, and supervising the Company’s ESG-
related matters. In 2024, the Company's Board further improved
the ESG governance system, driving continuous improvement in
the Company's ESG performance. This report discloses in detail
the progress and achievements of the Company’s ESG work in
2024, and has been reviewed and approved by the Board of the
Company prior to disclosure. The Board of the Company and all
directors guarantee that there are no false records, misleading
statements or material omissions in the information contained
in this report, and bear individual and joint responsibility for the
truthfulness, accuracy and completeness of its contents.

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Company has integrated sustainability into its day-to-day
business operations and decision-making step by step. The Board
of the Company serves as the highest governing body for decision-
making in ESG matters and responsible for developing, adopting,
and reviewing company-wide ESG policies, vision, goals, and
strategies, as well as identifying, assessing, managing ESG risks.
Going forward, we will continue to enhance our ESG governance,
further strengthen communication with stakeholders, and improve
ESG policies to achieve long-term business growth.
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IRIE - HEREQRE 2

MANAGEMENT EXCELLENCE (Continued)
Professional Ethics (Continued)

NOVA Group operates its business on the principles of honesty,
ethics and integrity, also resolutely resists illegal acts such as
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, and any behaviours
which may be detrimental to the Group and its stakeholders are
prohibited. We strictly abide by the national and regional laws and
regulations regarding anti- corruption, including the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Anti-Money Laundering
and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance {3T% &8 &2
DFELEEIER) |, the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic
of China (the "PRC") R ZE AR KEFMEIFIE) | the Anti-Money
Laundering Law of the PRC (¥ AR HEMBIREEE) the
Anti-Corruption Law of the PRC {FHEARHEMBIREEE) |
the Criminal Procedure Law of the PRC {HZE AR MBI =R
FAJE)  and Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC {FRZE AR
MBI TIEEFEFE) and other relevant laws and regulations.

The Group upholds a high standard of integrity and professional
ethics in its operations. Through excellent management and
compliant operation, we hope to promote the economic
development of society, serve the real economy and facilitate
sustainable development while providing quality services to
customers. To this end, during our daily operation, we attach high
importance to business ethics and strictly comply with relevant
laws and regulations such as the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
the Company Law of the PRC (¥ A REFH A FNE) and the
Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC {#3E AR X FE R T 1E
BEHRFE) .

The Group adopts a zero-tolerance approach and all forms of
bribery and corruption are strictly prohibited by the Group.
Employees should not offer, solicit or accept anything of material
value to or from their colleagues, customers, suppliers or other
business partners of the Group. They should perform their duties
with integrity, such that no bribery, fraud or money laundering
will be carried out for their personal gains at the expense of the
Group's interests. Anti- corruption guideline has been detailed in
the staff handbook, which is distributed to all employees at the
commencement of their employment, so that they can familiarize
themselves with the guidelines.
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MANAGEMENT EXCELLENCE (Continued)
Professional Ethics (Continued)

During daily operations of the money lending business, we perform
relevant due diligence on all customers. We verify the customer’s
identity by reference to documents or information provided by
reliable and independent sources. Personal documents, including
ID/passport, driving license etc., will be obtained before entering
into any business relationships with our customers. All the
information and records are well maintained to meet the record-
keeping requirements.

In addition, the Group has established a reliable whistle-blowing
channel for employees and those who deal with the Group to
report any suspected misconduct to their respective department
head or human resources department verbally or in writing. The
whistle-blower's identity will always remain anonymous and be
protected throughout the investigation. Upon receipt of the report,
we will conduct investigation immediately, and if the allegation
is found to be true, we will take disciplinary actions against the
person concerned, and if necessary, take legal actions to report to
the relevant regulatory or law enforcement authorities.

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any illegal cases
of bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering threatened against
the Group or its employees. In addition, the Group arranged an
anti-corruption session during the orientation training for the
new employees. The Group will closely monitor the regulatory
development and will arrange relevant anti-corruption training for
our employees and directors, where necessary.
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MANAGEMENT EXCELLENCE (Continued)
Supplier Management

Suppliers play an integral role in the business of the Group.
The Group firmly believes that comprehensive supply chain
management is paramount to maintain the quality of the
products and services of the Group, and to promote sustainable
development. To protect our vital interests, the Group always
selects legitimate suppliers with outstanding quality, relevant
qualifications and excellent service capabilities on the basis
of transparency and fairness. The performance of suppliers in
discharging their environmental and social responsibilities is also
one of the evaluation criteria for our suppliers. In the process
of selecting suppliers, factors such as candidates’ sustainable
development and management strategies, labour standards,
moral standards and environmental management systems are
included in the scoring system for close examination. The Group
also encourages suppliers to actively assume their corporate
social responsibilities by observing the regulatory requirements
and business ethics in respect of business operations, marketing
campaigns, social occasions and environmental obligations.

To ensure the services and products quality provided by suppliers,
we evaluate our existing suppliers on a regular basis and remove
those found to be in serious non- compliance or whose quality fails
to meet the requirements, thereby reducing the risks associated
with the supply chain. On top of that, the Group also conducts
an annual assessment of the approved suppliers to ensure that
the products or services are of consistent quality and up to the
Group's required standards. Suppliers with unsatisfactory results in
the annual assessment will be removed from our list of approved
suppliers. New suppliers will also be introduced according to our
selection criteria to maintain the Group's sustainable development
and achieve our ultimate goal of a win-win situation.
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MANAGEMENT EXCELLENCE (Continued)
Product Responsibility

During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complied with laws
and regulations in regard to product responsibility in the PRC that
have a significant impact on our business, including, but not limited
to, the Trademark Law of the PRC, the Copyright Law of the PRC
and the Rules of Protection on Information Network Dissemination
Rights of the PRC.

The Group values greatly on the safety and health issues of our
product provided. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
not recalled any products sold or shipped subject to safety and
health reasons. If customers are not satisfied with the quality of the
services and products delivered, the frontline staff have to conduct
a preliminary assessment, and will pass the products to the Sales
Department for further checking, if necessary.

We have established procedures in relation to monitoring and
protection of intellectual property rights. The Group requires
its subsidiaries to purchase legitimate software and multimedia
resources to ensure the use of licensed multimedia and software
resources. If any piracy, theft, falsification, illegal possession,
counterfeiting or other forms of infringement of intellectual
property are found upon investigation, the Group will immediately
rectify such behaviour and take disciplinary actions, and serious
cases will be handed over to relevant authorities for their handling
in accordance with the law; if such behaviour constitutes an
offense, those who committed such offense shall be held
responsible in accordance with the law.

The Group has pledged that the use of false promotional messages
is prohibited. When disseminating public information such as
advertisements and recruitment materials, we strictly comply
with the requirements under the laws and regulations such as the
Advertising Law of the PRC (AR EMBEEEE) by filing
them with approving authorities for their review and approval.
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MANAGEMENT EXCELLENCE (Continued)
Product Responsibility (Continued)

In addition, the Group ensures that the information of customers
and business are highly secured. To further clarify the requirements
on privacy protection by the Group, as required by the laws and
regulations such as the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong
Kong, the Civil Code of the PRC {FEARKEFEREZH) and
the Personal Information Protection Law of the PRC {FZE AR
HABEA S ELREE) , we ensure that the confidentiality
of material non- public information such as business secrets and
customer information is strictly maintained.

The Group has formulated relevant regulations with detailed
provisions on the scope of confidential issues and confidentiality
level categorisation, the requirements for confidential issues and
the handling and accountability for unauthorised disclosure and
leakage. The Group has signed non-disclosure agreements with
all employees and cooperating suppliers to ensure that they are
aware of and undertake to comply with the Group's confidentiality
requirements. We take reasonable steps to protect the personal
data and records from unauthorised access, handling, deletion or
use. Within the “Staff Handbook’, all employees are required to
protect the sensitive information and clients’ personal information
obtained when performing the job duties. Information should not
be disclosed to any third parties unless and to the extent that it is
necessary to make such disclosure. In the event of any leakage of
the private information of our customers or the Group, the Group
will promptly take remedial measures and disciplinary actions
against the persons held responsible depending on the severity of
the incident.

When the Group receives complaints from customers, our Business
Department is responsible for handling the complaints, and all
complaints received will be recorded in writing and submitted
to senior staff for reviews and follow-up recommendations. All
documents and reports will be properly kept and we aim to resolve
all complaints, including those involving malpractices or alleged
negligence. A follow-up response will also be communicated to
the relevant customer when the complaint is duly handled and
resolved.
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MANAGEMENT EXCELLENCE (Continued)
Product Responsibility (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, no material complaints were received
and no material legal proceedings regarding infringement of
intellectual property, advertising, labelling and privacy issues were
brought against the Group.

ELITE TEAMS
Employment Management

NOVA Group understands that employees are an indispensable
cornerstone for business development, and excellent talents are
the driving force for sustainable development. The Group provides
employees with attractive, reasonable and fair treatment and
remuneration, and actively improves the employee benefit policies
to increase employees’ sense of belonging and work enthusiasm,
and jointly promote sustainable development. The Group
strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations, such as the
Employment Ordinance, the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance,
and the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance of Hong
Kong, the Labour Law of the PRC {FFEARLFMB LS L) |
the Labour Contract Law of the PRC {F#E AR LT L B) & A
&) , the Social Insurance Law of the PRC (P EEARKEMBE LS
RERE) | the Implementing Regulations of the Labour Contract
Law of the PRC {FEARKEFMBEIBEE REEHEIED) | etc,
continuously improves the human resources management system,
and implements normalised and standardised management
in respect of salary and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, holidays, equal opportunities, diversity, and
anti-discrimination, so as to effectively protect the interests of
employees.

The Group promotes a diverse and respectful workplace to ensure
that employees are not treated differently due to factors such as
gender, age, nationality, race, religion, family and health conditions,
and eliminate any form of discrimination.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not experienced any
complaints or litigations regarding the violation of laws relating
to recruitment, compensation, dismissal, promotion, performance
assessment, working hours, holidays, equal opportunities, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other aspects of employment.
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ELITE TEAMS (Continued) AxEEREKE)
Employment Management (Continued) EREE(E)
Year ended
30 June 2024
BE-Z-@OF
Employment Indicators EREER ARA=THLEE
Employment &R
Total number of employees 1ES#E2 24
By gender ZIE5
Male Es 12
Female Z 12
By age group TEFHAAF
<35 35ERA T 3
>35 355k 21
By region el
Hong Kong B 14
The PRC ae 10
By employment type IR IE IR
Permanent Staff KABL 24
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ELITE TEAMS (Continued) BEERK#E)
Employment Management (Continued) BEEEE)
Year ended
30 June 2024
BE-ZT-MF
Employment Indicators EREER ARA=THLEE
Employee turnover MEET
Total employee turnover rate HBETRAE 16%
By gender ZIE5
Male Es 13%
Female Z 18%
By age group TEFHAAF
<35 35ERA T 18%
>35 355RA 13%
By region iz
Hong Kong HE 6%
The PRC [ 20%
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ELITE TEAMS (Continued)
Lawful Labour

The Group prohibits the use of child labour or forced labour. In
accordance with the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Labour Contract Law of the PRC {#ZEAREFELEERE) |
the Law of the PRC on the Protection of Minors and the Regulations
on the Implementation of the Employment Contract {FZEAR
HMBARKFEAREEMG B AR BHIED) | the Law of the
PRC on the Protection of Minors {1 2E A R HEABI AR F ALRE
A& and the Provisions on the Prohibition against the Use of Child
Labour {ZEIHERAZET#E) , we have clearly stipulated in the
labour contracts that the Group and its employees have equal legal
status and that no party shall impose its/his/her will on the other
party. The Group strictly implements relevant procedures in the
recruitment process and screens out all job applicants under the
age of 16, and their identification certificates are carefully examined
in the interviews. In case of any violation of relevant regulations,
the Group will immediately terminate the employment contract to
prevent child labour. The Group formulates the working hours of
employees according to relevant laws and regulations, and does
not encourage and emphasise overtime work.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not experienced any
kind of child labour or forced labour related complaints.

Health and Safety

As a responsible employer, the Group believes employees’ health
and safety are the guarantee of steady operation for an enterprise.
The Group continues to improve the health and safety related
system construction and daily management to protect employees’
physical and mental health. The Group strictly complies with the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Regulation on Work- Related Injury Insurance { THS{RERIEH) |,
the Fire Safety (Commercial Premises) Ordinance of Hong Kong
and the Production Safety Law of the PRC { % AR KB %
2 A EJK) | the Law on Prevention and Control of Occupational
Diseases of the PRC (A #E A R EFBIBEZE KA 8)%) | and the
Administrative Measures for Occupational Health Inspection B3
MEFEREEIEIDE) and other relevant laws and regulations,
committed to creating a sanitary, safe and comfortable office
environment for employees.
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ELITE TEAMS (Continued)
Health and Safety (Continued)

In order to maintain a hygienic office environment, we regularly
hire professional cleaning companies to disinfect telephones,
keyboards, computers and other office supplies; and clean glass
windows, walls, carpets as well as debugs. We also carry out regular
inspections of the hygienic conditions of the items in our office
environment and promptly clean or replace those that do not meet
hygienic standards.

The Group has implemented all practicable preventive and
protective measures to minimise occupational risk, including but
not limited to encouraging the employees to wear surgical masks
and remain social distancing, when necessary, and provision
of sanitizers. The Group will pay close attention to the latest
development and regularly reviews the measures implemented to
ensure the measures are effective.

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded zero case of
work injury and no relevant lost days (2023: 0 case). No work-
related fatalities were recorded by the Group in the past three years
including the Reporting Period. As the Group places its employees’
safety as top priority, it will continue to strive for a safe and healthy
work environment for its employees.
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ELITE TEAMS (Continued)
Training and Development

The development of employees is the top priority of the Group's
planning and also the driving force for the steady development
of NOVA Group. The Group continues to invest resources and
establish a sound training system. Through various types of training
and learning programmes, the Group encourages employees to
develop their potential, improves team capabilities and overall
quality, and lays a solid foundation for the sustainable development
of the Company. Every year, the Group regularly formulates training
work plans for business development and employees’ career needs,
and arranges diversified training programmes and seminars held
by relevant institutions. During the Reporting Period, the Directors
attended seminars and courses organised by external parties; the
Company'’s accounting department also attended courses and
seminars organised by the Institute of Certified Public Accountants
or accounting firms from time to time every year.

We attach great importance to training management work
and monitor training processes and outcomes. We undertake
assessment upon conclusion of training programmes, whereby
we also take into account trainees’ subsequent job performances
to carry out appraisals as to their overall learning results, ensuring
that our training is effective. Meanwhile, the results of the training
assessment will be recorded in the employees’ files as references
for potential shifts of positions, adjustment of ranks, assessment of
performance and other personnel activities.
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ELITE TEAMS (Continued)

AEERX (&)

Training and Development (Continued) FHIRE R (F)
During the Reporting Period, the average training hours of the RS - AEE 8 TEZEIITFHEER
Group's employees are 0.5 hour. The details are as follows: BOS/NEF o FRBIATRATR ¢
Year ended Year ended
30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Development and BZ-—Z_mFg ®HE_ZT-_=F
Training Indicators BREZIIER RA=T EI HFE NA=THLEE
Total et 15% 18%
By gender gkl
Male 5 40% 25%
Female z 60% 75%
By employee category ZIEIBEF
Senior management SREEE 50% 50%
Middle management RREIRE 50% 50%
General employees iR T -% %
Year ended Year ended
30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Development and BE-Z-_NFq HBEZZT=-=F
Training Indicators BRBEEIEE ARA=THLFEE SNA=tTHLEFE
Total number of hours of BT3Bl ERR
training received by employees 2.0 8.0
Average hours of training &5 8 T -F191550#
per employee
Average hours of training per employee 1z 14 FI&| 7 &5 8 T
by gender F155)hF 2L
Male e 0.5 0.2
Female z 0.5 0.5
Average hours of training per employee — ZIEIFIEF 758 T
by employment category FE 15 2L
Senior management BRERE 0.4 04
Middle management FRERE 0.4 04
General employees il - -
2023/24F Fif - HBEEEZRERAT 10



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (ontinued)

IRE - HEREBRE#)

ELITE TEAMS (Continued)
Employee Care

NOVA Group has established a comprehensive remuneration
and welfare protection system in accordance with the laws, and
adheres to the principle of equal and fair employment. We only
consider candidates’ moral character, work ability, development
potential and compatibility with the Company’s culture as the
consideration for the appointment of talents, and provide fair and
competitive remuneration and benefits based on their educational
background, work experience, career aspirations and other factors.
Employees’ remuneration package includes basic salary, post salary
and comprehensive subsidies, as well as bonuses determined by
their business performance and individual performance, serving as
an effective motivation to employees. The Group regularly adjusts
employees’ remuneration and benefits by evaluating their work
ability and past performance, and making reference to market
and industry standards, which is one of the bases for promotion.
At the same time, the Group provides performance-based salary
according to the work performance and position of employees to
enhance the motivation of employees to work hard, and formulates
a remuneration structure table to determine the salary range of
each rank and provide clear guidance for employees. The Group
ensures that all procedures such as remuneration assessment,
position and job grade transfer are fair, open and transparent to
ensure equal opportunities for all job applicants and staff.

REERX (&)
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IRIE - HEREQRE 2

ELITE TEAMS (Continued)
Employee Care (Continued)

In addition to reasonable remuneration, the Group also emphasises
on welfare policy to encourage cohesion of our staff and passion
of work. Subject to the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong
and the Labour Contract Law of the PRC {FZE AR K FIE 4
A L) , we provide a wide range of benefits to employees,
including labour insurance, Mandatory Provident Fund, medical
and life insurance, telecommunication subsidy, lunch allowance,
overtime subsidy, travel allowance, heatstroke prevention subsidy
and labour protection allowance. In addition, we implement
standardised management on employees’ holidays and rest
periods, and formulate policies to restrict employees’ working
hours with reference to laws, regulations and guidelines such as the
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Provisions of the
State Council on Employees’ Working Hours  BI758t BB T
T {ERFREAYARIE) |, to ensure that employees have sufficient rest.
In addition to statutory holidays and fixed paid annual leave, the
Group's employees are provided with paid leave including annual
leave, sick leave, maternity leave, marriage leave, bereavement
leave and examination leave to further protect the legitimate rights
of employees.

To ensure that our employees work in a pleasant and comfortable
environment, we attach great importance to our employees’ voices,
and have established a number of channels, such as feedback
boxes for collecting employees’ comments, in order to enhance
communication with them, understand their thoughts and
suggestions, and continue to perfect our employee management
system. The Group also encourages employees to respect,
coordinate and support one another during work and create a fair
and diverse working environment free from discrimination so as to
manifest our corporate values and fulfil social responsibilities.

FREEERX (&)
STEE(E)
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IRIE - HEREQRE 2

ENVIRONMENTAL OPERATIONS
Environmental Protection

The Group understands the importance of environmental
protection, and strictly controls the generation and emission of
air pollutants, waste discharges and others in adherence to the
Air Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Environmental
Protection Law of the PRC {FZE A RHEMBEIRFREE) |,
the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Pollution
(PEARKEFBSEPGAE) the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Water Pollution {#FZE A R MBI 7K
SEARIARY | the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control
of Environmental Noise Pollution {# % A R X MBIRIFIRE )5
ZBHAYA) |, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environment Pollution Caused by Solid Wastes & A R LN
Bl [E BB R Y35 4 FH A &) and the Law of the PRC on Conserving
Energy (P ZEARKEMBETLEEIRE) and other related laws
and regulations, to ensure that the Group does not violate any
laws or regulations related to environment in the course of our
operation and management.

As a responsible corporate citizen, we consistently carry out the
environmental sustainability development strategy across our
operations, perfect our environment management system and
promote green development. We continuously gather and monitor
data and information relating to major environmental issues that
are material to the Group. As the Group is principally engaged in
the management services and other business activities which are
all conducted in the office, our daily operations do not have any
material effect on the environment, except for greenhouse gas
("GHG") emissions indirectly generated from the use of externally
purchased electricity.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
violation of environmental protection laws and regulations.
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IRIE - HEREQRE 2

ENVIRONMENTAL OPERATIONS (Continued)
Energy Saving and Reducing Emission

In order to reduce carbon emissions in business operations and
jointly cope with climate change, the Group actively advocates the
green policy of sustainable development and strives to save energy,
water, paper and other resources within its capacity. We proactively
raised our staff's environmental awareness and implemented
relevant measures in energy saving and reducing emissions in daily
operations so as to establish a low-carbon office.

During the Group's daily operations, the Group owned 2 vehicles
for business use. Vehicle usage is the major activity of the Group
that generates air pollutant, which includes nitrogen oxides (‘NO_”),
sulphur oxides ("0, ") and Particulate Matter ("PM"). During the
Reporting Period, the air pollutants emissions data are increased.
This was mainly due to the more frequent use of vehicles for
transporting our management team members, guests and clients
as the pandemic situation is gradually relieved during the Reporting
Period. To uphold the principles of sustainable development,
the Group is committed to reducing the air pollutants emissions
between 80% to 110% of the level of baseline year ended 30 June
2023 in the next reporting period. For fleet management, regular
maintenance checks are performed for all the vehicles to enhance
fuel consumption efficiency, ensure road safety and keep emissions
at their minimum.

GHG generated from human activities is one of the significant
drivers of global warming which affects the lives of the present and
future generation. Therefore, the Group is highly concerned about
the importance of monitoring and mitigating GHG emissions in
its operations. During the Reporting Period, the GHG emissions
intensity increased significantly when compared to the previous
reporting period, which did not achieve the target set in the
previous reporting period. Although the GHG emissions generated
by the Group decreased by more than 20%, it decreased by a
proportion less than the decrease in the number of employees.
Thus, the intensity of GHG emission increased. To uphold the
principles of sustainable development, the Group is committed to
reducing or maintaining both the GHG emissions intensity between
80% to 110% of the level of baseline year ended 30 June 2023 in
the next reporting period via adopting the following measures.
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ENVIRONMENTAL OPERATIONS (Continued)
Energy Saving and Reducing Emission (Continued)

Electricity is the principal energy consumed in our daily operation
within the offices. The Group regularly monitors the electricity
consumption of the offices in Hong Kong and Mainland China,
installs LED lights with higher energy efficiency in the offices to
replace traditional fluorescent tubes, and encourages employees to
minimise the use of lights when natural light is abundant; signings
are displayed at prominent locations in offices to raise employees’
awareness of energy conservation; central air-conditioning is
subject to reasonable adjustments in different seasons; electrical
appliances are subject to regular energy consumption inspections;
energy saving and environmental protection are considered in the
procurement of new electrical appliances.

During the Reporting Period, the energy consumption intensity
increased significantly when compared to the previous reporting
period, which did not achieve the target set in the previous
reporting period. Although the energy consumption level of
the Group decreased by approximately 20%, it decreased by a
proportion less than the decrease in the number of employees.
Thus, the intensity of energy consumption increased. To uphold
the principles of sustainable development, the Group is committed
to reducing or maintaining both the energy consumption intensity
between 80% to 110% of the level of baseline year ended 30
June 2023 in the next reporting period by implementing the said
mitigating measures.

Effective Use of Resources

The Group understands the precious nature of the earth’s resources
and actively advocates paperless office to reduce unnecessary
office paper consumption. The Group encourages employees to
prioritise the communication and dissemination of information
through e-mail and other electronic platforms. The Group
encourages double-sided printing and the use of waste paper for
printing internal documents whenever possible.
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IRIE - HEREQRE 2

ENVIRONMENTAL OPERATIONS (Continued)
Effective Use of Resources (Continued)

The Group adheres to its commitment to sustainable management
and has taken various measures in the office to encourage recycling
to reduce waste generation. The Group encourages employees
to reuse office stationery such as used envelopes and document
folders whenever possible. In terms of hazardous waste, as the
business of the Group does not involve any industrial production
activities, the Group did not generate any significant hazardous
waste during the Reporting Period.

The major non-hazardous waste is produced from paper
consumption for administrative work. During the Reporting Period,
the paper consumption intensity increased significantly when
compared to the previous reporting period, which did not achieve
the target set in the previous reporting period. Although the
consumed non-hazardous waste decreased by more than 60%, it
decreased by a proportion less than the decrease in the number of
employees. Thus, the intensity of non-hazardous waste increased.

In order to minimise the usage of paper, we cultivate a paperless
working environment among our employees. To avoid unnecessary
wastage and promote the effective use of paper, our employees
are encouraged to use electronic copies instead of hard copies.
If printing is necessary, we encourage the use of double-sided
printing. Any paper that has been used for single-sided printing
should be reused when there is no confidential information on the
printed side of the paper. To uphold the principles of sustainable
development, the Group is committed to reducing or maintaining
the non-hazardous waste intensity generated between 80% to
110% of the level of the baseline year ended 30 June 2023 in the
next reporting period.
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IRIE - = REQRE 2

ENVIRONMENTAL OPERATIONS (Continued)
Effective Use of Resources (Continued)

The operation of the Group involves a small amount of water
for office activities. During the Reporting Period, the water
consumption intensity increased by approximately 53% when
compared to the previous reporting period, which did not achieve
the target set in the previous reporting period.

Although the Group did not encounter any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, we strive to reduce water consumption and
improve the efficiency of water use in our operations. The Group
has put up “Saving Water Resource” posters in washrooms in the
office to raise employees’ awareness of water conservation. In
addition, the Group also regularly inspects and repairs the water
supply system, including water taps, water pipelines and water
storage tanks. Once the water supply equipment is found to be
dripping or leaking, professional parties will be arranged to repair
the water supply equipment immediately to reduce waste caused
by leakage of the water supply system. To uphold the principles of
sustainable development, the Group is committed to reducing or
maintaining both the water consumption intensity between 80%
to 110% of the level of baseline year ended 30 June 2024 in the
next reporting period.
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IRIE - B REBBE D)

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE RIBEN

During the Reporting Period, the Group's environmental  RIREEIE - NEBEERE B MRS E
performance in terms of resource consumption and emissions are  EYIRIBAEZIAT
as follows:

Vehicle (kwh) B (FER) 344257
Electricity (KWh) BN (FTRE) 65,382.62
Energy consumption (KWh) RERERE(TER) 68,825.19
Energy consumption intensity BEREA®E

(kWh/capita) (FERAH) 3,12842

Water consumption (litre)* FERE(FH)4 670.00
Water consumption intensity (litre/capita) FKEE(FH/AH) 3045

2 The data of energy consumption for the Reporting Period are disclosed in accordance with 2 R MR A 2R DRI R AR AR SR =

“Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange to CREBRERIEZERESDIRE - NE2EHBETA
display the more comprehensive performance of the Group. SEEM -

g The data of energy consumption for the last reporting period are reinstated and disclosed F—REBEEIRE B S EIR TR R AR H FT iR

in accordance with “Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs" issued by the Z(REEREREEERESDIEFIREE - ET
Stock Exchange for meaning comparison. BEEZLHR -

4 The statistics of water consumption only cover the bottled water consumption of Hong FRERFTEREERLIRLE BERERERECR
Kong head office, Furuida Financial Leasing (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. and NOD (Shanghai) INERARRASR(LE)CEEERAERARNE,
Management Communication Co,, Ltd; the Group’s water supply is sourced from the REKHEEE  AEBKRREMBKE - wEKA
municipal water network, and it has not experienced any difficulty in securing water supply. EREE o
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IRIE - HEREBBE D)

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (Continued)

Motor vehicle emission (scope 1) (kg)°

Electricity consumption emission
(scope 2) (kg)

Total GHG emissions (kg)
Total GHG emissions intensity (kg/capita)

REN (=)

i

MEBRE(BE—)

(Fm)s 944.85
BEHFERENE(SBE )

(F%=) 39,319.24
BWREREBHNE(TR) 40,264.09
BEEREEREE

(F=/AH) 1,830.19

Sulphur oxides (SOx) emission (g)
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) emission (g)

Particulate matter (PM) emission (g)

Fa ) (S0,) HERE (=) 522
BEA (NO) HELE (52) 241.80
FERLY) (PM) BERE (52) 17.80

5 The Group has two vehicles in Hong Kong. The GHG (scope 1) emissions data is calculated ~ ° AEEEAMBURBENE - BERB(BE—)H
with reference to the Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs issued by the Stock HEBEOFERE2ZHIAEANCRERREEE
Exchange. [ERig5l) -

6 The vehicle air pollutant emissions data is calculated with reference to the Reporting ¢ ERERSLEMERBERNE T E2EHIMBHN

CRAEMBEIERERIRSD -

Guidance on Environmental KPIs issued by the Stock Exchange.
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BERM (2

i

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (Continued)

Waste paper generation (kg) BERREEAE(TR) 117.50
Waste paper generation intensity (kg/capita) BREAREETE
(F=/A) 534

The Group will keep recording its resource consumption for AREEKFECHELSRERASE - UNBEE
reviewing the effectiveness of its conservation measures in the st HEFA)HE A AR R 15T F B ieph =4
future and formulating more specific improvement measures and ~ JE 2 B1Z

objectives.

7 The scope of the Group's business operation does not involve any packaging material. g FEBEBREBENSREMBEME
¢ The statistics of paper consumption in the Reporting Period cover Hong Kong head office ¢ BEHEAAERH O RBRNHRAERPEM

and all the office in PRC for comprehensiveness, while the statistics of previous reporting BRAE  ME—REBEGHEREEEATRRE -
period covered Hong Kong head office only.
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IRE - HEREGRE @)

CLIMATE CHANGE

Climate change is among the most pressing global challenges of
our time. Against the backdrop of global climate actions, the Group
has implemented measures to conserve energy and reduce GHG
emissions. In addition, the Group is conscious that the frequency
of extreme weather is increasing, which could impact its business
operations.

Going forward, the Group will continue to review the impact
of climate change on its operations and implement mitigation
controls for significant risks to enhance its resilience and
adaptability to climate change.

The Group has considered the potential climate-related risks and
opportunities in respect of the recommendations of the Task Force
on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, in which potential physical
risks and transition risks from climate change may pose adverse
financial impacts on the Group's businesses. Acute physical risk can
arise from extreme weather conditions such as flooding and storms
and chronic physical risk can arise from sustained high temperature,
while transition risk may result from the change in environmental-
related regulations or change in customer preferences, and the
potential climate-related risks are summarised as below:
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IRIE - HEREEHRE®)

CLIMATE CHANGE (Continued) RiEREL#E)
Short
(current Medium Long
Reporting (oneto (four to
Risk Type Risks Potential Financial Impacts Period) three years) ten years) Mitigation Strategies
bt ik &4
(A& (-% (mz

BRER Bk EEHBYE ) %) +#) ]

Physical Risks *  Extreme weather *  Reduced revenue from v v *  Establish adverse weather condition policy
conditions such as business due to business *  Maintain or expand the supplier base to avoid
flooding and typhoon and supply chain disruption

disruptions *  Insurance coverage for fire, flood and typhoon
damages to merchandise, furniture, fixtures and
fittings

RHER o WERRER WK o EBREEETHEN v/ / o HEBSREMRBE
KB WD o BRABEARESERNBETRE

o RO KKREEEER  RA - RER
RENESRBRR
*  Sustained elevated *  Increased in business / *  Adopt energy conservation measures to avoid
temperature operating costs overconsumption of natural resources
¢ BERE o EBEERNEM / o FREEEEASEEEERRARER
Transition Risks *  (hangesinenvironmental-*  Higher operating costs to v v *  Adopt energy conservation measures to reduce
related regulations adopt new practices emissions
*  Continue to monitor the regulatory environment
to ensure that the Group complied with the
environmental-related laws and regulations

BERR o RREEWEREC o FEHEREREEN v/ v o FEERERARDHER

ALH ¢ RERREERGNBERTEEETREA

BHEERER
*  Shiftin consumer *  Reduced demand for v o Adhere to the Group's sustainable development
preference to products the service, decreased concept and take it into consideration when
incorporating more competitiveness and providing services, and commit to producing
environmentally- friendly impact on revenues high-quality services to meet the expectations of

concept
o REERHEERRA
RRESHER

BR#FRED 53N
TREHREERTE

consumers and the market
EFREENTHELER S RRERE
RERZER  THNRMEEREIFE
ZPRMSHE

2023/24F FR - HBREEERERA T 113



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

IRIE - HEREQRE 2

CARING FOR COMMUNITY

Adhering to the belief that “fragrance lingers in the hand that gives
roses”, the Group encourages employees to actively participate in
charitable activities and provide voluntary services to support the
sustainable development of the community and society.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not organised any
community and charity activities due to the COVID-19 pandemic
and public health concerns. The Group will explore volunteer
opportunities and organise relevant activities in the future.

FAZHE

REBABIR « FERKFIE—FEX
SEE B THEBR2RAE RS MEHER
RS - AR R G R AR EER o

PR IR - R COVID- 19 1B R A H &
ARE - AEEWERRE (LR RESE
B AEEBRARKERE IR S RENNA
R o
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RIE - HEREERE D)

CONTENT INDEX FOR THE ENVIRONMENTAL, (IRIR - HERESRE)RTES|
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

IRER - FH —REERBRAMER

A. Environmental Reference
A. B Section(s)
SEEH
Aspect A1: General Disclosure
Emissions — =
EEA:
BEr Information on:
FRABERIMORERBHW - KR THHEES  EEREZTER
MELEZR -
(@)  the policies; and
@ BE: R
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer Environmental
(b) ETHETABEAZENERERZ MR Protection
RIFRE

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

BB -

Note:  Air emissions includes NOx, SOx, and other pollutants regulated under national laws and regulations.

o BRENERAANY RALNREMREZERIATIRENSRY

Green house gases include carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide, hydrofluorocarbons,
perfluorocarbons and sulphur hexafluoride.

RERBEE_AMLE Tt &L SEARKLAY  2RECHBESELR -

Hazardous wastes are those defined by national regulations.

BEREMRARRPIFAREE o
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CONTENT INDEX FOR THE ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING (Continued) (&)

(IRT -

HERER

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
IRIE - HEREEHRE 2

HEIAFTRS

KPIAT.1
RABARRUIEIR ALY

The types of emissions and respective emissions
data.
PERUiE SR AR HE R o

Environmental
Protection

BRI

KPI A1.2
BRERIRIZAL2

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope
2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

BE(EE) RpREE(SHE2)RERE
P2 (LAMEET &) R (EA) B E (A E

a

EEBBN - BAREAE)

Environmental

Protection
IRIBIRE

KPIA1.3
BASAE ISR A1 3

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit
of production volume, per facility).

FELXAEEEDHAEE(CAMEGE) R
BR)BRE(WMABESEN - BERE

= o
>t

Environmental
Protection

RIGIRE

KPI A14
RRBHARUIEIR A4

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).
FREAREEZEYAE (AN E) &40
BR)ZE(WMAGESEN - BERMET
K

Environmental
Protection

BRI

KPIA1.5
RASEAE ISR ALS

Description of emission target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

MMM ER R R RESIE LR
RATEREREY ZBR:

Environmental
Protection

RIGIRE

KPIA1.6
FRBHARUIEIR A6

Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

R EEEERBETERMN L - MH#E
APTETSZ BV RE B AR R REDE L B 1R
RERE) AP BR

Environmental
Protection

RERE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

IRIE - HEREQRE 2

CONTENT INDEX FOR THE ENVIRONMENTAL,

(IRT -

SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING (Continued) (&)

HEREGRE)AEFT RS

Aspect A2:
Use of
Resources
[EEA2 :
BERERA

General Disclosure
— =

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and

other raw materials.

BERERER(BREER - KEEMRME) OEEK -

Note:  Resources may be used in production, in storage, transportation, in buildings, electronic equipment,

etc.

#: ARFUMARAE - #F 25 BT ETRES-

Environmental
Protection

RIGIRE

Energy Saving
and Reducing
Emission

B BE IR HE

KPI A2.1
RASEAE MR IR A2,

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by
type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in
'000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
RERESNEERXEZLR(WE -
RIH)BREATETERAE) REE
(MABEEEMN - BERBE) °

Environmental

Performance

KPI A2.2
RRBARIEIR A22

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).
BFEKENEE(WMAGESEN - AR
HESR

Environmental
Performance
RIBEM

KPIA2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set i
FARERIEIZEA23 | and StEpS taken to ;?Zhieve them. e Efﬁ;ctwe Use of
RORATAT S 0L IR (P PR B IR BRE) | oo
BLEEMRRNSE - s
KPIA2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in
RASEAEBIEIZ A24 | sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to Effective Use
achieve them. of Resources
fMCSKEGERKR LRI B E A ERE - A K ZREIR
eI EAKREERRREDNELER
FERER &Y 22 8%
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished | The Group does
RSB IEIE A25 products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with | notinvolve the

reference to per unit produced.
K mFTABREMEONES(UEETE) &
(WBER)BEEBNIEE -

use of packaging
materials due
to the nature
of business
HMREBME -
REETNERE
RMEE A
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IRIE - HEREQRE 2

CONTENT INDEX FOR THE ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING (Continued)

(IRT -
(&)

HEREGRE)AEFTRS

Aspect A3: General disclosure Environmental
The — e e Protection
Environment BRIRIRE
and Natural Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment
Resources and natural resources. Energy Saving and
FEE A3 : WIEBITAHBERRARERERNEAZENHR - Reducing Emission
BIER XARER B RE R Bk
Effective Use of
Resources
ZAER
KPI'A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of |Energy Saving and
RS AR IR A3 activities on the environment and natural |Reducing Emission
resources and the actions taken to manage BN BE R BE
them.
HMEBEHHRRTRRANERNEAKRT | Effective Use of
ENERNEBEHEZENTTY - Resources
ZREIR
Aspect A4: General disclosure
Climate Change | —f&#
[ETE AL : Climate Change
Rz Policies on identification and mitigation of significant impacts on the RIREL
environment and natural resources.
BRI SOMEHIRIE R KRR ERELEEBALENBR -
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related
RESRAE IR IZ A4 issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to oy —
manage 'clwem. B SRS
R R HETAELETENE
ARREHEEEE  ERREEEETE
BTTED ©
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IR - HEREGHRE

CONTENT INDEX FOR THE ENVIRONMENTAL, (RE - HERESREINBTES|
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING (Continued) (4)

B. Social Reference

B. & Section(s)
SEEH

Employment and Labour Practices

EBREREIER

Aspect B1: General Disclosure

Employment —RR IR

FEmEB1 : EfE

Information on:
BT LERE HEREF  IENE - RE - TS5ike %
T~ RIBASAREAFE KR

(@)  the policies; and

. Employment
@ BE R ey
Management
£~
7
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a R E2
significant impact on the issuer
(b) ETHEITABEAZENERRER NP
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
HYER o
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type
RASRAE IEIE BT (for example, full- or part-time), age group and Employment
geographical region. Management

RIER - BEBERE(NEZBER)  Fik BRFEERE
LRI e e B 2 ) B AR B

KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group

RASRAE NIEIRB1.2 and geographical region. ’\E/‘r:npaloirr:ir;tt
BIER FRESRMBHSHEERE | O

P o
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IRIE - HEREEHRE 2

CONTENT INDEX FOR THE ENVIRONMENTAL, (RE-HERESREINBTESI|
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING (Continued) (4)

Aspect B2: General disclosure
Health and — =
Safety
fE®EB2 : Information on:
REHERZER FRAREZ2THERERMREREREHEBELEEN -
S Health and Safety
(@)  the policies; and REETS

(@ HE:RK

Employee Care

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a = _
(©) P 9 BT#HE

significant impact on the issuer

(b) EFHBETABEATZENHEBERNRD

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

EER o

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities

AR A IR IZ B2.1 ioncclcuudrirnegdt;2 rtz;;iir?gf ;Qaer past three years Health and Safety
v — N e . EREET S
BECZE(AEREFE)SERATI MM -
ABRHE o

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety

RSB IEIR B2.2 ETEEIXIIEAS - EREL S

KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety

RSB IEIE B2.3 gzax;iitifsgted, how they are implemented Health and Safety
44+ 3 5 4 . R [ PN == N @%Eﬂ?i
PR B R RREL 2R - UK
HAMITRERTE -
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IRIE - HEREEHRE®)

CONTENT INDEX FOR THE ENVIRONMENTAL, (RIE-HERES
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING (Continued) (4)

BEIAFTRS

(@)  the policies; and

@ BE:R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

(b) EFHBETABERZENHERERNRD

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BER -

Aspect B3: General disclosure
Development — =
and Tralr.ung Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging
JEEBS : duti k ioti f traini Training and
BB uties at work. Desc_npnon ? tra|n|ngfct|V|tles. - g
FARABRERITIEBE MMM REENBUR - BIEAH | Development
i - IR
Note:  Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal and external courses paid by the
employer.
i BIRBESI ARRREENBHRINMBRE -
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by
AR A IR IZ B3.1 gender and employee category (e.g. senior Training and
management, middle management). Development
R REEEAN(NSRERE  FRE Hol R
BRE)ETNXIEEB L -
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per .
42 oop o 4T Training and
RASR A NIEIZE B3.2 employee by gender and employee category. IS
RUERKEEERNE D  BEEETKX ﬁémﬁﬁipgk)?%
BlESRSELESS - A,
Aspect B4: General disclosure
Labour —RE =
Standards )
] Information on:
FEBA BM LB TR T -
BI%A

Lawful Labour
axBT

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment
AR E I IR B4 practices to avoid child and forced labour.
MR BB AR RET K&
BT -

Lawful Labour
aBERBT

KPIB4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such
AR IE IR B4.2 practices when discovered.

R B IE RIS ER B BB
HU ) 8% o

Lawful Labour
AEBT
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IRIE - HEREQRE 2

CONTENT INDEX FOR THE ENVIRONMENTAL,

(IRT -

HERER

SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING (Continued) (&)

BEIANFTRS

Operating Practices

EEEH
Aspect B5: General disclosure Supplier
Supply Chain — MR PP
- . ) o ) Management
Management Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain (4 7 5 5
JEEBS : EEHERNRE R ERBRBUR - e
REREE KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supplier
AR A I IZ B5.1 miE Bl D e e - Management
e e g
KPIB5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging
RSB AR IEIE B5.2 suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, how they are Supplier
implemented and monitored. Management
R ERERHERNED  mEKTE HreEmER
BAEMNNHEEREE - ARBERRTRE
BIE °
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify
R AE IE IR B5.3 environmental and social risks along the supply Supplier
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored. Management
N o g e o e e T HremE R
e 5 B A Rl R FE S (R B Y BR 38 oAt
SRRIED - ARBBHRITMERTE -
KPIB5.4 Description of practices used to promote
RSB IR BS .4 environmentally preferable products and Supplier
services when selecting suppliers, and how they
) ) Management
are implemented and monitored. {4 78 5 5
M EREHERSREREZBRRER R o
ARFSEVIE B - LA RABBEBIT RER % o
122 NOVA Group Holdings Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24




Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
IRIE - HEREEHRE®)

CONTENT INDEX FOR THE ENVIRONMENTAL, (GRIE -
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING (Continued) (&)

HEREGRE)AEFT RS

Aspect B6: General disclosure
Product —RR IR
Responsibility
[EEB6 : Information on:
EmEME FHMREERMBRBOHREEREZS  BEE  SHEEALEZEEN
KAROITER
Product
(@)  the policies; and Resp:c?n:kcjility
BUR o1
) TGS EmEE
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
(b) ETHETABBEAZENERER AP
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.
EEFL o
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped Product
SR AR I IE B6.1 subject to recalls for safety and health reasons. S
BENEERERGETRAR2REEE | o0
7 Z [S[ER=%
mmZARIKE B S LL
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service —related
A BUIEIE B6.2 complaints received and how they are dealt Product
with. Responsibility
BEANEMIERGIRFEE AR EL EmaE
JE °
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing Product
RASR AR NIE 1R B6.3 and protecting intellectual property rights. Responsibility
Fir ot R4 o S ARPR AN EERE R VB D o EmEE
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and Product
RASRAENIEIZR64 | recall procedures. Responsibility
S S E B REMBWIRT ° EmEE
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and
RS AR B 1E B6.5 privacy policies, how they are implemented and Product
monitored. Responsibility
i E B E B RHRIE RALBEER - A RE EmEE
BRITRERITA -
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IRIE - HEREEHRE 2

CONTENT INDEX FOR THE ENVIRONMENTAL, (RIE-HERES
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING (Continued) (4&)

BEIANFTRS

Aspect B7:
Anti-corruption
[EEB7 :
RES

General disclosure

— R

Information on:

BRI LA - BhER

(@)  the policies; and

(@ HE:RK

HEF RO RER

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

(b) EFHBETABEATZENHEBERNRD

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

EVERL -

Professional
Ethics
EESEE

KPIB7.1
RASR AR IR 1R B

Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or
its employees during the reporting period and
the outcomes of the cases.
RREARANEETAREESIRELE
BHENETHFARMHHE MFRER -

Professional
Ethics
R

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and

B E BUIEIEBY 2 whistle- blowing procedures, how they are Professional
implemented and monitored. Ethics
BT S e R B WAEF - AR Eg Lk
NMERTE

KPIB7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided Professional

RSB IR BY .3

to directors and staff.
HiimEENE TIRENRESE -

Ethics
BB
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IRIE - HERE /RS S

CONTENT INDEX FOR THE ENVIRONMENTAL, (RIE-HERESHRERNBTES|
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING (Continued) (4&)

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

IRER - EFH  —REERBRANMER

Community
HE
Aspect B8: General disclosure
Community —MEEE
Investment Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the Caring for
JETEBS8 : communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take Community
HERE into consideration the communities’ interests. AELE
BN E2ERERETACENELRFTEMNERELERSE
EEELEMFAOBOR -
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
RASRAE KB IZE BS.1 environmental concerns, labour needs, health, Caring for
culture, sport). Community
EIERER(IHE RREE BIH AR
KRR Xk - BEF) °
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to Caring for
BABRAENIEIZB8.2 | thefocus area. Community
EEIHRBABAER(NSENER) - BAEHR
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZBEN R &

SAN-CHIVA

Confucius

RRERETENFH AR

International CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

TO THE MEMBERS OF NOVA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of NOVA Group Holdings Limited (the “Company’) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Group”) set out on
pages 133 to 298, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 30 June 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters
described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” section of our
report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our
opinion the consolidated financial statements have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

P HE181S AHAE1501-08%
Rooms 1501-08,15th Floor, Tai Yau Building,
181 Johnston Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
3% Tel: (852) 3103 6980

& & Fax: (852) 3104 0170

FABREEZERARIFARR
(RASFHBEEMALZERLF)

FERER

EEEZEEZENFI13B3EEE298EH
CHERBEEEERERAG(EAT ) KE
WEBAR(SABAEIEEE]) ZEMB®R
X HEBER-ZE-_MENA=+HZEE
SRR REEEZBIIFE 2 GAIBREN
Hzrmbak  SEAEREHRELEER
SRER  URERAVBREWT - BREE
FEBORBR R EMBRIEER o

BEETY BEREZEAMBHRERERE
Ro-BHRABRETERBR ZER |6
Pl ERCERE  BESARHEESENEE
ZERE  NWRHEZERAMBEHRE
RENBR AR - NAAEEM T E - &F
REFEVBRRERRELB R BED 2
BREZRBRE -
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B AR E =)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

A)

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN

As described in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group reported a loss attributable to the
owners of the Company of approximately HK$200,549,000
and operating cash outflow of approximately HK$3,610,000
for the financial year ended 30 June 2024. The Group's current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$48,130,000 and
its total liabilities exceeded its total assets by HK$86,240,000
as at 30 June 2024 and, as of that date, the Group's cash and
bank balances amounted to approximately HK$2,737,000
while the Group’s current and non-current borrowings
of approximately HK$10,449,000 and corporate bond of
approximately HK$47,964,000. These conditions indicate the
existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have carried out a detailed
review of the cash flow forecast of the Group for the next
twelve months from the date of this report and have
undertaken to carry out a number of measures to improve
the Group's liquidity and financial position which are set out
in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends on
the outcome of the following measures, which are subject
to multiple uncertainties, including (i) the Group can obtain
additional sources of financing as and when needed; and (ii)
the Group can successfully improve its operation to generate
sufficient operating cash inflow. The consolidated financial
statements do not include any adjustments that would result
from the failure to obtain additional sources of financing to
improve its financial positions, to provide liquidity and cash
flows.

FPRREBERZERE
A) FRFECEZERTHHAREER

WA BERERMEIFAM - &
EEREE=_FT_WFA=Z+H1
HRFESRS BERAREAABLE
8 % 200,549,000 78 7T & 4% & I8 & 7
#93,610,00087C c R=ZZFEZMF X A
=+H - EfBEsRHEEBEER
& E 48,130,000 7T - HABER
i H 484 EE 86,240,000 7T © B B %
H ESEZHESRRTEHRAED
2,737,000 T ESEHEKE
FEBNHATE TR A 49 10,449,000 78 7T & A A
B5 E447,964,000 8T » ZEAR R
AEAEEATHBREEZ ATy &
EEBESE 2R NBRERRM -

BERAEFEY BERXEBEAHREH
HEFART—_EAAZRSRERA
ETHEEMN YEARKRZER
whE BEEEZRBES RFBIRK
SLBRER B M SRR MIEE3) ©

HAVBRRNEBEFSELEELER
5 HARMEBURNIA TN E M 2 &
R-XBRNRZAIAPRE B

() EEEENFTERESHEIRE
HIR Ry BEERBEERINNEHE
BNELRWRERSRA - 5268
BHRERT T BRERREESEINGE
HORABE MBI - RERBE
ERREREMEB 2 EFAE -
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We consider that the going concern basis of preparation of
the consolidated financial statements has been adequately
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, and we
also consider that the material uncertainty relating to the
Group’s going concern has been adequately disclosed in
the consolidated financial statements. However, in view
of the extent of the multiple uncertainties relating to the
maintaining of sufficient operation to generate operating
cash inflow and the obtaining of additional sources of
financing, we disclaim our opinion in respect of the material
uncertainty relating to the going concern basis.

Should the Group fail to achieve the intended effects
resulting from the plans and measures as mentioned in note
3 to the consolidated financial statements, it might not be
able to operate as a going concern, and adjustments would
have to be made to write down the carrying amounts of the
Group's assets to their respective net realisable amounts,
and to provide for any further liabilities that may arise and
to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities respectively. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B AR E =)

B)

OPENING BALANCE AND CORRESPONDING FIGURES
AND WRITE-OFF OF RECEIVABLES

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 30 June 2023 were audited by other auditors
(the “Predecessor Auditors’), who expressed a disclaimer
opinion on 29 September 2023. The Predecessor Auditors
were unable to satisfy themselves about the recoverability
of factoring receivables, finance lease receivables and trade
receivables at 30 June 2023. The carrying amount of factoring
receivables, finance lease receivables and trade receivables
amounted to approximately HK$168,313,000, HK$2,225,000
and HK$4,975,000 respectively as at 30 June 2023.

The Predecessor Auditors were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence relating to the financial status
of these debtors and lack of information to ascertain the
uncertainty on the enforcement actions taken to recover
the aforesaid balances, therefore the Predecessor Auditors
were unable to assess the recoverability of the factoring
receivables, finance lease receivables and trade receivables
as at 30 June 2023, and unable to determine whether any
adjustments to the impairment loss recognised during
the year ended 30 June 2023 in respect of the factoring
receivables, finance lease receivables and trade receivables
were necessary, which might have a significant impact on the
Group's financial position as at 30 June 2023, and its financial
performance and the elements making up the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2023 and
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
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The directors of the Company determined to write-off the
factoring receivables, finance lease receivables and trade
receivables, as there is no realistic prospect of recovery
after taken into account: (a) an independent review of the
possibility and viability of taking legal proceedings against
all factoring debtors for recovering the outstanding debts,
which was conducted by an independent professional
law firm in the PRC indicating all factoring debtors were in
financial difficulties; (b) no recovery from legal proceedings
against the finance lease debtors since year 2022; and (c)
the respective outstanding amounts of trade receivables
are past due. The write-off of factoring receivables, finance
lease receivables and trade receivables of HK$166,994,000,
HK$2,208,000 and HK$4,936,000 respectively is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 2024.

However, in view of the lack of information relating to
the financial status for the factoring receivables, finance
lease receivables and trade receivables, we were unable
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy
ourselves about those management judgment, assumptions
and estimation techniques adopted in such impairment
assessment for the factoring receivables, finance lease
receivables and trade receivables that fully written off.
Our opinion on the current period’s consolidated financial
statements is also disclaimed because of the possible effects
of these matters on the comparability of the current period's
figures and corresponding figures. The closing balances as at
30 June 2023 of these receivables of the Group are brought
forward as the opening balances as at 1 July 2023 and hence
entered into the determination of the financial performance
and cashflows of the Group for the current year ended 30
June 2024. Any adjustments that might have been found to
be necessary in respect of the above may have consequential
significant effects on the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of cashflows, and related disclosures in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2024. Accordingly, we were unable to determine
whether adjustments might have been necessary in respect
of the performance and cashflows of the Group reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year ended 30 June 2024.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 30 June 2023 were audited by another auditor who
expressed disclaimer of opinion on those statements on 29
September 2023.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group's
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue
an auditor’s report. This report is made solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. However,
because of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion section of our report, it is not possible to form an opinion
on these consolidated financial statements.
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We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) together
with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the Code.

Confucius International CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

YIP YUEN NGA

Practising Certificate Number: P05908
Hong Kong

28 March 2025

BREBGAMASEMc EXSHANER
SRATSFR D AR EEERTHEAVBR
REBNOEABEER  EFBUR S
B - WEREZFERETRIEITEMBER
Bff-

AEEBREMEREAMERAE
HEDIED

=

HEFEEZRIT - P05908

BB

“E-RF=ZA-+N\H

132 NOVA Group Holdings Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income

FeEEREMEEKER

For the year ended 30 June 2024 EHEZZEZFA=THIFE

2024 2023
“E-FE —E=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T FBT THET
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEREXER
Revenue W as 7
Contract with customers BEFAEH 31,561 9,918
Interest under effective BRI EEBTHE
interest method - 31,301
Total revenue FEU g 31,561 41,219
Cost of sales SHE KA (21,778) (5,628)
Gross profit EF 9,783 35,591
Other income H A 8 374 953
Other gains and losses Hitb iz R EG1E 9 (1,548) (3,573)
Impairment loss on goodwill B REEE - (129,032)
Impairment loss on property, M WEREE
plant and equipment SREEE 16 (6,043) —
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets 1§ FAAE & E M EE 18 17 (5,162) (970)
Impairment loss on intangible assets 2 & E R B &5 18 19 = (730)
Provision for impairment losses under FEHAZEEE([FRHEE
expected credit loss (“ECL") model BRHEXIET 2
and write-off of receivables, BEBERER
net of reversal FEWCRIEMSE (IR EER) 10 (174,570) (359,493)
Selling expenses HER X (1,763) (5,156)
Administrative expenses TR (25,574) (23,681)
Operating loss from REBFELSEELKZ
continuing operations K& EE (204,503) (486,091)
Finance costs B TSP AR 11 (5,433) (4,009)
Loss before tax from REFELSEELK 2
continuing operations BB RIEE 9 (209,936) (490,100)
Taxation IR 12 (102) (16,009)
Loss for the year from REFESEEKZ
continuing operations FEEE (210,038) (506,109)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION ERIEREXER
Loss for the year from a REBERIEREXRT
discontinued operation 2 FEEE - (388)
Loss for the year FEEE (210,038) (506,497)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income (Continued)

GelEnkEMEZEKETR &)

For the year ended 30 June 2024 EHEZZEZFAA=THIFE

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
PiaE FET FHET
Other comprehensive expense FEHMEHEAX
for the year
Item that may be subsequently AIRA R E IR
reclassified to profit or loss: BmoHE -
Exchange differences on translation ~ HAB/BINEREEZ
of foreign operations MEHZR (1,202) (28,023)
Other comprehensive expense FEHMZEAX
for the year (1,202) (28,023)
Total comprehensive expenses FEZHBXAE
for the year (211,240) (534,520)
Loss for the year attributableto: LA NG EEEE -
Owners of the Company ZA/NEIEZE N (200,549) (506,497)
Non-controlling interests FEVERRAE 2 (9,489) =
(210,038) (506,497)
Total comprehensive expenses DTEMFEFEZEMAX
for the year attributable to: WA
Owners of the Company IN/NEIEZZ =N (201,751) (534,520)
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR R RS (9,489) =
(211,240) (534,520)
Loss per share: BREE 15
From continuing operationsand REIFELEEKR
a discontinued operation: BRI .
Basic (HK cents) EARCGENM) (9.76) (26.06)
Diluted (HK cents) BEOBM) (9.76) (26.06)
From continuing operations REFESEEY
Basic (HK cents) BEARCGEM) (9.76) (26.04)
Diluted (HK cents) w8 e (9.76) (26.04)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these BEMI I FE AL F 4R 6 Mk 2 KB

consolidated financial statements. e
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBIRRR

At30June2024 R-ZE-—mMENA=+H

2024 2023
—E-NE —T-=F
Notes HK$'000 HKS'000
B 5 FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment NS 16 3,060 195
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 = -
Intangible assets mEAE 19 - -
Deferred tax assets EET R A E 21 - 21
3,060 216
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 22 21,271 =
Trade receivables 25 rINEIE 23 168 4,975
Factoring receivables 1RIE FE W IR 24 = 168,313
Lease receivables HEEWIE 25 = 2,225
Loan receivables e E 26 - 431
Prepayments, deposits ENRIE 2k
and other receivables H fib fE U SR IE 27 2,363 3,449
Income tax receivables G - 1,112
Cash and bank balances B MIBITER 28 2,737 2,400
26,539 182,905
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B 5 BN RIE 29 22,751 2,573
Contract liabilities EHIaE 30 801 895
Accruals and other payables FEETE A R HAD
FET IR 32 26,826 8,356
Lease liabilities MEAE 31 3,515 1,155
Borrowings B 33 10,449 3,235
Corporate bonds NEESH 34 10,125 40,671
Income tax payables JE PRI 202 1,236
74,669 58,121
Net current (liabilities)/assets HRE(AEEE)
EEFE (48,130) 124,784
Total assets less current liabilities BAEERABER (45,070) 125,000
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBRE 37 3,331 =
Corporate bonds NRIEH 34 37,839 -
41,170 -
Net (liabilities)/assets (BEEZE) EEFE (86,240) 125,000
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

GZeMBIRRAFT 2

At30June2024 R-ZT-_WFA=+H

2024 2023
“E-FE —T-=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BiEE FET FET
Capital and reserve BEXR#E
Share capital AR 35 4,108 4,108
Reserves f#f (80,859) 120,892
(Deficit)/equity attributable AATHEEAEML
to owners of the Company (E#t), R (76,751) 125,000
Non-controlling interests FEERRAE (9,489) -
(Capital deficiency)/total equity ~ (EAEAL) AR (86,240) 125,000
The consolidasted financial statements on pages 133 to 298 were 5% 133 BEFIBAEZEAMBRAKRBE

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28
March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wong Ka Shing
ERR
Director

EBEF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

FER_ZE_RF=AC +}\E!Ttt/ﬁ&§‘x%
TE  AHUATEFRRRE

Woo Lan Ying
LES
Director

EF
BEM M B R R FAR A

e

BB HER 2 EKED
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEEREHR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BE T -FA=THIFE

AtT July 2022 RZF--£+A-A 3712 0613 245 a0 (18%) 95423 645918 = 645918

Loss for the year FEFR - - - - - (506:497) (506,497) = (506:497)

Other comprehensive expense: Eth2EEAY -
Exchange differences arisingon  REBINEBAES
translation of foreign operations ~ [EX Z% - = = = (28023) = (28023) = (28,023)

Total other comprehensive expenses & H it 2EF % 2%

for the year - - - - (28023) (506497) (534,520) - (534,520)
Placing of shares RERD 39 13,06 - - - - 13,602 - 13,602
Share option lapsed during the year B X KR IE - - (11617) - = 1617 = = =

At30June203and 1July203  RZZZ=FXA=THR
—F-ZF+A-A 4108 519329 9528 20350 (29859) (399457) 125,000 = 125000

Loss for the year FEEE

Other comprehensive expense; Hth2ERS -

Exchange differences arising on BERNEBAEE
translation of foreign operations X EE

Total other comprehensive expenses  EE E it 2ER %45
for the year

At30June 2024 RZB-MERA=TH

Note: 3T

(a) Exchange reserve (a) B
Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of BN EaERE BTN A E Y $i8Y
the financial statements of operations that have functional currency other than Hong Kong BEREREE Y FEELEE  DRBEANKEE
dollars which are dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies as set out in Note 3 M EE e HERE -

to the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
u‘l\‘éiﬁﬁiﬁg%‘

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #HEZZT-WMFNA=F+HIEFE

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BiEE FET FAET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEH
Loss before taxation Fi A E R
From continuing operations REFELCEER (209,936) (490,100)
From a discontinued operation RECRIEREER - 371)
Adjustments for: FLATIEB (EHAE -
Depreciation of property, plant ME - BERREITE
and equipment 16 2,396 123
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 17 1,985 1,163
Amortisation of intangible assets | B EEH 19 - 265
Write-off of property, plant WEEME - BE R&E
and equipment 9 43 51
Net exchange gains b H s F 5 9 (12) (506)
Net loss on financial assets at FVTPL ~ #ZAFEH ABZREZ
TREEBRFHE 9 - 830
Dividend income iR BMA 8 - (17)
Interest income FMERA 8 (27) @)
Finance costs BTG R 11 5,433 4,009
Gain on disposal of property, HEME  WE
plant and equipment K&tz Was 9 (2,050) -
Loss on non-substantial modification A AIfEAIEEBAEFT 2
of corporate bond E5i8 9 3,567 3,198
Impairment loss on goodwill [EEEREY 53] - 129,032
Impairment loss on property, W - BB MEHE
plant and equipment RIEEE 16 6,043 S
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets & FAE & E R EE 18 17 5,162 970
Impairment loss on intangible assets 2 & Z& B E 12 19 - 730
Provision for impairment losses EHEEBEER
under ECL model and write-off of HTNZBEBBERE
receivables, net of reversal T2 8 R IR M 8
(fOpR#E @) 10 174,570 359,493
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

nv, \éiﬁﬁiﬁﬁ%&(é%)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Operating cash flows before LEESEEF 2
movement in working capital KEHERE (12,826) 8,863
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEOEM),/ B (21,271) 1919
Decrease/(increase) in restricted X PR HIERTT A B
bank balances B () 57 (57)
Increase in frozen bank balances R AEIRITRERRIZ AN (8) -
Increase/(decrease) in trade receivables & 5 FEUL 1B
i,/ Ofd) (169) 4,516
Increase in factoring receivables (R B UK R IE 38 0 - (97,186)
Increase in lease receivables MHE EWKIA
i - (258)
Decrease in loan receivables e W B SR - 10,646
Decrease in prepayments, FANHIE - Re REM
deposits and other receivables JE W R IE R, 1,080 266
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables & 5 & FIE
i,/ CRd) 20,198 (601)
Decrease in contract liabilities aHAaERD (88) (554)
Increase in accruals and other payables &t 2 i K H th & 1~ 7018
i 9,417 2,931
Cash used in operations KEMA RS (3,610) (69,515)
Tax paid BEATIE - (6,/482)
Tax refund RE IR - 28
Net cash used in operating RETHFMAZREEE
activities (3,610) (75,969)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Dividend received B Uz B - 17
Interest received 2RI B 27 7
Purchase of property, plant BEWHE  BEIEE
and equipment (2,223) (59)
Proceeds from disposal of property,  HEWE « HE
plant and equipment RS 2 FriS 508 2,050 =
Proceeds from disposal of equity HEREB LT 2R
securities listed in Hong Kong B2 TS RIR - 317
Net cash (used in)/generated from RE&E;EE (FrH) E4LE
investing activities ZREFHE (146) 282
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

nv, \‘%Eﬁﬁiﬁ%%(ﬂ%%)

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #HEZZT-WMFNA=F+HIEFE

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BiEE FET FAET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE 37
Capital element of lease rentals paid ~ ENHERE 2
BARE 7D (1,456) (1,260)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BN HER S 2
BB (534) (180)
Interest paid ERFLE (365) (5,/489)
Proceeds from borrowings EFRPT5508 9,648 3,221
Proceeds from Issue of shares by FHBARLEFRBITRG
placing, net of issuing expenses PTG RI8
(FMEREEFTRAZ) - 13,602
Redemption of corporate bonds B ARIES - (1,000)
Repayment of a borrowing BEREX (3,243)
Repayment of handling fee BEFESE - (360)
Net cash generated from METBELECESFHE
financing activities 4,050 8,534
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN ReRAEZEER
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  #&f1/ (R4 )F88 294 (67,153)
Cash and cash equivalents FUzRekREEFEB
at the beginning of the year BHH 2,343 71,758
Effect on foreign currency exchange ~ YMNESTE RE ) » g/ &
rate changes 92 (2,262)
Cash and cash equivalents FRZESRESEEER
at the end of the year 28 2,729 2,343
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES RERRESEEEBZ
OF CASH AND SRR
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances e MRITHE 28 2,737 2,400
Less: restricted bank balances B R fﬁﬁ EER 28 - (57)
Less: frozen bank balances W WORAIRITAEER 28 (8) -
Cash and cash equivalents FRZAESREEEE
at the end of the year HE 2,729 2,343
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these B EBRZEHEA M BHRER 2 AKE

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a8 SRR RE

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law of Cayman Islands and is listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The registered office of the Company is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands and the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong has changed from Room 2102, 21/F,,
Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Hong Kong to Unit
E2, 8/F., Kingston International Centre, 19 Wang Chiu Road,
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong effected on 28 October
2024.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Group are (i) organisation and
sponsorship of exhibitions and events (“Exhibitions and
events”); (ii) operation of cultural and entertainment
comprehensive services platform (“Cultural and
entertainment”) and (iii) provision of loan and financing
services ("Financing”). During the year ended 30 June 2023,
operation in the Exhibitions and events business segment
has been ceased and classified as a discontinued operation.
Further details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are
set out in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is also the functional currency
of the Company. In addition, the functional currencies of
certain group entities that operate outside Hong Kong are
determined based on the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the group entities operate. All values
are rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise
stated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e HRFMsE )

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZTZWFNA=1+HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
period beginning on 1 July 2023 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts and
October 2020 and the related Amendments
February

2022 Amendments
to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
and HKFRS Practice Policies
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related

to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs
in the current year had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

142 NOVA Group Holdings Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

FERM:IEEMBRELENIE
AVBREER ) REEST

RAFEEBHEERZHITEBHH

S ES )RS

RAFE  AEBEBXEATY A
AASHMAEe((EBEHMAT))
EHER-_ZE-_=F+A—HRKBZ
FEBREANER T B BHER
HEAREEFTRERE M IEERE ¢

EEPBREER REBRELHRIEE
E175R (B Z5
—E-TF+RA
v =S
Z“HAMEE
B S R & ZE R
FE175(185T))

BAETER SRTBUR IR
F1REEL

FAR RS ER

BERMEE 25

(1&57)

BAETER SEHEFTHIER
F8HR(1EF])

g AER ERABE—XBA

F 125 (BET) EEEER
BEMEL
I8

BT ER BIBR U B —
F125% (87T A
1B hR

RAFEEBII BT HRE L
REETHREERAFERBEF
B2 BN ERER, REERE
M BEMBCBBELBEEATE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

Forthe year ended 30 June 2024 EHZEZTZWF A NA=1+HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendment to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21

Amendments to HKFRS 7
and HKFRS 9

Lease Liability in Sale
and Leaseback!

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
and related amendments
to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)'

Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants'

Supplier Finance
Arrangements’

Lack of Exchangeability?

Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments®
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e HRFMsE )

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZTZWFNA=1+HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. ERFITEAMBEREEAN(E
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING B EHREER]) REBET (&)
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendment to HKFRSs in issue but not yet EEMEBKRERZHTE BT R
effective (Continued) HER R HIER] (&)
Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to BEEVBREER BEPBRE
Accounting Standards HKFRS Accounting SEHER(IBE]) ER|EEH R
Standards - Volume 113 2 FERE
—F %
Amendments to HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets Eb ezt & 5 R
and HKFRS 10 between an Investor F28H/NEE NEHEE
and its Associate or Joint B 75 RS | tEZELE
Venture’ F105 (BT SIRMEES
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure EEEHREAER MEHmRZ 275
in Financial Statements* £ 185k e
' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. U RZE-_NF-A—HRZERRZ FE R AER
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. ? RIEZRF-RA—AskcERE 2 FEBRRER
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026. 3 ORZEIRF-A-BYzERR FEBEER
“ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027. ¢ RIEZHF-A-BERBZEFEBEEN
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined. S T BB AR FEHRAER
Except for the new HKFRSs mentioned below, the directors of Br N XTI 2 FTE] BB B 7S i 5 AE B
the Company anticipate that the application of all other new SN RARIEFBFEFTEBMAE L4
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact S EABREENREEITNRATR
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable BRI EHGEEMBERRELSEK
future. o

144 NOVA Group Holdings Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendment to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1,
introduces new requirements to present specified categories
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss;
provide disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the financial statements and
improve aggregation and disaggregation of information to
be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some
HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7.
Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and
HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of
the new standard is expected to affect the presentation of
the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is in the process of assessing
the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group's consolidated
financial statements.
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3

146

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment (‘HKFRS
2'), leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 Leases ("HKFRS 16"), and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

NOVA Group Holdings Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

3.

GAMBERENERREXE
HBEAR

GAMBRERAREE

BAMBREIBREERHTLE
Wi EBHBREEAMEL - 1t
I BANBRRDEBIFES L
A B T A 28 ) ) 3 T A AR
AR -

REMBBRREBRBEE LK AEER
B ERSREPREQAFEFEZ
ETeMT AR TXAHEZEHHR
MR ERIN -

BB PR — MR B TR & R BRI
SR B2 AFEIE -

NP EEHH2EEZBETERE
TZBEFRSHHE —REEEE
FER-BREEMXNZER &
A EREERBEMSIRAS—
RERMEL 2GS - EHEEXE
Bz AFEEHGEFR  AEEEZE
BEmZ2REGEHERNRZEERRA
BETEERHEEEZEERAE
R EZEREUBRRTTE
R/ REE 2 AT EOESLERE LE
o ERAMBREERNS 25U
MAERZNF( BB BREER
F2R DEERNZ AN BERE 2
RRH  REFEVHEHREELE 16
GHE(EBMBREENFE 165%])
ARZHER S UARBEQFERR
AETHEUEELFRFHEZAEWE
BEEANF2RFE AR FE
SEBGFERIE 6/ EEREZE
FREBEERS -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

e level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

e |evel 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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3

148

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Going concern assumption

The Group reported a loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of HK$200,549,000 and operating cash outflow
of HK$3,610,000 for the financial year ended 30 June 2024.
The Group's current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$48,130,000 and its total liabilities exceeded its total assets
by HK$86,240,000 as at 30 June 2024 and, as of that date, the
Group's cash and bank balances amounted to HK$2,737,000,
while the borrowings of approximately HK$10,449,000
and corporate bond of HK$47,964,000. These conditions
indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may
cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the Company
have given careful consideration to the future liquidity
and performance of the Group and its available sources of
financing in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern. Certain
measures have been taken to relieve the liquidity pressure
and to improve its financial position which include, but are
not limited to, the following:

1) The Directors have been actively looking for additional
sources of financing; and

2)  The Directors will implement appropriate cost-
leadership measures to cope with all operational costs.

NOVA Group Holdings Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

3.

GEUBRREREEREXE
st BUREF (&)

BEKERR
AEBREBEE_E_MF,A=1H
LtV BRFEHRBARBIEE AEML
/&5 18 200,549,000 T & & & IR &
3,610,000 7T - RZZEZHF /XA
=+H AEBZRBHEEBLHER
& EE 48,130,000/ 70 - HLAERBEY
H 48 & FE 86,240,000 78 7T * B E%A -
AEBZIHE RIRITHEE 2,737,000
HIT - MBI A% 10,449,000 T R A
AME A 547,964,000 8 70 ° sZE RN &R
AEAEEATHBEZ  AJRYAE
B ELE ZRENBRNERRER -
EREBEBR ARARESECEIEE
BAREEZRRKREBES RRAUR
HAARERR  NIEAEEES
BERETHMBERETHELE -
SEERDAETHEBUATHE TS ES
BEAORMREEMERR  EheE(E
TR THIFE

) EBEF-EHEBIRBEINBER
R R

2) EFKEREENKRAEAER
VAREST P A 1SR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Going concern assumption (Continued)

Taking into account the Group's cash flow forecast prepared
by management which covered a period of not less than
twelve months from the date of this report, and assuming
the success of the above measures, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

Notwithstanding the above, material uncertainties exist as
to whether management of the Company will be able to
achieve its plans and measures as described above. Whether
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern would
depend upon the Group's ability to generate adequate
financing and operating cash flows through the following:

1) Successfully obtaining additional new sources of
financing when needed; and

2)  Whether the Group can successfully improve its
operation to generate sufficient operating cash inflow.

Should the Group be unable to continue in business as a
going concern, adjustments would have to be made in the
financial statements to write down the values of the assets
to their net realisable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities respectively. The effect of such adjustments has not
yet been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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3
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

®  has power over the investes;

® s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

®  hasthe ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group's relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes
in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-
attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the
non-controlling interests according to the Group's and the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments ("HKFRS 9") or, when applicable, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or
ajoint venture.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration
test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is not a business. The concentration test is met if
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is
concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar
identifiable assets.

The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and cash
equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from
the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test
is met, the set of activities and assets is determined not to be
a business and no further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first
to financial assets/financial liabilities at the respective fair
values, the remaining balance of the purchase price is then
allocated to the other identifiable assets and liabilities on
the basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase.
Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain
purchase gain.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
acquired processes are considered substantive if they are
critical to the ability to continue producing outputs, including
an organised workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge,
or experience to perform the related processes or they
significantly contribute to the ability to continue producing
outputs and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be
replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability
to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised
in profit or loss as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (the
"Conceptual Framework") except for transactions and
events within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, in
which the Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead
of the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has
assumed in a business combination. Contingent assets are
not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 Income Taxes ("HKAS 12") and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

* liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at
the acquisition date;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

®  3assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with that standard; and

® l|ease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases for
which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low
value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of
the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after reassessment,
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are
initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured
at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arises from additional information obtained
during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances
that existed at the acquisition date.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a
liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising from
interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that
have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be accounted
for on the same basis as would be required if the Group had
disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the
measurement period (see above), and additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business (see the accounting policy above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s CGUs (or groups of CGUs) that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not larger
than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the CGU is
less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a
prorata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within
the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss
on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation within
the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of
goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative
values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed of and the
portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs) retained.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purpose are stated in the consolidated
statements of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method, at the following rates per
annum:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms

Computer equipment 10%-33%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%-50%
Motor vehicles 20%

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
and recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives.

Trademarks and brands 37-116 months

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)
Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, is recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception
of the contract. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 EHZE_-Z

3.

“HERAZTHLEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the financial statements would
not differ materially from individual leases within the
portfolio.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption
for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

® any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received:;

®  anyinitial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

®  an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term is depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

164 NOVA Group Holdings Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

GEUBRREREEREXE
st BUREF (&)

HE(E)
AEBERFEBAE)
EHEEE

ERBEE KA

c HEARBUSHENSE:

o AFE B HASKLART{E L M EfRIAE
ENF IKREREKBEER
B

s AKBEAMNEMANIEEMN
ZANESd

o AKERFREFERBEEE -
ERBEEEMESHHERNA
A& EEHEMIRRRIRFATR
TE MRS ETEE A MARAS ©

(EAREERRAEL B 0B EA
BEHTERAERE - L AETER
SR MEREERE -

REBRE B RESERTE NG
HEREEEMARNEREEE
BRI A RS (ERFHERARE
e BRI EREEEAERER
H A a7l A F B A HI R 2 )
REFE -

REERERE M BT R P A6 A
BEZVIREHRAR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE )

For the year ended 30 June 2024 EHZE_-Z

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

®  variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate;

® amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees;

* the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group; and

®  payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZAUBEREREEREXT

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL sTBURER (2)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued) HEE)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) NEBERFRBA(E)
Lease liabilities (Continued) HEEBE(E)

Fta BHIR - HERERER SN
NHEMNFETRE -

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a BELBREUATER  AEBHSEHTE
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) HEAB(LHBRERAEEEFELE
whenever: FEFEE) :

* the lease term has changed or there is a change in e HEIEFTEENITHBEEERE
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in ZAHMEBEE  EIBERT
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by HEEEBGEE BT ARENT

discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates, in which cases the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using the initial discount rate.

a lease contract is modified and the lease modification
is not accounted for as a separate lease (see below for
the accounting policy for “lease modification”).
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The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

The Group applied the practical expedient, the Group
accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

* the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

®  the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that standalone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based
on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease component.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.
In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication
that corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication
exists, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs,
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of CGU, with the recoverable amount of the group of CGU.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
(if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value-in-use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro-
rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of CGU. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGU) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU
or a group of CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instruments. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financials assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e The financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

®  The contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (‘FVTOCI"):

®  The financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

®  The contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised
by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations ("HKFRS 3") applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

® |t has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

®  On initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

® |tis aderivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

U]

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt instruments/
receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and
is included in the “net (loss)/gain on financial assets at
FVTPL" line item.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss ("ECL") model on financial assets (including
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, factoring
receivables, lease receivables, loan receivables and cash and
cash equivalents) which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experiences, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables under simplified approach. The ECL on these
receivables are assessed individually for debtors with
significant balances.

For all other financial instruments, including factoring
receivables, loan receivables, lease receivables, other
receivable, deposits and cash and cash equivalents, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood
or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

®  an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

® significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

U]

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

®  an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

®  anactual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 180 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Forthe year ended 30 June 2024 EHZEZTZWF A NA=1+HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(i)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
240 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iif)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over two years past
due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

()

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking
into consideration historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables, lease receivables, factoring receivables and
loan receivables where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through an impairment allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE )

For the year ended 30 June 2024 EHZE_-Z

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Modlification of financial assets

Where the original contractual terms of a financial asset have
been modified for credit reasons and the instrument has not
been derecognised (an instrument is derecognised when a
modification results in a change in cash flows that the Group
would consider substantial), the resulting modification loss is
recognised in profit or loss with a corresponding decrease in
the gross carrying value of the asset.

Expected credit loss for modified financial assets that have
not been derecognised and are not considered to be credit-
impaired will be recognised on a 12-month basis, or a
lifetime basis, if there is a significant increase in credit risk.
These assets are assessed to determine whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk subsequent to the
modification. In addition to the recognition of modification
gains and losses, the revised carrying value of modified
financial assets will impact the calculation of expected credit
losses, with any increase or decrease in expected credit loss
recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the

contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Equity instrument

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company's own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as FVTPL when the financial
liabilities is contingent consideration that may be paid by an
acquirer as part of a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE )

For the year ended 30 June 2024 EHZE_-Z

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that
liability is recognised in other comprehensive income, unless
the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability's
credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes
in fair value attributable to a financial liability's credit risk
that are recognised in other comprehensive income are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, instead, they are
transferred to retained earnings upon derecognition of the
financial liability.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Other financial liabilities (including trade payables, accruals
and other payables, corporate bonds and lease liabilities) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities (Continued)

The Group accounts for an exchange with a lender of
a financial liability with substantially different terms as
an extinguishment of the original financial liability and
the recognition of a new financial liability. A substantial
modification of the terms of an existing financial liability
or a part of it (whether or not attributable to the financial
difficulty of the Group) is accounted for as an extinguishment
of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new
financial liability.

The Group considers that the terms are substantially different
if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the
new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received
and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is
at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial
liability. Accordingly, such exchange of debt instruments or
modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment,
any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain
or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange or modification
is considered as non-substantial modification when such
difference is less than 10 per cent.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities (Continued)
Non-substantial modlifications of financial liabilities

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that
do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the
relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the present
value of the modified contractual cash flows discounted
at the financial liabilities’ original effective interest rate.
Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying
amount of the modified financial liabilities and are amortised
over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying
amount of the financial liability is recognised in profit or loss
at the date of modification.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
when the derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain
financial asset hosts within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not
separated. The entire hybrid contract is classified and
subsequently measured in its entirety as either amortised
cost or fair value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts
that are not financial assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 are
treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition
of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely
related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts
are not measured at FVTPL.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derivative financial instruments (Continued)
Embedded derivatives (Continued)

Generally, multiple embedded derivatives in a single
instrument that are separated from the host contracts are
treated as a single compound embedded derivative unless
those derivatives relate to different risk exposures and are
readily separable and independent of each other.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories is determined on first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to
make the sale include incremental costs directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must
incur to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash on hand, cash
at bank and other financial institutions which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Except for granting of a licence that is distinct from other
promised goods or services, control is transferred over
time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of following criteria is met:

®  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as
the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group performs;
or

® the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

For granting of a licence that is distinct from other promised
goods or services, the nature of the Group's promise in
granting a licence is a promise to provide a right to access
the Group's intellectual property if all of the following criteria
are met:

® the contract requires, or the customer reasonably
expects, that the Group will undertake activities that
significantly affect the intellectual property to which
the customer has rights;

* therights granted by the licence directly expose the
customer to any positive or negative effects of the
Group's activities; and

®  those activities do not result in the transfer of a good or
a service to the customer as those activities occur.

If the criteria above are met, the Group accounts for the
promise to grant a licence as a performance obligation
satisfied over time. Otherwise, the Group considers the grant
of licence as providing the customers the right to use the
Group's intellectual property and the performance obligation
is satisfied at a point in time at which the licence is granted.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It
is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group's unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.
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e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including
allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations, the Group allocates the transaction price to each
performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined
at contract inception. It represents the price at which the
Group would sell a promised good or service separately
to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not directly
observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate
techniques such that the transaction price ultimately
allocated to any performance obligation reflects the amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to
the customer.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of
the value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to data relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group's performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with
the value of the Group's performance completed to date, the
Group recognises revenue in the amount to which the Group
has the right to invoice.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature
of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the
specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal)
or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by
the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Principal versus agent (Continued)

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified goods
or services before that goods or services is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified goods or services
by another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified goods or services provided by another party before
that goods or services is transferred to the customer. When
the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the
amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to be
entitled in exchange for the specified goods or services to be
provided by the other party.

For trading of wine and daily supplies that is incidental to
the cultural and entertainment segment in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), the Group determines if it
acted as the principal by considering its primarily obligation
in a transaction, e.g. inventory risk or latitude in establishing
prices and selecting suppliers.

e Selecting suppliers — the Group performs supplier due
diligence before contracting with the wine distributors
and promoting the wine products to the customers.
The Group selects the suppliers based on the unit price
and number of purchase units.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

®  FEstablishing prices — the Group could determine the
selling price of the wine and liquors by itself within a
range of the suggested selling price. The credit period
offered by the suppliers is usually 15 days and the
credit period the Group offer to the customers is 6
months. As such, the Group need to bear the credit risk.

® Inventory risk — the Group stored inventories in the
warehouse before the wine has been transferred to
customer. Before such transfer, the Group need to bear
the cost of damaged products and has the ability and
is free to direct the use of and obtain substantially all
of the benefits from the purchased wine before it is

transferred to the customers.

Management of the Group considers that the Group is acting
as a principal in the Trading Business because it obtains
control of the wine and liquor and daily supplies before they
are transferred to customers. Therefore, trading revenue was

recognised in the gross amount of consideration..

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)
Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from “profit/loss before tax”
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax (Continued)

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments
for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Employee benefits
Retirement benefits cost

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement
schemes for its employees in Hong Kong, the PRC and
overseas. The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme") under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
plan administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately.

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the
PRC, employees of the Group in the PRC participated in the
central pension scheme (the “Central Pension Scheme”),
which is a defined contribution plan administered by the
PRC government, whereby the Group is required to make
contributions to the Central Pension Scheme based on
certain percentages of the employees’ salaries. The local
government authorities are responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to the retired employees. Contributions
made to the Central Pension Scheme vest immediately.

During the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, there was
no contributions forfeited by the Group on behalf of its
employees who leave the plan prior to vesting fully in such
contribution, nor had there been any utilisation of such
forfeited contributions to reduce future contributions. As
at 30 June 2024 and 2023, no forfeited contribution under
the retirement benefits schemes of the Group is available to
reduce the contribution payable in future years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Share-based payments

Fquity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of
services received is determined by reference to the fair value
of share options granted at the grant date and is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revised its
estimates of the number of equity instruments that are
expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to share option reserve
transferred to retained profits

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant,
the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in the share option reserve will be transferred to
share capital and share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basic over the periods in which the Group
recognised as expense the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Government grants
that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the
time value of money is material).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It
can also be a present obligation arising from past events that
is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow
of economic resources will be required or the amount of
obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent liability
is not recognised but is disclosed. When a change in the
probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable,
they will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group.
A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed when
an inflow of economic benefits is probable. When inflow is
virtually certain, an asset is recognised.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity's
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise, except for exchange differences on monetary items
receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore
forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation),
which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income
and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group's interests in associates.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expense items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all
of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect
of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non- controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or
joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share
of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments to identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed through acquisition of a
foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Related parties

(i) A person or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(1) has control or joint control of the Group;

(2)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(3) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or a parent of the Group.

(i) Anentity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(1) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(2)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(3)  both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(4)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(i)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly-controlled by a
person identified in (i).

a person identified in (i)(1) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(a)

(b)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;

and

dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group's chief operating decision maker (“CODM") for
the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group's various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, that the directors of the Company
have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Determining whether the Group is acting as a principal or as
an agent in trading of goods

Management of the Group considered that the Group is
acting as a principal in this business because it obtains
control of the products sold before they are transferred to
customers. If control is unclear, when the Group is primarily
obligated in a transaction, is subject to inventory risk, has
latitude in establishing prices and selecting suppliers, or
has several but not all of these indicators, gross amount
of the sales and cost of sales are recorded. In determining
whether the Group is acting as a principal or as an agent,
management is required to exercise significant judgements
and to consider all relevant facts and circumstances of the
business.

Going concern consideration

The directors of the Company have prepared the
consolidated financial statements on the assumption that
the Group will be able to operate as a going concern in the
foreseeable future, which is a critical judgement that has the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements. The assessment of the
going concern assumption involves making a judgment by
the directors of the Company, about the future outcome
of events or conditions which are inherently uncertain. The
directors of the Company consider that, after taking into
account of all major events or conditions, which may give
rise to business risks, that individually or collectively may cast
significant doubt upon the going concern assumption as set
out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group has the capability to continue as a going concern.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various tax
authorities. Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income taxes and the timing of payment of
the related tax. There are certain transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
provision in the period in which such determination is made.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Depreciation and amortisation

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets (see Notes 16, 17 and 19 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively) are depreciated and
amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The Group annually reviews the useful life of
an asset and its residual value, if any. The useful life is based
on the Group's historical experience with similar assets and
taking into account anticipated technology changes. The
depreciation and amortisation expenses for future periods
are adjusted if there are significant changes from previous
estimates.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets

Determining whether an item of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are impaired requires an
estimate of the recoverable amount of the relevant CGU to
which the asset belongs, which is the higher of the value-
in-use or fair value less costs to disposal. The value-in-use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from CGU and suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, or change in facts
and circumstances which results in downward revision of
future cash flows, a material impairment loss may arise.

Allowance for inventories

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews its
inventories and considers to make allowance for obsolete
and slow-moving inventory items that are identified no
longer marketable or suitable for sell. Management estimates
the net realisable value for such items based primarily on the
latest invoice prices and current market conditions.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

At 30 June 2024, no deferred tax assets in relation to the
timing differences on revenue recognition and impairment
allowances for credit loss has been recognised in the
Group's consolidated statement of financial position (2023:
approximately HK$21,000). No deferred tax asset has been
recognised on the tax losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams (2023: approximately HK$22,988,000).
The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where the
actual future taxable profits generated are less or more than
expected, or change in facts and circumstances which result
in revision of future taxation profits estimation, a material
reversal or further recognition of deferred tax assets may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which such a reversal or further recognition takes
place.

Provision of ECL

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9
across all categories of financial assets requires significant
judgement and estimation, in particular, the assessment of a
significant increase in credit risk and credit-impaired financial
assets as well as the estimation of the amount and timing
of future cash flows and collateral values when determining
impairment losses. These estimates are driven by a number
of factors, changes in which can result in different levels
of allowances. At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
for exposures since initial recognition by comparing the
risk of default occurring over the expected life between
the reporting date and the date of initial recognition. The
Group considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort
for this purpose. This includes quantitative and qualitative
information and also, forward-looking analysis. Details of the
key assumptions and inputs used are set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. UHBGEMEERE
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) =RITAE¥ER
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-_=F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FET
Financial assets SREE

Financial assets at amortised cost ~ K AGTEZ 2 B & E
— Trade receivables - B ElEE 168 4,975
— Factoring receivables —RIBFEUNFRTE = 168,313
— Lease receivables - HE R RE - 2,225
— Loan receivables - FEWE R = 431
- Other receivables and deposits - B FEUGRIE i€ 1,994 2,730
— Cash and bank balances - IRe MIRTT AR 2,737 2,400
4,899 181,074

Financial liabilities A= =N

Financial liabilities at amortised cost HEEHAEANGFEZ T HI B E
— Trade payables - B ENFE 22,751 2,573
- Accruals and other payables - Bt B R R EMER IR 26,826 8,356
— Borrowings - fBR 10,449 3,235
— Corporate bonds - nalfES 47,964 40,671
— Lease liabilities -HHEAE 6,846 1,155
114,836 55,990
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade
receivables, factoring receivables, lease receivables,
loan receivables, deposits, other receivables, cash and
bank balances, trade payables, accruals and other
payables, borrowings, corporate bonds and lease
liabilities. The details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments and the policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial
instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate
risk, currency risk and price risk. The directors of the
Company review and agree policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to discharge an obligation by the counterparties equal
to the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

5.
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

In respect of trade receivables, in order to minimise the
credit risk, Group has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits and credit approvals.
Before accepting any new customer, the Group will
assess the potential customer’s credit quality and
defines credit limits by individual customer. Receivables
due from customers are due within the settlement
period commonly adopted by the relevant market
convention, which is usually within 90 days except
for trading of goods which settlement is made in
accordance with the terms specified in the contracts
governing the relevant transactions. Normally, the
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancement over its trade receivables balances.
Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure the
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model at the end of each reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made.
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider

that the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

In respect of factoring receivables, lease receivables
and loan receivables from customers, the objective of
the Group's measure to manage credit risk is to control
the potential exposure to the recoverability problem.
The Group manages and analyses the credit risk of each
of their new and existing customers before payment
terms and conditions are concluded by assessing the
credit quality of the customer, taking into account
its financial position, past settlement experience and
other factors. Factoring receivables, lease receivables
and loan receivables balances are monitored on an
on-going basis, management reviews the recoverable
amount at each reporting date to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
Interest income are usually billed on monthly or
quarterly basis. The factoring receivables and lease
receivables are also guaranteed by directors of the
customers as additional security for shortfalls on collect
outs due to dispute or breach of contract for which
the guarantor is liable. Other monitoring procedures
are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model
at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the Group's
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks and other financial institutions
which are reputable in the opinion of management.

5.
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Impairment assessment policies

The Group's policy requires the review of individual
outstanding amounts regularly depending on
individual circumstance or market condition.

The management is responsible in developing and
maintaining the processes for measuring ECL, the
impairment requirements under HKFRS 9. The Group
applies simplified approach to measure ECL on trade
receivables and general approach to measure ECL on
factoring receivables, lease receivables, loan receivables
and other financial assets classified at amortised cost.
Under the simplified approach, the Group measures
the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.
Under the general approach, financial assets migrate
through the following three stages based on the
change in credit risk since initial recognition: Stage 1:
12m ECL, Stage 2: Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
and Stage 3: Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired.

For such financial assets classified as Stage 1 and 2, the
management assesses loss allowances using the risk
parameter modelling approach that incorporates key
parameters, including probability of default (‘PD"), loss
given default ("LGD") and exposure at default ("‘EAD").
For credit-impaired financial assets classified as Stage 3,
the management assesses the credit loss allowances by
estimating the future cash flows expected to arise from
the financial assets.
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“HERNAZTRLEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Measurement of ECL

The Group conducted an assessment of ECL according
to forward-looking information and used complex
models and assumptions in its expected measurement
of credit losses. These models and assumptions
relate to the future macroeconomic conditions and
customer’s creditworthiness (e.g. the likelihood of
default by customers and the corresponding losses).
The Group adopts judgement, assumptions and
estimation techniques in order to measure ECL
according to the requirements of accounting standards
such as:

(i) Criteria for judging significant increase in credit
risk

The Group assesses whether or not the credit
risk of the relevant financial instruments has
increased significantly since the initial recognition
at each reporting date. While determining
whether the credit risk has significantly increased
since initial recognition or not, the Group takes
into account the reasonable and substantiated
information that is accessible without exerting
unnecessary cost or effort, including qualitative
and quantitative analysis based on the historical
data of the Group, credit rating grade, and
forward looking information. Based on the single
financial instrument or the combination of
financial instruments with similar characteristics
of credit risk, the Group compares the risk of
default of financial instruments on the reporting
date with that on the initial recognition date in
order to figure out the changes of default risk in
the expected lifetime of financial instruments.

5.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

(i) Criteria for judging significant increase in credit
risk (Continued)

The Group considers a financial instrument
to have experienced a significant increase in
credit risk when one or more of the following
quantitative, qualitative or backstop criteria have
been met:

® Quantitative criteria: At the reporting
date, the increase in remaining lifetime
probability of default is considered
significant comparing with the one at initial
recognition.

®  Qualitative criteria: Significant adverse
change in debtor’s operation or financial
status.

For factoring receivables and lease receivables,
the number of days past due and loan-to-
collateral value were used to estimate significant
increase in credit risk. Other financial assets at
amortised cost use number of days past due as
determinant of credit risk.

5.

MR ER#)

(b)

BHAREEEERBEE)

HEREREEER(E)
() HBF 1= B 7 B 15 a9

1REE)

ERNANAT—EXZEE
B EMBREHLREE
B AEERSERIA
MEERBREHEERER
il

e TERE:RNHEA
B MerFEREY
150 48 £ 4] 45 T B2 B
H) 38 D008 1 AR S R
mE -

e TEMHREE:BEBHAN
REXFBHBERHR
BEARTHMEAL

TR IE B UGRIAE R E
WHIEmE  EREHX
BrREFRRERAMEEL
Kbt EERREESRE
KRN o E IR B 8H K AR AT
EMNSREECHAARX
BEAEERRNETR
%o

2023/24F FR - HBREEERERA T 215



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e HRFMsE )

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZTZWFNA=1+HIFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. MBEEEEZ)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) MERREEBEERBEK(E)
policies (Continued)
Measurement of ECL (Continued) SEEBEEER(E)
(i) Definition of credit-impaired financial asset (i) 1EERELEEENTZE
e Internal rating of the debtor indicating o HEBKARAIPITR
default or near-default; BETRDBEARERE
O
e Significant financial difficulty of the issuer s BUIHARFELE
or the customer; RN IR 2
*  The debtor leaves any of the receivables of e BBAHAEEMNE
the Group overdue for more than 365 days; {a] & Uk 3% 7B 360 HA AR 4@
365K
e Itis becoming probable that the customer e ZEFRUIBLHESE
will enter bankruptcy or other financial TEMABSEA

restructuring;

*  The credit impairment on a financial asset e TREEZRARFEER
may be caused by the combined effect of BEFREEZEEMN
multiple events and may not be necessarily WEREAMB K
due to a single event. VB —EHME -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

(iii)

Parameters of ECL measurement

According to whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk and whether there is an
impairment of assets, the Group measures the
impairment loss for different assets with ECL of
12 months or the entire lifetime respectively. The
key measuring parameters of ECL include PD,
LGD and EAD. The Group takes into account the
quantitative analysis of historical statistics (such
as internal rating grade, manners of guarantees
and types of collaterals, repayments, etc.) and
forward-looking information in order to establish
the model of PD, LGD and EAD.

®  PD refers to the possibility that the debtor
will not be able to fulfil its obligations of
repayment over the next 12 months or
throughout the entire remaining lifetime.
For factoring receivables, lease receivables
and loan receivables, the Group estimates
PD by the internal credit ratings. For other
financial assets at amortised cost the PD
is adjusted based on the credit rating of
comparable companies operating in similar
business;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e HRFMsE )

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZTZWFNA=1+HIFE

Fk
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5.

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

(i) Parameters of ECL. measurement (Continued)

®  LGD refers to the Group's expectation of
the extent of the loss resulting from the
default exposure. Depending on the type
of counterparty, the method and priority of
the recourse, past default experience and
the realisation of collaterals, the LGD varies.
The LGD is the percentage of loss of risk
exposure at the time of default, calculated
over the next 12 months or over the entire
remaining lifetime;

®  EAD is the amount that the Group should
be reimbursed at the time of the default
in the next 12 months or throughout the
entire remaining lifetime.

(iv)  Forward-looking information

The assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk and the calculation of ECL both involve
forward-looking information. Through the
analysis of historical data, the Group identifies the
key economic indicators that affect the credit risk
and EC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE )

For the year ended 30 June 2024 EHZE_-Z

5.

“HERAZTHLEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk exposure
Trade receivables

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on trade receivables individually or based on a
provision matrix.

The provision rates based on days past due for
groupings of various customers segments with similar
loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on specific trade
receivables individually. The Group has used the past
due information of counterparties to assess whether
credit risk has been increased significantly since
initial recognition. The ECLs are estimated based
on probability of default and loss given default and
are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue
costs or effort.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 BE T -FA=1THIFE

5.

220

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5.

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Set out below is the information about credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a

provision matrix:

At 30 June 2024

Current B

0-30 days past due WHE0ZE30AR
31-60 days past due W31 E60A
61-90 days past due #H61E90R
91-180 days past due W91 E 180 A
181-365 days pastdue ~ #1Ef 181 & 365 H
Over 1 year past due WEFUE

NOVA Group Holdings Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SZEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZZT-WUFSA=+HIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. MBRRERZ)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) HEEREMEEAEEREEE)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk exposure (Continued) EERBKO(E)
Trade receivables (Continued) B S EWHE ()
At 30 June 2023 RZZE_=FA=+H

Current BNER - - - 14 = =
0-30 days past due W 0ZE30A - - = 1903 (774) (774)
31-60 days past due B3I E60A - - = 264 (109) (109)
61-90 days past due w61 E90A - - = 346 a77) a77)
91-180 days past due W91 E180H - S = 1651 (829) (829)
181-365 days pastdue #1181 =365 H - - - 9324 (7,602) (7,602)
Over 1 year past due BENFUE - - - 21432 (20,468) (20,468)
- - 34934 (29959) (29959)
The impairment of trade receivables included the R EZBERAEE T AR GEE
amount of specific trade receivable which is considered HUEIMAKEEAHEEE B
in default due to indicators which showed that BAEESELNIEEE SRR
the Group was unlikely to receive the outstanding BEHEAAE SR IERE -

contractual amount in full.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR 2

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—ZT-_WNFXA=Z+HILFE
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. HHEMEERZ)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) FHEREEBEERBEZ)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk exposure (Continued) FEERRMO(E)
Trade receivables (Continued) B ZREW B (&)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss TRETEWE ZERFIAER
allowances that has been recognised for trade B E R BB ETER
receivables:

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(non-credit (credit
impaired) impaired) Total
2HITEH 2HITEH
EEEE EEEE

(RBE (B4
FERE) FERE) et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET FET
At 1 July 2022 S ——
J:H EI 2,835 11,408 14,243
Changes due to financial R-E——
instruments recognised +A—HERER
at 1 July 2022: TAS|®EES :
— Impairment losses — (%E)/ ®RZ
(reversed)/recognised, BIEEEFE
net (65) 17,665 17,600
— Transfer to credit-impaired ~ —EE{ZERE (2,662) 2,662 —
Exchange realignment M 5 AR (108) (1,776) (1,884)
At 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 E’\_ T_=%F
ANAZTHK
—E-=F
+HA—H - 29,959 29,959
Changes due to financial i —
instruments recognised tA—HERER
at 1 July 2023: THSEHNES :
— Impairment losses —HERZ BB
recognised &8 1 - 1
Write-off 6z - (29,724) (29,724)
Exchange realignment Rk - (235) (235)
At 30 June 2024 EA_Q_Ei
NA=+H 1 - 1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group has
increased the expected loss rates as there is higher
risk that a prolonged pandemic could led to increased
credit default rates due to greater financial uncertainty
triggered by the COVID-19 pandemic. For the year
ended 30 June 2024, the Group writes off all the trade
receivables from brand management, trading and
products promotion services business in the PRC as the
amounts are past due and after the Group had taken
legal actions towards certain debtors but there was no
recovery which indicated that these counterparties are
in severe financial difficulty.

At 30 June 2024, the Group provided approximately
HK$1,000 impairment allowance for trade receivables
for sale and distribution and club and entertainment
business based on the provision matrix. At 30 June
2023, the Group provided approximately HK$29,959,000
impairment allowance for trade receivables from
brand management and products promotion services
business in the PRC individually. The Group has taken
actions, including but not limited to legal actions, to
recover the balances. The Directors considered these
trade receivables are credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR 2

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZE=-Z

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5.

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b)

“HERNAZTRLEFE

policies (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Factoring receivables, lease receivables and loan
receivables

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on factoring receivables, lease receivables and
loan receivables individually.

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal

credit rating

KA E TR

EWE

Description

&

B ERER ()
HHAREZRBRREE(E)

EERBRKO(E)
IRIE[EW R - THEEWHEL
AEEREAHEEBRENE

J8 B4 4R B B WK
AR W ESETTRERE °

RIR - TS WK

AEBHAIEERR D R
BIEATER

Basis of recognition
of ECL provision
AHEEBR
BENEIREE

Stage 1

F1PEER

Stage 2

E2PEER

Stage 3

3PEEL

Stage 4

B4R

There has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition and that are not credit-impaired upon
origination.

Mia R RIS E AR
EERIE -

g0 AR R 0 B B AR I OR A

There has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition but are not credit-impaired.
MipEREEERBBZIEMEL REEEERE -

There have been one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cashflow of that asset
have occurred.

BEEE—HHESHHEZEENGTARREREF DT
MEEHEMH -

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect
of recovery.
BRERPABBABGRBRENNBRE - MAEEL
EERK@E AR

12-month ECL

2EAEHEERER

Lifetime ECL - not
credit-impaired

>HEHEEEE -
REEFERE

Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired

EHMEMEREEE -
BEEERE

Amount is written off

B BRI
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e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Factoring receivables, lease receivables and loan
receivables (Continued)

The directors of the Company estimate the estimated
loss rates based on historical observed default rates
over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort as well as the fair value
of the collateral pledged by the customers to the
factoring receivables, lease receivables and loan
receivables.

As at 30 June 2023, the Directors considered the LGD
has significantly increased due to the deterioration
in the value of collaterals held, such as an increase in
the credit risk of those pledged account receivables
from secured factoring receivables as they have past
due, and decrease in the value of pledged plant and
machinery from lease receivables as they are obsoleted.
The Group provided approximately HK$337,894,000,
HKS$15,954,000 and HKS$1,117,000 impairment
allowance for factoring receivables, lease receivables
and loan receivables respectively.

As at 30 June 2024, the Directors determined to write-
off these receivables as there is no realistic prospect of
recovery after taken into account: (a) an independent
review of the possibility and viability of taking legal
proceedings against all factoring debtors for recovering
the outstanding debts, which was conducted by an
independent professional law firm in the PRC indicating
all factoring debtors were in financial difficulties; (b) no
recovery from legal proceedings against the finance
lease debtors since 2022; and (c) no recovery from the
borrower since 2022.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 BE T -FA=1THIFE

5.

226

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Factoring receivables, lease receivables and loan
receivables (Continued)

Factoring receivables

The following table shows the exposure of ECL for
factoring receivables under general approach:

5. MBERERW)
(b) MBEABREREERBEE)

EERBKO(E)
JEWE (&)
{RI2 R U IB

TRINTRE—REZRIBRIK
FRENEREEEERR

Gross carryingamount  BRTEI42(E
Impairment allowance B & &
Expected loss rate TEHERX

- = 506,207 506,207
= = 337,894 337,8%4
= = 66.75% 66.75%

As at 30 June 2023, the impairment allowance for
factoring receivables which were credit-impaired was
measured at an amount equal to Lifetime ECL under
general approach.

RZZBEZ=FRA=+H " BBLERE
BEREZREEKSIREHE 2 R E R
BIREBE-RERBEREHEHEE
BRZESBETE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. UHEMEERZ)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) HHEEMREEBEERBEZ)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk exposure (Continued) FEERRMO(E)
Factoring receivables, lease receivables and loan (REEFEYC 50 IE ~ THE JEY TR K
receivables (Continued) JEWEF (&)
Factoring receivables (Continued) RIBEWKFIE(E)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss TRETDHRIEERGKIAER
allowances that has been recognised for factoring B E R BB HTER
receivables:
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(non-credit (credit
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
2 A 2 A
FEFR FEFE
128 A7 58 (REBE (4%
FEEBE fFEHE) FERE) #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 July 2022 i S
+HA—H 307 - 26,356 26,663
Changes dueto financial H=-ZT ==
instruments recognised A — HHERE &
at 1 July 2022: THES[EMEE
~ Impairment losses — R REEE
recognised, net Pk = = 327,639 327,639
—~ Transfer to —BEEERE
credit-impaired (295) - 295 -
Exchange realignment P 5 32 12) = (16,396) (16,408)
At 30 June 2023 R-_T_=F
and 1July 2023 ANA=ZTER
—E-=F
+A—H - - 337,894 337,894
Write-off ik - - (335,246)  (335,246)
Exchange realignment bE 5, FH = = (2,648) (2,648)
At 30 June 2024 R_Z_WmF
~NAZ=1H - - - -
202324FF R o HBEEZERERQE 22/
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZE=-Z

Fk

228

“HERNAZTRLEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Factoring receivables, lease receivables and loan
receivables (Continued)

Factoring receivables (Continued)

At 30 June 2023, the gross factoring receivables of
HK$506,207,000 was classified under stage 3 -Lifetime
ECL (credit-impaired) since the Group assessed the
credit risk of customers who applied for renegotiation
have increased significantly due to the defaulted
repayment on the factoring interests and their business
operations had been negatively affected as a result
of the COVID-19 outbreak and the ensuing city-wide
lockdown in Shanghai. The Group has taken actions,
including but not limited to legal actions, to recover
balances. The Directors considered all factoring
receivables are credit-impaired.

As at 30 June 2024, after taken into account an
independent review of the possibility and viability of
taking legal proceedings against all factoring debtors
for recovering the outstanding debts, the Directors
considered there is no realistic prospect of recovery as
all factoring debtors were in financial difficulties.

5.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SZeMBHRRMsEw

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZZT-WUFSA=+HIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. MBREKRER#Z)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BEEREMREEAEERBEE)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk exposure (Continued) EERBKO(E)
Factoring receivables, lease receivables and loan IREEJEW IR - TH B JEH S TE R
receivables (Continued) JEWE (&)
Lease receivables HEEUFIR
The following table shows the exposure of ECL for lease TRINTRE—REZHERIK
receivables under general approach: FEMEREEEERRE

Gross carryingamount  BRTEI42(E - - 18,179 18,179
Impairment allowance ERE - = 15,954 15,954
Expected loss rate TEHERX - - 87.76% 87.76%
As at 30 June 2023, the impairment allowance for lease RZE-_ZFXA=Z+H " &&MO
receivables from sales-leaseback transactions which MR 52 HERBGRIBH R 2 R E R
were credit-impaired was measured at an amount HRE-RERBER2HBHEE
equal to Lifetime ECL under general approach. BB 2R -

2023/24F FR - HBREEERERA T 229
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e HRFMsE )

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZTZWFNA=1+HIFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. HBEMER &)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b)
policies (Continued)

BHEAREEEERBEGE)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

EERBIKO(E)

Factoring receivables, lease receivables and loan

REZJEW TR ~ HHE W FTR K

receivables (Continued) ENEZ (&)
Lease receivables (Continued) HERWHIAEE)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss TRETRD RAEERFIAER
allowances that has been recognised for lease B E R BB HTER
receivables:
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(non-credit (credit
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
2 HITEH 2HITEH
FEE#E FEE#E
128 A7 58 (RBE (4%
FEEBE fFEHE) FERE) et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
FHET FHT TET TET
At 1 July 2022 A -
+HA—H 4 - 3,339 3,343
Changes duetofinancial HM=-ZT ==
instruments recognised A — HHERE &
at 1 July 2022: THES[EMEE
~ Impairment losses — R REEE
recognised, net Pk = = 13452 13452
—~ Transfer to —EBEEERE
credit-impaired 4) - 4 -
Exchangerealignment [ 5 #5% - - (841) (841)
At 30 June 2023 RZE-=F
and 1July 2023 ANA=ZTER
=
+H—H - - 15,954 15,954
Write-off iz - - (15,829) (15,829)
Exchange realignment [ 5 3R = - (125) (125)
At 30 June 2024 RZTZMF
~NAZ=1H - - - -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE )

For the year ended 30 June 2024 EHZE_-Z

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Factoring receivables, lease receivables and loan
receivables (Continued)

Lease receivables (Continued)

At 30 June 2023, the gross lease receivables of
HKS$18,179,000 was classified under stage 3 — lifetime
ECL (credit-impaired) since the Group assessed the
credit risk of customers have increased significantly
due to their default repayment history. The Group has
taken actions, including but not limited to legal actions,
to recover the balances. The Directors considered all
lease receivables from sales-leaseback transactions are
credit-impaired.

As at 30 June 2024, after taken into account that no
recovery from legal proceedings against the finance
lease debtors since 2022, the Directors considered
there is no realistic prospect of recovery as these
finance lease debtors were in financial difficulties.

2023/24FF R o
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MR ER#)
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EERBKO(E)

IRIEEW N - HE WA,
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ME WA (E)

RZE-_=ZFXA=+H HE
JE Uk 7Kk TE 42 %8 18,179,000 78 7T
HAFIRE-—2HEHEES
B(EREEERE) REER
SEFEEPNEERRERAR
HiR B SR E T KR IE N - ANE
EERRITE(BR/ENRINE
BT WO EBEESR EER
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WA BB EEERE -
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SZeMBHRRMsE e

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BE T -FA=1THIFE

5.

232

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Factoring receivables, lease receivables and loan
receivables (Continued)

Loan receivables

The following table show the exposure of ECL for loan
receivables under general approach:

5. MBERERW)
(b) MBEABREREERBEE)

EERBO (&)
ERE (&)

TRIFRIE— %2 K E R
WTERIE EBERR

Gross carryingamount  BRTEI42(E
Impairment allowance B E &
Expected loss rate TEHERX

- = 1,548 1,548
= = 1117 1,117
= = 72.16% 72.16%

As at 30 June 2023, the impairment allowance for loan
receivables which were credit-impaired was measured
at an amount equal to Lifetime ECL under general
approach.

RZEZ=FA=1+8" #EKE
HETRZBERERE R EZESE
NEHEREEREZ 2%ETE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. UHEMEERZ)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) HHEEMREEBEERBEZ)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk exposure (Continued) FEERRMO(E)
Factoring receivables, lease receivables and loan (RIZEMN A - FHE FEWF B R
receivables (Continued) JEWEF (&)
Loan receivables (Continued) EWE R (&)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss TRETREHEREFRERNE
allowances that has been recognised for loan BESEEER ¢
receivables:
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(non-credit (credit
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
2 A 2 A
FEFR FEFE
128 A H8 (REBE (4%
FEFE FEHE) FERE) #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 July 2022 i S
+HA—H 20 - - 20
Changes due to financial RZZE=—
instruments recognised A — HHERE &
at 1 July 2022: THES[EMEE
~ Impairment losses — (%m)/ ®R2Z
(reversed)/ HEEEFE
recognized, net 7) - 1,104 1,097
~ Transfer to credit- —BEEERE
impaired (13) = 13 =
At 30 June 2023 R_T_=F
and 1 July 2023 ~NA=+H
N_T-=F
+A—H - - 1117 1,117
Write-off ks = = (1,117) (1,117)
At 30 June 2024 RZTZMF
~NAZ=1H - - - -
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e HRFMsE )

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZTZWFNA=1+HIFE
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Factoring receivables, lease receivables and loan
receivables (Continued)

Loan receivables (Continued)

At 30 June 2023, the gross loan receivable of
HK$1,548,000 was classified under stage 3 — lifetime
ECL (credit-impaired) since the Group assessed the
credit risk of customers have increased significantly due
to their default repayment history. The Group has taken
actions, including but not limited to legal actions, to
recover the balance. The Directors considered the loan
receivable is credit-impaired.

As at 30 June 2024, after taken into account that
no recovery from the borrower since year 2022, the
Directors considered there is no realistic prospect
of recovery as these finance lease debtors were in
financial difficulties.

5.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)
Other receivables and deposits

For the other receivables and deposits, the directors of
the Company make periodic individual assessment on
the recoverability of the other receivables and deposits
based on historical settlement records, past experience,
and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The directors of the Company believes
that there are no significant increase in credit risk of
these amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12m ECL under general
approach.

Other financial assets

Other financial assets at amortised cost include cash
and cash equivalents. The Group accounts for its credit
risk by appropriately providing for expected losses on a
timely basis. In calculating the expected loss rates, the
Group considers historical loss rates for each category
of the other financial assets and adjusts for forward
looking macroeconomic data.

At 30 June 2024 and 2023, the Group assessed that the
ECL rate is immaterial under 12m ECL under general
approach. Thus, no loss allowance for other financial
assets was recognised.

2023/24FF R o

5.

MR ER#)

(b)
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZTZWFNA=1+HIFE
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that funds will not be available
to meet liabilities as they fall due, and it results from
amount and maturity mismatches of assets and
liabilities. The Group will consistently maintain a
prudent financial policy and ensure that it maintains
sufficient cash to meet its liquidity requirements.

The Group reported a loss attributable to the owners
of the Company of HK$200,549,000 and operating cash
outflow of HK$3,610,000 for the financial year ended 30
June 2024. The Group's current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by HK$48,130,000 and its total liabilities
exceeded its total assets by HK$86,240,000 as at 30 June
2024 and, as of that date, the Group's cash and bank
balances amounted to HK$2,737,000, while the Group's
current and non-current borrowings of approximately
HK$10,449,000 and corporate bond of HK$47,964,000.
These conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. In view
of such circumstances, the directors of the Company
have given careful consideration to the future liquidity
and performance of the Group and its available sources
of financing in assessing whether the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to satisfy its future working
capital and other financing requirements as and when
they fall due within twelve months from the date of
this report. Further details please refer to Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

5.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

5. MBERERE)

Financial risk management objectives and (b) BMEXEMREEEERRE(E)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) FEtER(EZ)
The Group's financial liabilities are analysed into AREEBZEBEBEIREBAAADE
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining BRI S RE  IWERNZSHER
period at the end of the respective reporting periods EHRESNRNEAE 268 ~HIE
to the contractual maturity date, using the contractual S AEBEREAB AR T -
undiscounted cash flows, as follows:
As at 30 June 2024 R-ZE-_MEXA=+H
Total
Effective Carrying On Within undiscounted
interest rate amount demand 1year 1-2 years 2-5years  cash flows
AERRSE
BERA= REE RER —FR -E=f C—Znf REAH
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FiEx Fign Fign FiEx Fign Fign
Trade payables B 5 ERTE N/A FER 22,751 22,751 - - - 22,751
Accrualsandother  JEZT B REM
payables [ 3IE N/A FER 26,826 26,826 - - - 26,826
Borrowings EEA 3.90% - 18.00% 10,449 808 10,158 - - 10,966
Lease Liabilities HEaE 9.67% - 10.39% 6,846 - 3,960 3,000 500 7,460
Corporatebonds A A& 10.41% 47,964 8,755 5,400 41,400 - 55,555
114,836 59,140 19,518 44,400 500 123,558
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

As at 30 June 2023

“HERNAZTRLEFE

5.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MEMEER 7

MBEREEEREREE(E)

FB R ()

R-ZB_=FARH=1H

Trade payables B HENTE N/A TR 2573 2573 S = = 2573
Accruals and other B BRREM

payables eI N/A TR 8,356 8,356 - - = 8,356
Borrowing ER 3.80% 3235 - 3235 - - 3235
Lease Liabilities HEAE 1039% 1,155 = 1,200 = = 1,200
Corporate bonds NElEH 1041% 40,671 2,980 41415 = = 44,395

55990 13,909 45,850 = = 59,759

Interest rate risk FZE R ks
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in REFEHEBEDR  BTE

relation to borrowings, fixed coupon rate corporate
bonds and lease liabilities. The Group is also exposed
to cash flow interest rate risk relating to the Group’s
variable-rate bank balances.

The Group's exposure to interest rates on bank
balances is considered insignificant and the interest
rate on borrowings and corporate bonds is shown
in the liquidity risk section of this note. The Group's
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate
in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group currently does
not have any interest rate hedging policy. However,
the management monitors interest rate exposure and
will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for financial
instruments at the end of the reporting period. A
50 basis points (2023: 50 basis points) increase or
decrease represents management's assessment of the
reasonable possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2023: 50 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group's loss before tax for the year would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$313,000 (2023:
decrease/increase by approximately HK$213,000).

Currency risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to Renminbi
("RMB"). Currency risk arises from the foreign currency
denomination of commercial transactions, assets and
liabilities. The Group has no significant direct exposure
to foreign currencies as most of the commercial
transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated in a
currency same as the functional currency of each entity
of the Group.
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4 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SZeMBHRRMsE e

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BE T -FA=1THIFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

()

240

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group's financial assets are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair
value of these financial assets are determined.

Financial assets

THEE

Financial assets at FVTPL

BRAFEFABRZZ
CREE

— Early redemption right

from corporate bonds
— RAEMEF IR A G E

5.

M EREE (#)
(€0 SEMIAZATEIE

BEEEENUATVENEZAEES
MEEZAVE

REREHK  FEAETLM
BEUATEHE - TRIRZ
Lo MAELTFEBEIRZE
¥ o

- Level3 Hull-white model

E=R PAER IR IR 2

During the year ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, there
were no transfer of between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfer into or out of Level 3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ZEMBHRTRMEE )

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZZT-WUFSA=+HIEFE

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

()

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based on

5.

MEMEER 7

(0 EMIAEZAFPEFEE)

BRERERYAFENBZARES
BEEZAVE(HE)

REF=GEIFEAEZEE

4

Level 3:

At 1 July 2022 RZE-_—_F+A—H 878
Loss on change in fair value NEEZ BB (878)
At 30 June 2023, 1 July 2023 RZZEZ=FXA=+8H"

“E-=F+A—BXK
—ZE_MFEARXA=+H

and 30 June 2024

2023/24F FiR « HEEBIERERAT
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 BE T -FA=1THIFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
(Continued)

()

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

The valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair
value measurement are as follows:

5.

3 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MEMEER 7

(0 EMIAZAVPEFESE)

BRERERYAFEIBZARES
BEEZAVE(HE)

£ =R ATE A2 HER
FRBABENT :

Early redemption Hull-white model Interest rates 21.13%-2168%  Decrease -
right from (2023:
corporate bonds 18.55%-18.61%)
(Note i)
AAEHFRAEOE FREFER kS 213%E2168% WL
(FEED) (ZBz=%F:
18.55% % 18.61%)
Note: 3T
0] The fair value of early redemption right was determined using the Hull- U RABEED T E TR A BB R EN

white model. The Hull-white model predicts the evolution of short rate
using multi-factors such as time to maturity, prevailing interest rates,
mean reversion and volatility of rate changes, etc. If the interest rate of
the early redemption right from corporate bonds held by the Group had
been increased and all other variables were held constant, the loss before
tax would have been increased, vice versa. Since the early redemption
right was at HK$ Nil for both years, no sensitivity analysis has been
performed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost are not materially
different from their fair value as at 30 June 2024 and
2023.

Capital risk management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital
management is to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value. The Group manages
the capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in
light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes
was made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the year.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 BE T -FA=1THIFE

5.

244

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5.

(d)

Capital risk management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is total debt divided by total assets. The Group’s policy
is to keep the gearing ratio at a reasonable level. The
gearing ratios at the end of each reporting period are
as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

M ERERE)
(d) BEXEREERGE

AEBENEARBEL XR(BER
BFAREE)EREARNER - K
SEBERRBEAABL RS
FREEKYF - REREHRRZ
BEARBBHERET

2024
—E-mE

HK$'000
THET

Total debts BIE

58,413 43,906

Total assets BEE

29,599 183,121

Gearing ratio BERBRELE

197.35% 23.98%

Note:  Total debts comprise of borrowings and corporate bonds which is
disclosed in Notes 33 and 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the year ended 30 June 2024 EHZE_-Z

6.

“HERAZTHLEFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Business segments

Information reported to the management of the Group,
being the CODM, for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performances focuses on types of
services provided.

The operating and reportable segments are as follows:
Continuing operations

Cultural and Operation of cultural and entertainment
entertainment comprehensive services platform, including
brand management, solution and consulting
services, contracting services and entertainment
equipment solution, trading of goods, products
promotion services, sale and distribution of
goods, and club and entertainment business
Financing Provision of money lending, finance leasing and
credit factoring services

Discontinued operation

Exhibitionsand  Organisation and sponsorship of trade shows,
exhibitions and events, provision of event
planning, sub-contracting, management and
ancillary services

events
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/ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
FEUBERRME 2

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BE T -FA=1THIFE

246

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6.
Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and
results by reportable segments:

For the year ended 30 June

Revenue
External customers

DERRER ()
DEW R XA

REE 2 W R RERBTRE DA
ki NN

BERA=tHLEFE

Results
Segment results

Unallocated net loss on
financial assets at FVTPL
Unallocated impairment loss
on right-of-use assets
Unallocated income and other
gains andlosses
Unallocated corporate expenses
Finance costs

Loss before tax
Taxation

Loss for the year

i
HPEP 9918 31301 4219 41219
ES
AR (155675) 315626) (471,307) (47167)
BATEANER SBEEL
FAEBETFE (830)

FREEEZRARREER

70
RARRAREMRERESR

(746)
ROMEERT (12339
B 3914)
BHAER (490471)
[ (16026)
FERE (506497)

NOVA Group Holdings Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SZEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZZT-WUFSA=+HIEFE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. TEER(E)

Segment assets and liabilities PHEERERE

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities AEBEENEBERATRES D
by reportable segments: ST

Assets BE

Segment assets AHEE 172428 179057
Assets of a discontinued RESI S5
operation 324

Unallocated corporate assets ~ RABLEEEBE

Total reportablesegment ~ EFRENBEELE

assets

Liabilities 8

Segment liabilities AHEE

Liabilities of a discontinued BRIME2XBEE
operation

Unallocated KAMEEEE

corporate liabilities

Total reportable BETHEIDEELE

segment liabilities

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and MERDHARBFUARESF2E DB

allocating resources between segments: BRME

e all assets are allocated to reportable segments other o KR{OHEBEIN FIBEEEESK
than corporate assets; and ZATHRENE &

e allliabilities are allocated to reportable segments other o BROMEBEI IEABESE
than corporate liabilities. EEATREDES -
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/ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
FEUBERRME 2

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BE T -FA=1THIFE

6.

248

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. TEER(E)
Other segment information Hitm BER
For the year ended 30 June BEANA=THLEFE

Depreciation of property, % BERRENE
plantand equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets PREEENE

Capital expenditure BARY

Netloss on financialassetsat VIPL ~ RATETABHL

SREE/BRTR

Wiite-offof property, plant g  BRRRE

and equipment

Provision forimpaimentlosses under ~ BEEEFBEABTZ
ECL model and write-off of receivables,  JR{E&S A B R e B35

netof reversal (MBE@) (17,600 (341893)
Impairment loss on gooduwi AERERE (128598) (434
Impairment loss on property, % BERZEHEER

plantand equipment

Impaimentloss on rightof-use assets  (EFEE AR
Impairment loss on intangible assets B AEFEFR
Amortisation of intangible assets BVEEER

NOVA Group Holdings Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SZEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZZT-WUFSA=+HIEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. TEER(E)
Geographical segments HE D B
The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong and the REBMEBURBEBRPE -
PRC.
Information about the Group's revenue from external BREAAEBRBINEELHWZEAE
customers is presented based on the location of the BIOREBEEMHZS - BEAEE
operations. Information about the Group's non-current assets ERBEENER HIRIEEERMIE
is presented based on the geographical location of the assets. EZ5 -

Hong Kong

The PRC H

Note:  Non-current assets excluded deferred tax assets. M FERPEETREECHBEE -
Information about major customers FEFXEREFZEH

Revenue from external customers contributing 10% or more KENBEE Z W IHHE LD HE
of the revenue from the sale and distribution business is as TEWEE 10% BA EZ BRIT ¢
follows:

Customer A
Customer B ®EZ
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e HRFMsE )

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZTZWFNA=1+HIFE

7. REVENUE

(i)

250

Disaggregation of revenue

7. W=

(i) WwEHED

2024 2023
—E_UE — =
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FET
Revenue from contracts EEEHWE -
with customers:
Brand management mnhEE 12 73 1,699
Promotion and consulting services HERBARYS - 2,498
Trading of goods AmE 5 285 5,721
Sales and distribution of goods HE Ko EMEm 18,153 —
Club and entertainment business G AT S IRGE TS 13,050 —
31,561 9918
Interest under effective ERAMRZEZETFE
interest method:
Credit factoring services EERERE - 30,302
Finance leasing services A& E RS - 660
Money lending services FE AR TS - 339
- 31,301
Total st 31,561 41219
Timing of revenue recognition: AW Z B
At a point in time A2 31,488 6,306
Over time B& B 73 3,612
Revenue from contracts BEEAH W
with customers 31,561 9,918
Revenue from other sources H A 2R K 2= = 31,301
Total HEt 31,561 41219
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

7. REVENUE (Continued)

(ii)

Performance obligation for contracts with
customers

Brand management and related services

The Group provides brand management services to
bars and restaurants. Revenue is recognised when the
services are rendered.

Promotion and consulting services

The Group provides promotion and consultancy
services to alcoholic beverages suppliers, bars,
restaurants, lounges and others. Revenue is recognised
when the services are rendered.

Trading of goods

The Group sells wine and liquor and daily supplies
to entertainment stores and NOD Union members.
Revenue is recognised when control of goods were
transferred, being at the point in time when goods
were delivered and accepted by the customers.

2023/24F FiR « HEEBIERERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e HRFMsE )

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZTZWFNA=1+HIFE

7.

8.

252

REVENUE (Continued) 7. W=m#E)
(ii) Performance obligation for contracts with (i) BEFENNBHNETE)
customers (Continued)
Sales and distribution of goods HERDHER
Sales and distribution of wine and liquor are recognised FRRBEREE R HERER
when control of the products has transferred, being THEEL SRR ERN
when the products are delivered to the customers, the TEP BEPAZXBEREHESE
customers have full discretion over the channel and EmZEBNRER  WAKRITER
price to sell the products, and there is no unfulfilled ERERFPEWNERZIKEITR
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance F-EMmDEXAEZETHME B
of the products. Delivery occurs when the products REKRBAZEBEEBRERF
have been shipped to the specified location, and the B BISER AN o
risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to
the customer.
Club and entertainment business BT RIRGEET
The Group operates a club in Hong Kong. Revenue AEEEERBLE —HEM- &
is recognised when the customer has the ability to XEPABgHETEmERBRSE
direct the use of the goods and services and obtain FEESERMBRBEBREBIHT
substantially all of the remaining benefits of the goods Mz WA TR - XFZE
and services. Payment of the transaction price is due FREBEFEEE MM RIS BN
immediately at the point the customer purchases the S AF e
goods and services.
OTHER INCOME 8. HAWA
2024 2023
—E-E =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHET
Government grants (Note) IR T e B (B ) - 919
Dividend income AR E M A - 17
Interest income B A 27 7
Sponsorship income BEIA 273 -
Sundry income HIERA 74 10
374 953
Note:  The government grants represent subsidy income received from various st BUHAER S EBRTHM MBI mENRA - 1E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

9.

LOSS BEFORE TAX

Loss before tax from continuing operations has been arrived

at after charging/(crediting):

9. FRBIAIEIE

KAREREEH bR PR E R THH0

B (GEA) T AR IRRIER

2024 2023
—E-NF —E_=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Staff costs: BT :
Employee benefits expenses EERARAX
(including directors’ emoluments) (BIEEENS)
- Salaries, allowance and other benefit ~ —¥& « JEBI R HAEF 11,670 11,596
— Retirement benefit scheme —RIREFIET B
contributions 716 1,390
12,386 12,986
Other items: HAng g :
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESN - 265
Depreciation of: e :
— property, plant and equipment —ME - BERRE 2,396 123
— right-of-use assets —FRAEEE 1,985 1,163
Auditor's remuneration A G
— Audit services — BIZR 800 800
— Non-audit services — BRI 170 240
Cost of inventories recognised in RIFERARF IR 2
cost of sales FERA 21,670 5394
Lease expenses on short-term leases REEE CHERX 593 831
Other (gains) and losses: Hith(Wz) REE -
Net loss on financial assets at FVTPL BAERABRZ
CMEEZEETHE
Realised gain on fair value BAERABRZ
change of financial assets at FVTPL TREEZATE
e D FRWE - (48)
Loss on fair value change of RAEOEATE
early redemption right g BE - 878
Net loss on financial assets at FVTPL BATFEFABRZZ
TREEZBRFHE - 830
Exchange gains FE 5 s (12) (506)
Write-off of property, plant and MEEE - BE K&
equipment 43 51
Gain on disposal of property, plantand ~ HE¥E - BEMREZ
equipment e (2,050) —
Loss on non-substantial modification NAMEFFEKRERTZ
of corporate bond (Note 34) 518 (BfE 34) 3,567 3,198
1,548 3,573
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/ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SZeMBHRRMsE e

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BE T -FA=1THIFE

10. PROVISION FORIMPAIRMENTLOSSESUNDER 10. EHIEEFEERE TN 2 REE
ECL MODEL AND WRITE-OFF OF RECEIVABLES, EREREWRERSEGIBRER
NET OF REVERSAL =)

Impairment losses recognised on: ERREEE
— Trade receivables (Note 23) — B S EYGRIE (I EE 23)
- Factoring receivables (Note 24) —(RIZFEYRIA (P 7E 24)
— Lease receivables (Note 25) — & R GRIE (FFEE 25)
— Loan receivables (Note 26) — U E K (HI5E26)

Total impairment losses under ECL model JBHAZ EEIBERNIBE T 2

WIEEIBERE 359,493

Write-off of: sy -

— Trade receivables — B FEWFRIE

— Factoring receivables —RIE FE UL FRIA

— Lease receivables —HERrWRE

— Loan receivables —EURE X
Total write-off of receivables e FRIE S 4B 58
Total 5T 359,493

11. FINANCE COSTS 11. B

Guarantee fee on borrowing BRZERE

Interest on borrowings B2 T B

Effective interest on corporate NEEHZEBBEAE
bonds (Note 34) (Pft3E34)

Effective interest on lease liabilities HEBBEZERNE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

12. TAXATION 12. BIE
2024 2023
—EFE =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current tax: BNHAIIR :
- PRC Enterprise Income Tax — B ERREN 6 1,844
Under provision in prior years: BEAFERETR
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax — B EFTER - 3,041
— Hong Kong Profit Tax —BBNEN 75 =
Deferred tax expense: ELEBIEMX :
— Current year (Note 21) —ARFEZE (KEE21) 21 11,124
Income tax expense from continuing BESEEBZ
operations FTiS#iF X 102 16,009
Income tax expense from a discontinued B 4L IF & E T 2
operation FTS B - 17
Total income tax expense FRiSfif S % 102 16,026
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated BB PG W0 4Rk 51 1 2R B A &Y
assessable profit. No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has 165%xTE - HRAKERBE_T
been made since the Group has no estimated assessable TWHERZE-_=ZFXA=1tHItE
profits for the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023. EWEMFTERATEF A ERE

RS TR A

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT BEPECEAEHEA(TEERSE

Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax EDRBEMBHEBHGH - K&

rate of the subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC is 25% for the REBATREBEE S _NMFER

years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023. —TE=ZFANA=ZTHLEFERNHEX
#525% °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e HRFMsE )

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZTZWFNA=1+HIFE

12. TAXATION (Continued) 12. BIE(E)
FERAARRBRESM S TR E 25
FERERAEARANGHATER 2 HE
HREEEMRAE 2 HBERST Y

A reconciliation of the taxation applicable to loss before
tax using the statutory rate for the location in which the
Company is domiciled for tax purpose to the tax expense at

the effective tax rate are as follows: RN
2024 2023
—E-NE —T-=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss before tax from continuing REFELCEER 2
operations BREIRTEE (209,936) (490,100)
Loss before tax from a discontinued REERIEREER 2
operation BRIERTEE - (371)
(209,936) (490,471)
Tax expenses at the Hong Kong Profits 12 BB ISR E 16.5%
Tax rate 16.5% SHEHBIAR X (34,639) (80,928)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible N HIBAEZ 2 B2
for tax purpose 31,553 83,508
Tax effect of income not taxable for BEARBRBAZ BB E
tax purpose (375) (133)
Tax effect on temporary differences AEREREZRE o RS E
not recognised (520) 8,383
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERMIBEBE 2 HBTE 4,155 2514
Utilisation of tax losses previously BRBEARERTIEESR
not recognised (125) -
Effect of tax concession MIBR %2 72 - (224)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries A E M B AR &8~
operating in other jurisdiction MEBARITREBIE & (22) 1,472
Under-provision in respect of prior years i@ {E FEBET 75 1434
Income tax expense for the year FRFEHRAX 102 16,026
Income tax expense from RIS EB 2SR
continuing operations X 102 16,009
Income tax expense from a discontinued B &R P& ZZETE 2
operation SISy b - 17
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GZEeMBERRMsE2)

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZZT-WUFSA=+HIEFE

13. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORSAND 13. EEEFARESZUREEESFH

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS EEME
(i) Benefits and interests of directors (i) ESBEBARER
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EBEENBESTHAEME

FA - ARAEN KEN

The aggregate amounts of emoluments paid and

payable to directors and chief executive of the EERGZETHAEZM
Company during the year are as follows:

SHEFEWNT

2024
—EFENE
HK$'000
FET
Fee e 790 993
Other emoluments: B -
Salaries, allowance e RN
and benefits in kind EMHz= 1,268 1,268
Discretionary bonus EYFIEAL = 1,000
Retirement benefit BOREF IR
scheme contributions 30 42
Total st 2,088 3,303
202324 FFH « AREEERERA A 257
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e HRFMsE )

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZTZWFNA=1+HIFE

13.

258

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND

13.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

(a)

EEEARRBURTIEARSH
EEME (&)

(i) Benefits and interests of directors (Continued) (i) ESEEARERZE)
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERESTHRAEME(E)
(Continued)
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments BRI BB D BHEDIEE 383(1)
disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong BEAR(EEERESRE
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the FzBER)BRME2S =
Companies (Disclosure of Information about ENESTHERAEZMNS
Benefits of directors) Regulation are as follows: WENT :
Salaries, allowance Retirement benefit
Fee andbenefitsinkind ~ Discretionarybonus  scheme contributions  Total emoluments
He ¢ 2RRENAG MR BIERI L ame
2024 03 2024 2023 2024 213 2024 2023 2024 2023
“ECWE “Fo-F ECQE CF-cF “BoNE ZBockE CEomE CFocf CECUE CFoCE
HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000  HKS$'000 HKS000
Tén Tér TEx | TEr TEr TEr  TEn  TEr  TEn  TEn
Executive directors H7EE
Mr. Deng Zhonglin Bl R ARINY)

(Notes h and i) 428 611 - 1,000 - 2 28 1632
Mr Wong Yuk Lun Alan (Notes) B (Kita) 600 600 - = 18 18 618 618
Mr.LamWai Hung Noteb) #4854 (B3t b) 20 57 - - 12 3 52 60
MrWongkaShingNoted)  EBHLE(KC) - - - - - - -
Ms. Woo Lan Ying (Note d) st (k) - - - - - -
Non-executive directors FunEs
Ms. Huang Chian Sandy (Noteq) ~ E& &L (it g) 60 ) - = - = 60 bl
Independent non-executive  BUFHTES

directors
M Tsang Wing i ExHEE 240 140 - = - - - = 240 10
Mr.Choi Hung Fai (Note ) BB (i) 10 1) - - - = - = 10 b
Dr. Wong Kong Tin, P BEIRETATST 240 b)) - - - - - - 240 pr|
M To Chun Wai (Notee) xR (Hite) 240 3 - = - - - - 240 3
Total remuneration FES 790 993 1,268 1268 - 1,000 30 4 2,088 3303
Notes: e
@) Mr. Wong Yuk Lun Alan resigned as the executive director and () BEIBAER-_ZE-_RAF—AN

chief executive officer of the Company on 9 January 2025. ABAARDRRTESRITHA
£ o
(b) Mr. Lam Wai Hung was appointed and resigned as the executive
director of the Company on 6 April 2023 and 9 January 2025 b)) MEELESIR-ZT==FN
respectively. ARNBRZZ-HAF—RANBE
ZAARBERREMITES ©
(0 Mr. Wong Ka Shing was appointed as the executive director of

the Company on 6 September 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

Forthe year ended 30 June 2024 EHZEZTZWF A NA=1+HIFE

13. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

(i) Benefits and interests of directors (Continued)

(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d)

Ms. Woo Lan Ying was appointed as the executive director of the
Company on 9 January 2025.

Mr. To Chun Wai was appointed as the independent non-
executive director of the Company on 12 May 2023.

Mr. Choi Hung Fai resigned as the independent non-executive
director of the Company on 16 July 2023.

Ms. Huang Chian Sandy resigned as the non-executive director
of the Company on 2 November 2023.

During the year ended 30 June 2024, discretionary bonus of nil
(2023: HK$2,500,000) was paid to the executive directors of the
Company. In addition, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to the executive directors and independent non-executive
directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or
as a compensation for loss of office.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, Mr. Deng Zhonglin waived
discretionary bonus of an aggregate amount of HK$1,500,000.
Except this, during the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, no
director waived any emoluments.

Share options were granted to directors in respect of their
services to the Group, further details of which are included in the
disclosures in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the directors
received retirement benefits of HK$30,000 (2023:
HK$42,000).

13. EERAREEURAEAREH
EEM< (&)

EEEANRER(E)

(a)

(b)

EERBETRAEMS(E)

Bzt - (&)

©)

(e)

HEELXTR-_Z-_RF—Ah
AEZIARRAHNTES -

HIEEEER T _=ZF7A
T REZRERTRRBILIEH
TEF-

ERBEAN-_T_=5+A
TABRBEARABIFRTE
=

BERZIRN-_E_=F+—A=
ABHEAREENTES -

REBEE-ZT-ME~A=TAL
FE RARADTESTEA
BEEAEET(ZT_=4F:
2,500,000 7T ) o AN - A&
VERRTESRBALFNTE
FYNME - ERRSIREME
AEESMBE 2 RBE - HER
BEMHEE -

REE-T-_=ZF A=1HL
FE BB TERERBEL
£ #£1,500,00078 7T © Bt 2 5h -
REE-Z-_NFR-FT_=F
ANAZTHLEFE  BEZEEN
ZEEMEH -

KAATHESAREERBTH
BEEEAGRE  ESHECR
NRAR B RENE 36 HRBE
B

EERAEF

REBEE-_ZT-_WWFEXA
=t+tHLEFE BEEEWK
BY 3R K 48 30,0007 70 (=
T =4 : 42,000/67T) °
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13.

260

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

(i) Benefits and interests of directors (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received any termination
benefits during the year (2023: HKSNIl).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the
Company did not pay consideration to any third
parties for making available directors’ services
(2023: HKSNil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporates and connected entities with such
directors

During the year ended 30 June 2024, there
was no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of the directors, or
controlled body corporates and connected
entities of such directors (2023: HKSNil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Company's business
to which the Company was a party and in which
a director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year (2023: HKSNIil).

“HERNAZTRLEFE

13. ESRARBEEURTERESH
EEM< (&)

(i) EBEARERGE)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZZT-WUFSA=+HIEFE

13. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORSAND 13. EEEAERFZUR A ERESE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS EEME &)
(Continued)
(ii) Five highest paid employees emoluments (i) EEE&E=FHEEME

The five highest paid employees of the Group during
the year ended 30 June 2024 included two (2023: two)
directors, details of whose emoluments have been set
out above. The emoluments of the remaining three
(2023: three) individuals are as follows:

Salaries, allowance and benefits

e RMREYA S

BE-_Z-_WNFA=1+THIHF
B AEEREGEsHEERRE
ME(ZEZ=F : MB)EE -
HMeFBE RN EXXEHM - H&
ZH(CEBEC=ZFZZ)AEZ
e T :

2024
—s-me
HK$'000
TR

in kind 1,558 1,085
Discretionary bonus ETEAT 49 70
Retirement benefit RKEFIET IR

scheme contributions 30 30
Total Bt 1,637 1,185

The number of the highest paid employees who are
not the directors and the chief executive officer of the
Company whose emoluments fell within the following
bands is as follows:

BRUATHMAERN ZFEERA
RARBITRABZ &S HBMIE
BAZWT

2024
—g-me

HKS$NIl to HK$ 1,000,000 ZITE 1,000,000 8 7T 3 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 BT E

1,500,000 7 7T - -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 1,500,001 TR

6,000,000 7% 7T - =
Total st 3 3
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13.

14.

262

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

(ii)

Five highest paid employees emoluments
(Continued)

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office during years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023.

In prior years, share options were granted to non-
director highest paid employees in respect of their
services to the Group, further details of which
are included in the disclosures in Note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements. The fair value
of such options, which has been recognised in the
statement of profit or loss over the vesting period, was
determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the consolidated financial statements for
the current year is included in the above highest paid
employees’ emoluments disclosures.

DIVIDENDS

The directors of the Company do not recommend the
payment of a final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2024
(2023: HKSNil).

13. E=
==

(ii)

14. RE

NN

BAREEURAERESH
(&)

hEREHEEME(Z)

REBEE-_Z_NMFR-_ZT_=F
ANAZTHLEFE  AEETE
M I B &E AT M
& EARSIBEMBEREREK
INERTE - BREVSRIERBE(TREE -

RBEFE  NRARMIEEH
= B R 8 /5 7N & B AR 7% 1 A 1%
EROBRE EZFBECHA
REPBRRMEBNEEER
W HABREN R FEERE
MR ERXAER - 2 FER
RO BMEE Mt AXNFHES
MBRENBETEN LXRS
FHESMSEEERA -

AEFYERBRNBE_F

“HERAZTRLEFEZREABRS
(ZF==F:FR8)°
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SZEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZZT-WUFSA=+HIEFE

15. LOSS PER SHARE 15. BREE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share RKAREAANEEGRERNLEEE
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the BRFTEER AT SR

following data:

Loss &8

Loss attributable to owners of RARER ARGEE
the Company
From continuing operations REFECEED 506,109
From a discontinued operation REDRIEREED 388

506,497

Number of shares KRG EE
Number of/weighted average number of FARFTEFREANRES
ordinary shares for the purpose of basic ~ B8 2 LR EE

and diluted loss per share InEFH 1,943,894
For the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, the computation BE-_ZE-_NFER-_FT =98
of diluted loss per share does not assume the exercise of the ZTHIEFE: ARBREZITEE
Company's outstanding share options as the exercise prices BRAQNFRGFHTWE  BEAE
of the share options were higher than the average market FREEEEFRTERBRRANDBRIT
price of the shares of the Company. The basic and diluted FHEREETE B2 -_F
loss per share were the same for the years ended 30 June ZE=FXRA=+THLFE" &
2024 and 2023. PR EAR R #EEEAR
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZTZWFNA=1+HIFE

16.

264

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. M1%¥ - BEKRZE
Furniture
Leasehold Computer fixture and Motor
improvements equipment equi%ment vehicles Total
., i BEE , .
HEMEEE ERRE R3] RE @t
HK$/000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS/000 HK$1000
BT BT THAT THL TAT
Cost A
At 1 July 2022 i S
+A—H 2,540 2521 185 6,731 11,977
Additions NE - 59 - - 59
Disposals HeE - (84) - - (84)
Write-off s (101) (424) (18) - (543)
Exchange realignment [ % #3% (185) (162) 8) = (355)
At 30 June 2023 R-F-=%F
and 1 July 2023 ~A=TERK
—E-=F
TA—H 2,254 1910 159 6,731 11,054
Additions NE 5,737 3,856 1,754 - 11,347
Disposals HE - - - (6,731) (6,731)
Write-off 6 (160) (149) (70) - (379)
Exchange realignment [ % % (16) (13) (1) > (30)
At 30 June 2024 R_Z_M%
~A=1H 7,815 5,604 1,842 - 15,261
Accumulated T ERAE
depreciation and
impairment )
At 1 July 2022 RZEZZF
+H—H . 2437 2,300 182 6,731 11,650
Charge for the year FE ()

(Note 9) 59 63 1 = 123
Disposals e - (84) - - (84)
Wiite-off isH (101) (373) (18) - (492)
Exchange realignment  [E X F3% (184) (146) 8) - (338)
At 30 June 2023 R-B_=F

and 1 July 2023 ~NA=THERK

—Z-=F
TA—H 2211 1,760 157 6,731 10,859
Charge for the year FEE ()

(Note 9) ) 1,230 864 302 - 2,396
Disposals L& - - - (6,731) (6,731)
Impairment RE 4,520 718 805 - 6,043
Wiite-off e (129) (137) (70) - (336)
Exchange realignment (B % F3% (17) (12) (1) - (30)
At 30 June 2024 R-Z_NE

~A=1H 7,815 3,193 1,193 - 12,201
Carrying amounts REE
At 30 June 2024 R-Z_NE

~A=TH - 2,411 649 - 3,060
At 30 June 2023 R-FB_=F

~A=TH 43 150 2 - 195
Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 18 to ABREBEN G ZHEBHENEAMER
the consolidated financial statements. =MIzE18 ©
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZZT-WUFSA=+HIEFE

17.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

17. EREEE

2024
—s-me

HK$'000
THET

AREE
BAHEEYE

Carrying amount
Properties leased for own use

For the year ended 30 June

Depreciation (Note 9) e (MsEo)
Impairment recognised in profitorloss Bz HER 2 BIE

BEAA=THLEE

(1,985) (1,163)
(5,162) (970)

2024
—E-mE

HK$'000
THET

Expenses relating to short-term leases
Total cash outflow for leases
Additions to right-of-use assets

NEEREEE

B IR SRR
MERERH AR

593 900
2,583 2,340
7,147 =

For both years, the Group leased various properties for its
operations. Lease contracts were entered into for fixed terms
of 1 year to 3 years, but may have extension and termination
options as described below. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the noncancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period
for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group has not early terminated leases for properties for

the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RRBEFERN  AEBHESEDSE
AREZ - fTE] UHEES N EEMR
HNT—F=2=F - BAIEFETX
Fril 2 RE & I 4% 1R - E RN
TR BRI EREETER - BESED
EHER I R - R E M B R AT T
AREHENRER  KEEERA
HHTERWETA X 7] 8 5817 R Hf
M o

HE_Z_NFR_ZE_=ZF-A
ZTHIEFE  AEEFERATKL
YIERE -

BERRER G ZFBHNERE T ER
RMFFE18
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZE=-Z

17.

18.

266

“HERNAZTRLEFE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)
Restriction or covenants

In addition, lease liabilities of approximately HK$6,846,000
(2023: approximately HK$1,155,000) are recognised with
related right-of-use assets, net of accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses of nil (2023: nil) as at
31 December 2024. The lease arrangements do not impose
any covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be
used as security for borrowing purposes.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF PROPERTY, PLANT
AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

As at 30 June 2024, the directors of the Company considered
that there were impairment indicators on the property,
plant and equipment and the right-of-use assets of the
club and entertainment business because of the substantial
loss incurred for the year ended 30 June 2024. In view of
this, the directors of the Company grouped relevant items
of the property, plant and equipment and the right-of-use
assets of the club and entertainment business together to
constitute a cash generating unit (the “Club CGU") for the
purpose of the impairment assessment. The directors of the
Company assessed the recoverable amounts of the Club
CGU, which were higher of the value in use ("VIU") and the
fair value less costs of disposal. Since the directors of the
Company are of opinion that loss-making situation of the
club and entertainment business will persisted due to current
unfavourable market condition and the VIU is considered
as zero, the recoverable amount of Club CGU is therefore
determined based on the fair value less costs of disposal.

Based on the assessment and with reference to the valuation
reports prepared by an independent professional valuer not
connected with the Group, impairment loss of approximately
HK$6,043,000 and HK$5,162,000 were recognised in respect
of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
relating to club and entertainment business for the year
ended 30 June 2024, respectively.
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EREEEE)
PRFIR A

i RZTEZmME+ A=+ —
B 468460008 T(ZE-_=F : {9
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ERE R
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BuzaWoesE  BMEREEME
AEEDHEAFERHEXNAME
FAzBEE AR ARAEEREA
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BEABeRE mMEREERRR
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O&F RN FEREEKREAETE -
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B MEEAREREEED RIER
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Forthe year ended 30 June 2024 HE—ZT-—WNFXA=Z+HILFE
19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. BLEE
Trademarks
and brands
ARk
HK$'000
FET
Cost 2%
At 1 July 2022 RZZEZ—F+tH—H 29,327
Exchange realignment b 5, S B (2.328)
At 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 Eé_?_ FRA=ZTHE
—T_=F+H—H 26,999
Exchange realignment ME H, B (212)
At 30 June 2024 RZZE_MEA=+H 26,787
Accumulated amortisation and impairment &3t 4 & F{E
At 1 July 2022 RZEZ—F+H—H 28,292
Charge for the year FEXH 265
Impairment recognised in profit or loss RIBRER RE 730
Exchange realignment PE H R (2,288)
At 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 E(\_?__$/\)5J +BE R
—E_=%+A—H 26,999
Exchange realignment HE 54, 8 B (212)
At 30 June 2024 R-ZE_MFEA=1H 26,787
Carrying amount IRMEE
At 30 June 2024 R-ZZE_MEA=+H -
At 30 June 2023 R-ZZE_=%A=+H -

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such
intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over
the following periods:

Trademarks and brands 37-116 months

LB EEABERERFS - %
FEVEERBERENATHE &
i

EREYSE 37E 16 @A
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZTZWFNA=1+HIFE

19.

20.

268

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, intangible assets
were assessed by the directors of the Company for
impairment as part of the impairment assessment of the
brand management services as the trademarks and brands
belonged to the brand management CGU. During the year
ended 30 June 2023, an impairment loss of HK$730,000 was
recognised to fully write-down the carrying amount of the
trademarks and brands. The estimate of the recoverable
amount of the CGU were determined based on a value-in-
use calculation in accordance with HKAS 36. As the carrying
amount of the intangible assets were HKSNil, no further
impairment loss recognised.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 30 June
2024 are set out as follow:

Issued and fully

19.

20.

B EE®)

HREARMNE  ARBEERREB
RREERRESELSMN  WMARF
EEHBEREAEETRENG BB
mEERREBRENGZ — D &
E-T_=FRNAZTHLEFE "B
T 2 (B &5 18 730,000 7T AR
WREERREZERE - REELE
BNz E KBS BENREESS
FTERIERZEREENE X
BT BREFEEZREAEATSH
T R EE— S HERBERSE -

FTENBLRZFE
ARBR-_FB-_WFERA=ZTHZE

EMBARZFBEHINWT

Percentage of equity and voting power

Place of paid ordinary attributable to the Group
incorporation/ share capital rRBEGRERREER N
Name of subsidiaries  operation Iregistered capital Directly Indirectly Principal activities
BRIRAR
AL/ LERRE/
WELAER BeEns AfEx E& [ TEXK
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZBME ZBIZE C“BCME ZBCZF
Great Getter Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Provision of
operating services
HEBRRRA EE ERIBT RS RS
Greatest Best Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - = 100% 100%  Sale and distribution of
wine and liquor
ERERAA EE ERIBT HERDHEFER
ik
Golden Miles Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - = 51% 100%  Clubbing operation
International Limited (2023; HKS1)
S RERERAA &R L@E100ET B
(ZBZ=F:
17)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of
all the subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, result in particulars of excessive lengths.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 EHZE_-Z

20.

21.

“HERAZTHLEFE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 20. FEMBRAT 2FEE)
(Continued)
The Group had no subsidiaries which have material non- REBEET-_NFER =T __E/\ﬂ
controlling interests for the years ended 30 June 2024 and =+THIEFE AEBETEMBER
2023. HWEBEARIEERER -
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding REBZ_T_NER_ZT_=FA
during both years at 30 June 2024 and 2023. “THRLEMEFE  ZEWBRAH
BEMRAKAEE BRR
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 21. BEBIEEE
The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as BLEREBEERFTAMNEEF NI
follows: ™
Impairment
Deferred allowance
revenue for credit loss Total
EEBE
BT Uy 25 WERE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET

1 July 2022 i = Rl = 86 11,063 11,149
Charged to the consolidated BEEHFEBERT R

profit or loss for the year (M7E12)

(Note 12) 61) (11,063) (11,124)
Exchange realignment HE 5, 58 B ) - )
At30June2023and 1July2023 RZEZ=FA=+H

R-_Z_=FtHA—H 21 - 21
Charged to the consolidated BEEHFeBRT R

profit or loss for the year (B5E12)

(Note 12) (21) - (21)
At 30 June 2024 R-ZB_MFRA=1H - - -

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had unused estimated tax
losses under jurisdiction in Hong Kong of approximately
HK$5,424,000 (2023: approximately HKS$9,114,000) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams.

2023/24FF R o

MR-ZE-MEA=1+H  KNEEH
KRB A (A FT T IR B 18 4 5,424,000 % 7T
(ZZ =4 : 499,114,000/ 7T ) 0] A
PO SE R OB T o B R R A 1) 2R
TAJFEA - W ARERIEEHIAEE ©
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 BE T -FA=1THIFE

22.

23.

270

INVENTORIES 22, 78

Other consumables H A FEM

TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. EFRWRFEE

Trade receivables from contracts REEFEHANE S EKKIE

with customers
Less: impairment allowance R R ERE

4975

The Group has a policy of allowing trade customers with AEBZHERRNESRFPIREZE
credit terms of normally within 90 days except for trading BEH—MTHBiE0R EERESHZ
of goods which credit terms are normally 1 to 6 months. EEH—RAE1Z26EA - £HRE
Settlement is made in accordance with the terms specified in RBEEREBR S Z2ELHFR 5B K
the contracts governing the relevant transactions. The Group RET - AEBUVEREE FEWR
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancement HE#RBETMNERSEMEERA
over its trade receivables balances. The ageing analysis of e HEMEHR  BIERERS
trade receivables net of impairment allowance as at the HE, #ZHH2Y 28 5 EKE
end of reporting period, based on dates on which services (FBRREEE) 2 BRI T -

rendered/invoice dates, is as follows:
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZZT-WUFSA=+HIEFE

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23. ESEWRIEE)

0-30 days 0Z30H

31-60 days 31260H

61-90 days 61290H

91-180 days 91&E180H

181-365 days 181 & 365 H

Over 1 year 1 E

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables which are past EEHERKBECEHREBKIELZ
due but not yet impaired is as follows: FRECHITAT -

0-30 days 0ZE30H
31-60 days 31260 H
61-90 days 61£90H
91-180 days 91180 B
181-365 days 181 &£ 365 H
Over 1 year 1FE
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZTZWFNA=1+HIFE

23.

272

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23.

The movements in impairment allowance on trade
receivables are as follows:

BEZRWREE)

B2 REFORRER B EFHNT

2024 2023
—ENEF ===

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

At the beginning of the year REH] 29,959 14,243
Amounts recognised during FABREEFRE

the year, net 1 17,600

Amounts written off g8 (29,724) -

Exchange realignment bE H & (235) (1,884)

At the end of the year RER 1 29,959

Include in the Group's trade receivables from brand
management, trading and products promotion services
business in the PRC with gross amount of HK$34,920,000 as
at 30 June 2023 which are past due and the Group has taken
actions, including but not limited to legal actions, to recover
the balances. The directors of the company considered these
trade receivables are credit-impaired. Details of impairment
assessment of trade receivables are set out in Note 5(b) to
the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZZT-WUFSA=+HIEFE

24. FACTORING RECEIVABLES 24, REBREWRIE

Factoring receivables REEFE Y FRIA 489,383
Interest receivables from R IR FE WK 2 FE R 2

factoring receivables 16,824
Less: impairment allowance B R ERE (337,894)

168,313

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of HEREHR  BEEHIEHA 2R
factoring receivables, net of impairment allowance, based on I8 FE IR FOE (0RO E B ) 2 BRiR
the maturity dates of the contracts, is as follows: T -

0-30 days 0ZE30H

31-90 days 31290 H =
91-365 days 91 %365 A -
Overdue B 168,313

168,313
The factoring receivables granted to customers are measured BT R FE RIS R R FE R HER A
at amortised cost and generally for a period of 6 months to 3 e —RBREANEAEZE=F - K=
years. The effective interest rates of factoring receivables as at T-—EXA=+8  FBEWZIE
30 June 2023 ranged from 2.11% to 5.72% per annum. HERFFENF211%E572% °
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e MR 2

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—ZT-_WNFXA=Z+HILFE

24. FACTORING RECEIVABLES (Continued) 24,

The movements in impairment allowance on factoring
receivables are as follows:

RIBFEWRIR ()

RIZ BN BB B < BB T

2024 2023
—ENEF ===

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

At the beginning of the year REH] 337,894 26,663
Amounts recognised during FABREEFRE

the year, net - 327,344

Amounts written off g8 335,246 -

Exchange realignment bE H & (2,648) (16,113)

At the end of the year RER = 337,894

All of the Group's factoring receivables have default in
payments of either interest or principal and the Group has
taken actions, including but not limited to legal actions,
to recover the balances. The directors of the company
considered all factoring receivables are credit-impaired as at
30 June 2023. Details of impairment assessment of factoring
receivables are set out in Note 5(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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SZEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZZT-WUFSA=+HIEFE

25.

LEASE RECEIVABLES

Lease receivables from
sale-leaseback transactions
Less: impairment allowance

R E R

EROER 52 HERKIA

25. HEEWRKIE

18,179
(15,954)

2,225

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
lease receivables from sale-leaseback transactions, net of
impairment allowance, based on the maturity date of the
contracts, is as follows:

0-30 days 0ZE30H
31-90 days 31290 H
91-365 days 91 %365 H
Overdue pal 1]

RBERR - REAVIHBENER
B 7 52 5 2 788 e R IR (RER BB 3¢
) ZBRE DTN

All leases are denominated in RMB. Lease receivables from
sale-leaseback transactions are measured at amortised cost
and generally for periods of 3 years. The effective interest rate
of the lease receivables from sale-leaseback transactions as at
30 June 2023 was 2.78% per annum.
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e MR 2

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZE=-Z

25.

276

“HERNAZTRLEFE

LEASE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 25, HERKFEE)
The movements in impairment allowance on lease EREEXRS ZHERRKRENRE
receivables from sale-leaseback transactions are as follows: BEmEEmT
2024 2023
—E-NE —_=F=
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FET
At the beginning of the year REH] 15,954 3,343
Amounts recognised during FABREEFRE
the year, net - 13,452
Amounts written off HiEE e (15,829) —
Exchange realignment PE A, B (125) (841)
At the end of the year RER = 15,954

All of the Group's lease receivables from sales-leaseback
transactions have default in payments, past due and the
Group has taken actions, including but not limited to
legal actions, to recover the balances. The directors of the
company considered all lease receivables from sale-leaseback
transactions are credit-impaired as at 30 June 2023. Details
of impairment assessment of lease receivables are set out in
Note 5(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

Leasing arrangements

There was no unguaranteed residual value in connection
with lease arrangements or contingent lease arrangements
of the Group that needed to be recorded as at the end of the
reporting period.
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SZEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZZT-WUFSA=+HIEFE

26.

LOAN RECEIVABLES 26. EWER

Loan receivables EURE K

Interest receivables from loan receivables FEUCE 3k 2 FEUFI 2

Less: impairment allowance B RERE

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of RImERR  REBEAGOIHMAZ R
loan receivables, net of impairment allowance, based on the ER (IR ERE) RESITAT -

maturity date in contracts, is as follows:

0&30H

0-30 days

31-90 days 31290 H

91-365 days 91 &£ 365H

Overdue B HA

Loan receivables granted to customers are measured at BT RPN EWE B 855K A G
amortised cost and generally for 12 months. The loan B —KREES12EA RZFT=—=
receivables are unsecured with the effective interest rates is FRA=1TB  BUEERREER
2.22% per annum as at 30 June 2023. BEBRFERNER222%
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SZeMBHRRMsE e

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BE T -FA=1THIFE

26.

27.

278

LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued) 26. EWER#E)
The movements in impairment allowance on loan receivables EWE RERERENZESHINT :
are as follows:

At the beginning of the year EA]
Amounts recognised during FABRSEFHE

the year, net
Amounts written off WiH e 5
At the end of the year RER
The Group's loan receivables have default in payments, AEB ZEKRERDHRMNR K
past due and the Group has taken actions, including but H - mMAKEERIRTH(BEERR
not limited to legal actions, to recover the balances. The RERITE)) B E B - ARRE
directors of the company considered all loan receivables are ERB RZTE-_=F~A=+A8"
credit-impaired as at 30 June 2023. Details of impairment FIERKREFHYEREEERE B
assessment of loan receivables are set out in Note 5(b) to the B WS B2 R B R L 2 S B R AR
consolidated financial statements. B BHmRMFESD)
PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 27. ARRIE - RERHEMEBRKIE
RECEIVABLES

Current assets REEE

Prepayments TR IR

Deposits e

Other receivables H U GRIB

Total st

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables are set EEEMEKRZIEZBEN G ZHIE
out in Note 5(b) to the consolidated financial statements. HRZEE B RERMEESD) °
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SZeMBHRRMsE e

For the year ended 30 June 2024 EHE-Z-_MNFENA=F+HILFE
28. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 28. RERMITHER
2024
—ENEF
HK$’000
FET
Cash and bank balances M MIRTTHERS 2,737 2,400
Less: restricted bank balances (Note) B ZRHRITEESR (M) - (57)
Less: frozen bank balances B RS IRITAERR (8) =
Cash and cash equivalents in the RERERERANRE K
consolidated statement of cash flows REFEEE 2,729 2,343
Note: e
Among the bank balances of the Group as at 30 June 2023, approximately HK$57,000 ARER-F_ZFAA=TBZRITHEET 457,000
(RMB53,000) was restrained by the bank due to litigation. AL (ARYE 53,000 7T) BFF AT ERITRH o
At 30 June 2024, the Group’s bank balances and cash RZZBE_MFERNA=1H AEBE
denominated in RMB amounted to approximately HK$57,000 AR u‘|'_@ MIRTEREREHL
(2023: approximately HK$528,000). Conversion of RMB into 578007% (= F = =% : #528,000
foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange BIL) ° ARBHIRBINERESTF
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale B INE B IR R0 R AEE - SERE
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations. BEMRE
Bank balances earn interest at rates based on daily bank RITRERIZE B IRITE AR S

deposit rates.
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SZeMBHRRMsE e

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BE T -FA=1THIFE

29.

280

TRADE PAYABLES 29. EZENFIE

Trade payables B 5N RIR
The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables HERSHAR BEBEEZAHZI 2
presented on the basis of the dates of the invoices at the end BSRMNHIBZ RESTAT :

of reporting period:

0-30 days 0&30H

31-60 days 31Z60H

61-90 days 61290H

91-180 days 91 £ 180 H

181-365 days 1812365 H

Over 1 year THFEME

The average credit period ranged from 0-180 days. FHEERNF0E180H 2 -
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HEMBRRMEE =

Forthe year ended 30 June 2024 EHZEZTZWF A NA=1+HIFE

30.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 30. SHEE

Brand management and related services  §h & 32 I A8 B8 AR 75

Trading of goods AmmE S

The following table shows how much of the revenue TRITHRAFERFEELSHEER
recognised in the current year relates to carried-forward RO ZCE MR BTHBEME ER
contract liabilities and how much relates to performance BAEEERB DR -

obligations that were satisfied in prior periods.

Revenue recognised that was included ~ REFFT AS LB ELEHH

in the contract liabilities balance at 2R

the beginning of the year

-~ Brand management and — B 1 AR AR TS

related services

- Trading of goods —BEmE5
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of HAERAHNE B ERTEN—
contract liabilities recognised are as follows: BTG -
Brand management and related services mEEE & AE R
The Group receives upfront lump sum payments from the RABFERERR  AEERRFI
customers before the commencement of use of license and N i@i‘ﬁiﬁﬁﬁ’\lﬁ kN8 RVIHE
monthly fee in advances for the brand management services HAEERRBERETER WA
rendered from the certain customers at the beginning of A E o —RIBTENMFIE KB B EHK
each month. The upfront lump sum and advance payment REHBEIE -

result in contract liabilities being recognised.
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SZeMBHRRMsE e

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BE T -FA=1THIFE

30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 30. EHEEE)
Trading of goods EmES
The Group receives upfront lump sum payments from certain ERESNERERERFR C A%
customers before the goods are transferred to customers. EmET&PWER—KBTERNKIEA -
The upfront lump sum payments result in contract liabilities —RBBNRIBEEHERSNAE
being recognised until the control of the goods has been BEEMOESIEEER(AImmER
transferred, being the goods has been delivered and NI BEEPES)BILE -
accepted by the customers.

31. LEASE LIABILITIES 31. HE&E
The following table shows the remaining contractual TRINTHREABRERRAEEHER
maturities of the Group's lease liabilities at the end of the B2 FHEDEIBER -

current reporting period:

Within 1 year —FA 1,200
After 1 year but within 2 years —F A _HBR BB
M _
After 2 years but within 5 years R 4F LA BT B8
hEF =
1,200
Less: total future B ARIRFE
interest expenses > 4B %E (45)
Present value of lease HERRERE
liabilities 1,155
The incremental borrowing rate applied by the Group was AEBEEAZEEERFMNEN
ranging from 9.67% to 10.39% (2023: 10.39%) per annum. F967%E1039% (= T — = F:

10.39%) ©
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SZEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZZT-WUFSA=+HIEFE

32.

33.

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 32. EtERAREMENKIE

Accruals EEtEA
Payables for purchases of property, BEME  BER

plant and equipment B NP
Other payables (Note) HoAth A R IE (B )
Note: Wizt :
As at 30 June 2024, included in other payable was an amount of approximately RZZE-WNEXA=Z1+H  EMEMNFERERERA
HK$3,152,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB2,946,000) (2023: approximately HIERMEE 2 FABES£3,1520008 T (HERHA
HK$3,380,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB3,000,000)) for a penalty due to breach of R# 2946000 7C) (ZEZ=F : 473,380,000 L (AAER
contract term as a result from litigation and the balances with related parties are set out in AR#3,0000007T)) © MEEBEHH 2 EBRERGETE
Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements. HEME3S -
During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group recorded HE-_T-_WFA=+THIFE -
amount due to non-controlling interest of approximately REE DRSS RMNIETERER 2K
HK$7,755,000 and other payables of HK$1,369,000 I8 #97,755,000 % 7T} H b F& 1~ 518
respectively for addition of property, plant and equipment in 136900087 ARABEEMREE
relation to the Club CGU. ABNABYE - BB REE o
BORROWINGS 33. &R

Bank loans (Note a) RITER(MEa)
Other loan (Note b) EmER(MED)

3,235
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SZeMBHRRMsE e

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BE T -FA=1THIFE

33.

284

BORROWINGS (Continued) 33. BR(E)

Carrying amount repayable:  JEfBRTEI{E :
Within one year —FR

Amounts shown under MEBEE NS
current liabilities

Notes: Wizt

@) As at 30 June 2024, the bank loans of approximately RMB599,000 (equivalent to @) RZZE-_WMESA=Z1TH BAERHARY
approximately HK$641,000) are interest bearing at an interest rate of 3.9%, which 599,000 75 (M0 & 72 49641,000 78 7T ) & 4 71l & 3.9%
are unsecured, a director of the Company is jointly and severally liable to the TR BERE  BARR—RESHERES
borrowing and repayable within one year. HRRERIEERER—FRERE -
As at 30 June 2023, a bank loan of RMB3,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RZE-_=ZFX A=+H BTERARE
HK$3,235,000) is interest bearing at an interest rate of 3.8% per annum, which is 3,000,000 7T (18 & R 473,235,000 7T ) 12 F FIl &
unsecured, quaranteed by a director of the Company and his spouse, and the loan 38%FTE - AEER  pALAR-REZRER
was fully repaid during the year ended 30 June 2024, BER ZEEFEREBE-_Z-mF A=T

AILFENEHEE -

(b) As at 30 June 2024, the other loan from an independent third party of (b) NZZE-MEXA=1H KABUFE=/HHE
HK$9,808,000 is interest bearing at an interest rate of 18% per annum, which is 8 59,808,000 B TLIREFIE 18% H & - AARA
secured by shares of a subsidiary of the Company and repayable within one year. A B AR EERRER —FNEE -
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mEMBRRME

Forthe year ended 30 June 2024 EHZEZTZWF A NA=1+HIFE

34. CORPORATE BONDS NEESH

ik iﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬁw NAARZGREER

The carrying amount of corporate bonds recognised at the

end of the reporting period was calculated as follows: gmr

At 1 July 2022 RZE_—F+tH—H 994 39,513 40,507
Redemption e (1,000) - (1,000)
Repayment of handling fee EEFEE = (360) (360)
Loss on non-substantial FEKRNIEBETZBE

modification (Note 9) (BF5E9) - 3,198 3,198
Effective interest expenses BERFERZ (K1)

(Note 11) 14 3,720 3,734
Less: interest paid B BERFLE @) (5,400) (5,408)
At30June2023and 1July2023 R-ZE-_=FA=1+H

E_T_=F+H—H - 40,671 40,671
Loss on non-substantial FEXRERT 2 EE
modification (Note 9) (Pf3E9)
Effective interest expenses ERF SR (K1)
(Note 11)
At 30 June 2024 RZZEZWHEXA=+AH

Analysis for reporting purposes as:

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

ARERENS
nBARE
FRBEE
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZE=-Z

“HERNAZTRLEFE

34. CORPORATE BONDS (Continued)

286

Notes:

(a)

In August 2018, the Group issued an unsecured corporate bond through a placing
agent with principal amount of HK$1,000,000, carrying interest at the rate of
6.25% per annum payable semi-annually for a term of 4 years, which will be due
on 16 August 2022 (“Bond II'). The effective interest rate is 10.46% per annum.
The Company may at any time before the maturity date of the bond, redeem
the bond by giving not less than 10 business days" prior written notice at 100%
of the principal amount of such bond together with payment of interest accrued
thereon up to the date of redemption. Subject to the conditions of the bond
instrument, the bondholder shall not have the right to request the Company to
redeem the bond prior to the maturity date of the bond. The redemption right
is not recognised in the consolidated financial statements since the directors of
the Company consider that the probability of exercise of the redemption right
is remote. The directors of the Company have considered the fair value of the
redemption right at initial recognition is insignificant. Accordingly, fair value of the
redemption right was not accounted for in the consolidated financial statements
as at 30 June 2023 and 2022.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group has fully redeemed the Bond Il
with principal amount of HK$1,000,000.

In November 2018, the Group issued unsecured corporate bonds through a
placing agent with principal amount of HK$300,000,000, carrying interest at the
rate of 15% per annum payable quarterly for a term of 2 years, which will be
due on 7 November 2020 (‘Bond V"). The fair value of the bonds at the date of
issue was HK$330,620,000. The effective interest rate is 10.41% per annum. The
Company may at any time before the maturity date of the bonds, redeem the
bonds by giving not less than 10 business days' prior written notice at 100% of
the principal amount of such bonds together with payment of interest accrued
thereon up to the date of redemption (‘Issuer’s Early Redemption Right’).
Subject to the conditions of the bond instrument, the bondholders shall not have
the right to request the Company to redeem the bond prior to the maturity date
of the bonds. The fair value of the Issuer's Early Redemption Right at the date of
issue amounted to HK$30,620,000. The embedded derivatives derived from Issuer’s
Early Redemption Right is classified as current asset and carried at fair value. Any
changes in fair value will be recognised in profit or loss.

34, NEIEFE)
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZE=-Z

34. CORPORATE BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(0)

(Continuea)

On 11 September 2020, the Company executed a supplemental deed poll for the
unsecured corporate bonds with principal amount of HK$300,000,000 to modify
the maturity date from 7 November 2020 into two maturity dates, 7 November
2020 and 7 November 2021. Based on the assessment performed by the Group,
the modification is regarded as non-substantial modification. The loss on
modification of corporate bond of approximately HK$12,908,000 is recognised in
profit or loss at the date of modification.

On 5 November 2021, the Company executed a supplemental deed poll for the
unsecured corporate bonds with principal amount of HK$36,000,000 to modify
the maturity date from 7 November 2021 to 7 May 2022. On 6 May 2022, the
Company executed a supplemental deed poll for the unsecured corporate bonds
with principal amount of HK$36,000,000 to modify the maturity date from 7 May
2022 to 31 December 2022. Based on the assessments performed by the Group,
the modifications are regarded as non-substantial modifications. The losses on
modification of corporate bond of approximately HK$3,225,000 and HK$1,475,000
are recognised in profit or loss at each of the dates of modification respectively.

On 30 December 2022, the Company executed a supplemental deed poll for the
unsecured corporate bonds with principal amount of HK$36,000,000 to modify
the maturity date from 31 December 2022 to 30 June 2023. On 23 June 2023, the
Company executed a supplemental deed poll for the unsecured corporate bonds
with principal amount of HK$36,000,000 to modify the maturity date from 30
June 2023 to 30 June 2024. Based on the assessments performed by the Group,
the modifications are regarded as non-substantial modifications. The losses on
modification of corporate bond of approximately HK$1,216,000 and HK$1,982,000
are recognised in profit or loss at each of the dates of modification respectively.

On 28 June 2024, the Company executed a supplemental deed poll for the
unsecured corporate bonds with principal amount of HK$36,000,000 to modify
the maturity date from 30 June 2024 to 30 June 2026. Based on the assessments
performed by the Group, the modification is regarded as non-substantial
modifications. The loss on modification of corporate bond of approximately
HK$3,567,000 is recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.

2023/24FF5R o §&

“HERAZTHLEFE

. AEMEHE)
Wizt - (&)

(b)

(&)
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZTZWFNA=1+HIFE

35.

288

SHARE CAPITAL 35. A
Nominal
Number of value of
ordinary ordinary
Par value shares shares
E{E EZEREE ZEREE
HKS HKS'000
BT T
Authorised: EE
At 1July 2022,30 June 2023, R-E-~F+HF—H
1July 2023 and —EZ=FX A=+AH"
30 June 2024 “E-=F+A-HBEK
—E-MEXNA=1H 0.002  5,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTREHR :
At1July 2022 RZF-__FtA—H 0002 1,855,003,277 3712
Placing of shares (Note) Fo &M fn (BiaE) 0.002 198,250,000 396
At30June 2023, 1July2023 RZZ==FA=1+H
and 30 June 2024 “E-=F+HA-HBE
—E-MEXNA=+H 0.002  2,054,153,277 4,108
Note: Bi3E -
On 30 December 2022, the Company entered into a placing agreement (the “Placing RZTE-_—&+-A=+0 AQREEERETVE

Agreement’) with a placing agent pursuant to which the Company had conditionally
agreed to place, through the placing agent on a best effort basis, up to 371,180,000 placing
shares (the “Placing Share(s)") of the Company at a placing price of HK$0.073 per Placing
Share to not less than six placees who are professional, institutional or other investors that
are third parties independent of the Company and its connected persons. The Placing
Shares would be allotted and issued pursuant to the general mandate approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 2
December 2022. On 20 January 2023, a total of 198,250,000 ordinary shares were issued
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Placing Agreement.

ERFE(RERE]) Bt ARAEKREREEB
RERBRENEE RREEEREERH(RER
BNOBBTATPRABEREABEE  EERE
iR EE  DBURARAREBEALZE=HE
E& 5371180000 R AR B EERD - B ERHRE

BADRREMSE —BMEREERET RZEZ=
F-AZ+H ERBESHEZERREERTES
198,250,000 % & @ A% ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BEHRFTMsE2)

For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

36.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (“Share
Option Scheme”) by a resolution in writing passed by
the shareholders on 18 October 2013, for the purpose of
attracting, retaining and rewarding eligible persons and to
provide the eligible persons an incentive or reward for their
contribution to the Group.

The eligible persons of the Share Option Scheme include
directors of the Company, employees, consultants or
advisers, providers of goods or services, customers, holders
of securities issued by the member of the Group and any
other person who has contributed to the Group (“Eligible
Persons’).

The subscription price of the share options shall be a price
determined by the Board of Directors and shall be at least the
highest of (i) the closing price of share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date; (i) the
average of the closing price per share as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the offer date; or (i) the nominal
value of the share.

The Eligible Persons shall accept the offer at the date not later
than 21 days from the offer date or otherwise be deemed to
have declined it. An option may be exercised in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time
during a period to be determined and notified by the Board
of Directors to each grantee, which period may commence
on a day after the date upon which the offer for the grant
of options is made but shall end in any event not later than
10 years from the date of grant of the option subject to the
provisions for early termination thereof. Unless otherwise
determined by the Board of Directors and stated in the offer
of the grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum
period required under the Share Option Scheme for the
holding of an option before it can be exercised.

6. BRAESE

RABRBEBRER -_T—=F1H
TABBBZEMRBREM—ER
BEAE((ERESBD EAER
5 - BEBREBAEBAL IA
ERATHAKREFEL ZERG T
DB

BREFE 2ABERALEEART
BEf EE BHEXHAA BEm:K
RGHER TP AEBEKEAF
PIBITESZHEAREAREEL
BRZEEMAL(EEBALD -

BREIABEREEFSETELE
B ELEAR/RTINTRZESE )
BRI BA B BMERIAEHRER
Ao 2 W& ()R ERELN B
MR AL XA ERIMERRER
POz P& ¢ 2k (i) i mEfE -

BERALTANERELHBHE 2
BRZRMELN  BRIRIFEERBER
2H - BRETREFSETIANE
BAERANZHRE - REEBOE 8 %
RERTTE  ZHEIRERRHE
Bz BB AR BEEEFBRT
WA IR A B ET 10 F N4
R MERR IR B AR AT R ER AT 4R
- RRIEFERTEELRRERR
HBRERD MARARSA  SRE
P =t 81 30 £ 1R E BB O X 1T 2 BT 28
B ZREHR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e HRFMsE )

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZTZWFNA=1+HIFE

36.

290

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total
number of shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
Share Option Scheme. After the refreshment of the limit of the
Share Option Scheme with the approval of the shareholders
on 10 May 2019, the maximum number of shares which
may be issued upon the exercise of the refreshed limit of
146,290,000 options (being 10% of the issued share capital
on 10 May 2019) together with all outstanding options as at
the date of this annual report carrying the right to subscribe
for 12,000,000 (2023: 12,000,000) shares is 158,290,000 (2023:
158,290,000) shares, representing approximately 7.71% (2023:
7.71%) of the total number of shares in issue as at the date of
this annual report

Details of movements of the share options granted under the
Share Option Scheme for the years ended 30 June 2024 and

6. WBIRERTE (&)

EREERESSREBE A RER
BETEMATFRITZRGOEE A&
HABBBRBRESIERE B
BEITIRMHERI0% BRER-Z
—NERATBHEEFERETE
ZPREEI% - £ % #1BR % 146,290,000
DEREMREN-_Z—-NFRAT+H
ZEBITRANZ 10%) ERINAERB
HA B} 25 7] R 88 12,000,000 i (=T = =
1 12,000,0008% ) 1D 2 EF| 2 2 F
MARITEBREETEZBRT - 7]
TE8IT 2RO &S E B A 158,290,000
fR(=— & — = £ : 158,290,000 % )
HERANERBHEBEITRN BQELY
TIN%(ZEZ=4 :771%) °

BE_ZE_NFE-_ZE-_=ZF,"A
=T HALEFEREBRETSFRL

2023 are as follows: BEAS R EEEIE T ¢
Outstanding Grant Outstanding
Exercise at1July during Cancelled/ at30June
Category of price 2023 the year Exercised Lapsed 2024
Participants Date of grant per share Exercise period ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
R=B==F R=B=RE
th-H REEE ~A=1A
BATE BEH BFE  BEE/&H BATE
SREEH RHAH ERTEE  TEAE TR TR TR TR TR
(Notea) (Noteb)
(Kza) (KizEb)
Executive director
HiTES
Deng Zhonglin TJune 2018 189 31 December 2018 12,000 - - - 12,000
t0 31 May 2028
W “2-\§rA-H —I-)E
tZR=1-R%
e Sfj:2
fA=1-H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 BE T -FA=THIFE

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

36. BRETE(E)

Executive director
HiTES
Deng Zhongfin 1June 2018 189 31 December 2018 to 12000 = = = 12000
31 May 2028
e —E-N\F~A-A B-)\F
t-A=t+-RZ
i Sl :2
7A=t+-A
Employees TJune 2018 189 31 December 2018 to 14630 - - (14630) -
31 May 2028
BB —E-\F~A-A B-)\F
t-A=t+-RZ
i Sl :2
7A=t+-A
26630 - - (14630) 12000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZTZWFNA=1+HIFE

36.

292

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Notes:

(@ The vesting of the options is conditional upon the fulfilment of certain
performance targets relating to the Group. All the share options granted under
the Share Option Scheme are subject to the following vesting period: 25% of the
share options are exercisable from 31 December 2018 to 31 May 2028, 25% of the
share options are exercisable from 30 June 2019 to 31 May 2028, 25% of the share
options are exercisable from 31 December 2019 to 31 May 2028 and 25% of the
share options are exercisable from 30 June 2020 to 31 May 2028.

(b) The share options were cancelled due to resignation of employees during the
years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023.

The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted was
HK$0.794 per option. The fair value of share options at grant
date is assessed by Peak Vision using the Binomial Option
Pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the
term of the option, the impact of dilution (where material),
the share price at grant date and expected price volatility
of the underlying shares, the expected dividend yield the
risk free interest rate for the term of the option and the
correlations and volatilities of the peer group companies.

The inputs used for the valuation of the options granted
included:

Grant date 1 June 2018
Expiry date 31 May 2028
Spot stock price (HKS per share) 1.85
Exercise price 1.89
Expected price volatility (%) 33.02
Risk-free interest rate (%) 2.21
Expected life of options (year) 10

On 1 June 2018, the Company granted an aggregate of
100,000,000 share options under the Share Option Scheme,
at an exercise price of HK$1.89 per share. The share options
granted to each grantee shall vest conditional upon the
fulfilment of certain performance targets.
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@ BREESEHEASEZETRBEBEEER
% HERE REBRESIRLZ2HE
BENZBHRMT : 5%NBIRERN -FT—N\&F
+-A=+—-BE-E-\ERA=1+—-EHH
AFE - 5% BERER-_Z-—NEXA=T
AE-Z-/\ERA=1+—-BHETF76 -
BUMERER-T-NF+-A=+—HZE=
ZoNFRA=T— BB FIER25% 5
BERA-Z_ZE A=Z+AE-_E_\§HA
=+ — B P -

b)) REE-T-NER-B-=FAA=STHLF
B BRNMESEE  BREC R -
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(MBEX) - &H AR RERIEH
Bein B TR B E 1SR E) - TREIAR B Waas
R BEREFRZANERRFNEX -
LA RIHR S B 1 ] ) R (R B R

RARERLzBREZEEZEB AR
BEEE

B HE —TE-N\F

~NA—H

EIHA A —E-NF

FA=+—H

BNHARR (B 1.85
(BB

1T{EE 1.89

TEHAE KK 1R (%) 33.02
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the yearended 30 June 2024 #HEZZ-WMFNA=FTHIEFE

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 36.

The Binomial Option Pricing model requires input of
subjective assumptions such as the expected volatility.
Change in the subjective input may materially affect the fair
value estimates. The expected volatility is determined by
calculating the historical volatility of the share price of listed
companies with similar business as the Group.

BRESE(E)

:Iﬁi‘tﬁﬁﬂﬁf”*{ﬁﬁ‘t \;Hr)\I&ETEx
RONFEHRIE) - T ABEE
AR A TELAELEEATE - B
HR IR E BT ERAAREEUER
ZEMRBZEERERIBERE

37. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES FROM 37. MEEHMEEEEZHER
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Lease  Corporate
Borrowings liabilities bonds Total
B HEEE LAEF et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TERT THET
(Note 33) (Note 31) (Note 34)
(PH=E33)  (BEE31)  (Bi¥EE34)
t1July 2023 RZEZ=F+H—H 3,235 1,155 40,671 45,061
Financing cash inflows/ BERSREAN/(RH)
(outflows):
Capital elements of EfNHEREZ
lease rentals paid ¥ - (1,456) - (1,456)
Interest elements of EfHEREZ
lease rentals paid FEED - (534) - (534)
Interest paid ERFE (365) - - (365)
Proceeds from BT RIA
borrowings 9,648 - - 9,648
Repayment of a EBE—SEX
borrowing (3,243) - - (3,243)
Other changes: HAth B -
New lease entered BRIHEE = 7,147 = 7,147
Loss on non-substantial NEMEHFIEEKN
modification of EEPA i
corporate bond - - 3,567 3,567
Finance costs BT RAR 1,173 534 3,726 5,433
Exchange realignment BEE 5 EE 1 - - 1
At 30 June 2024 RZZEZMEA=+H 10,449 6,846 47,964 65,259
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RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued)

3 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SZeMBHRRMsE e

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BE T -FA=1THIFE

37. MEFEBMELRBEZHKRE)

At 1 July 2022 i s R = 40,507 4922
Financing cash (outflows)/inflows: BERS(RL),/HRA
Capital elements of lease ENHERE  ERED
rentals paid - (1,260)
Interest elements of lease BAEERS ZFIEEHS
rentals paid - (180)
Interest paid BAFE (5,408) (5,489)
Redemption of corporate bonds BERAES (1,000) (1,000)
Repayment of handling fee BEFEE (360) (360)
Proceeds from a borrowing BHAEHE — 3221
Other changes: Hit g -
Loss on non-substantial modification AREHIFENER]
of corporate bond d 5t 3,198 3,198
Finance costs BER AR 3,734 4009
At 30 June 2023 RZZEZ=%,"A=+H 40671 45,061
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZZT-WUFSA=+HIEFE

38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 38. EAEKLIRS

Save as disclosed elsewhere to the consolidated financial BRIGFEMBHRREMIL D PTHE
statements, the Group had entered into the following related Gh - REBEIZATHEBAZS -
party transactions, which in the opinion of the directors of ARREEZRE  BEBERIBEBTLH
the Company, were carried out in accordance with terms FHERZIGERTERAEB 2 BE ¥
negotiated between the parties and in the ordinary course of BIEHETT o

business of the Group.

(@) Transactions with a related party (a) EH—BREBEIZXS
The Group undertook the following transactions with a REEBRBE_ZT_WUFEXA
related party during the year ended 30 June 2024 = +tHIEFEE—ZE T ET
TR :
2024
—ENF
HK$'000
FHET
Non-controlling interest Purchases of property, plant
and equipment 2,500 -
FEIE AR AR BEWE  BEMR
Non-controlling interest Purchases of goods 1,492 -
FEIE AR BEED
(b) Balances with related parties (b) ERRREET Z4Eth
2024
—E-MEF
HK$'000

FEx

Amount due to/(from) an executive JE,(FEUY ) —Z#iTES

director (Note a) 2 FIE(Mf5Ea) 2,855 (2,039)
Amount due to a director (Note b) JEN—BEE 2 KB (MisEDb) 720 -
Amount due to non-controlling FEA FEIE IR 25 2 BB

interest (Note ¢) (FF&EC) 9,453 =
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZTZWFNA=1+HIFE

38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 38. EXEMAERZE (&)

(Continued)

(b) Balances with related parties (Continued) (b) EBEERERS Z#EeR(E)

Notes: B zE -

@) Included in accruals and other payables as at 30 June 2024, is an amount ) RZZ-_MESA=+H " BHAERK
due to Mr. Deng Zhonglin which is unsecured, interest free, and repayable =8 Y ANE S EOR Y ANl Sk
on demand. B AEER 2ERAREREE -
Included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables as at 30 RZZEZ=F A=10 BEFE BERE
June 2023, was an amount due to Mr. Deng Zhonglin included EKREREERSMBELECRIE  EF
HK$1,500,000 waived discretionary bonus and RMB500,000 (equivalents BIE1,500000 B THERERBLEARARE
to approximately HK$539,200) advanced payment which is unsecured, 500,000 7T (48 & 72 49 539,200 %8 7T ) KO TE 15 5138 -
interest free, and repayable on demand. REER R BRBREKEE -

(b) Included in accruals and other payables as at 30 June 2024 is an amount b RZZT-EEXA=1+H EHEAR
due to a director of a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company HttENHEOERAAARA—RER
which is unsecured, interest free, and repayable on demand. EWNBRBIZ —RESZHE  AER

B REREBRERER -

© Included in accruals and other payables as at 30 June 2024, is an amount (© RZZ-_MESA=+H " BHAERK
due to non-controlling interest of a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the HEwENHBERERNARA—RER
Company which is unsecured, interest-free, and repayable on demand. BMBRAGFERER 2 HE - AEE

A RERERERER -

(c) Compensation of key management personnel (c) EEEESZ2HM
Remuneration for key personnel management, EREEBZHFMNBEXNT
including emoluments paid to the directors of the RARREERAEBETEEZ
Company and certain employees of the Group, as & (GRnsRE R ER M3
disclosed in Note 13 to the consolidated financial FRHRER) )T -

statements, are as follows:

2024 2023
—E-mE  —T-=
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FHT
Salaries, allowances and benefits & & - 2B R BEWH R
in kind 4,092 3,962
Discretionary bonus BIBIEAT 191 1,070
Retirement benefits RIREAFTEIME R
scheme contributions 78 93
Total compensation paid to MEIREE 8 X2 45 B
key management personnel 4,361 5125
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

39. KA T Z MBI T

COMPANY
2024 2023
—EMEF ZEZ=F
HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR ZIKE = 65,966
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables TE - I8 K EL Ath & W R IE 1,604 1,829
Amounts due from subsidiaries A ENEIE ¢ 163 1,190
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEER 17 213
1,784 3,232
Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals and other payables R & B K E b E A 3,163 1,402
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERT BB A R K8 140,286 138,579
Borrowing &R 9,808 =
Corporate bonds nEfES 10,125 40,671
163,382 180,652
Net current liabilities REEEFEE (161,598) (177,420)
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERREEER (161,598) (111,454)
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Corporate bonds NRESH 37,839 —
NET LIABILITIES EEFH (199,437) (111,454)
Capital and reserve EXR#E
Share capital [ 4,108 4,108
Reserves (Note 40) @ (M3t 40) (203,545) (115,562)
CAPITAL DEFICIENCY BEARE 4 (199,437) (111,454)

The statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March

2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wong Ka Shing

BEER
Director

EE

TEERAESE:

Woo Lan Ying

LS

Director

EF

MHERREKHEFER_F_0F=
A+ N\B#EREENE  WHINA
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40. RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

40. AT Zf#E

Share
Share option  Accumulated
Premium reserve losses Total
ROEE BRERE RiEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
THT THL THL THET
Asat 1 July 2022 RZE-—F+A—H 506,123 21,145 (178,373) 348,895
Loss and total comprehensive FEBERZERX
expense for the year ek S = (477,663) (477,663)
Placing of shares AL &EMRAD 13,06 - - 13,206
Share options lapsed during the year 4 & B Sk B 12 - (11,617) 11617 =
Asat30June2023and 1July2023 RZEZ=%-HA=1H
kRZE-=%+tHA—H 519,329 9,528 (644,419) (115,562)
Loss and total comprehensive FEBERZERTBH
expenses for the year - - (87,983) (87,983)
As at 30 June 2024 RZZ-M$,"A=1A 519,329 9,528 (732,402) (203,545)
Note: B3t -
Distributable reserves A KGR

41.

42.

298

Under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands, the share premium account of the Company
is distributable to its shareholder provided that immediately following the date on which
the distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company shall be able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

The application of share premium is governed by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended).

APPROVAL FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March
2025.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event affecting the Company that have
occurred since the end of the year.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

A FHEHE

Revenue from continuing REFELE
operations 2 e 41219 112,161 227,947 504,815

(Loss)/profit before taxation REARBEKEER
from continuing operations  ZBR i AT (E518)

/ vl (490,100) (120,404) 66,925 214,833
Taxation BIE (16,009) 50 41286  (59728)
(Loss)/profit for the year RARBKEER
from continuing ZEE(BR)/
operations ikl (506,109) (120,354) 25,639 155,105
(Loss)/profit for the year REEKIE
from a discontinued REXBFE
operation (B18),/&H (388) (2,513) (31,086) (12,935)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(ER)/&F (506497)  (122,867) (5.447) 142,170
Attributable to: AT AT :
Owners of the Company RREHEBA
- from continuing —REFELE
operations £y (506,109)  (120,354) 25,639 155,105
— from a discontinued —REEKIE
operation REER (388) (2513) (26,461) (18,008)
Non-controlling interests RS
—from continuing - REFHE
operations IRE R — = = -
— from a discontinued —RBEEKIE
operation IREET = = (4,625) 5073
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(ER)/HF (506497)  (122.867) (5447) 142,170
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" Five-Year Financial Summary (Continued)

AFURHBE#

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERER

Total assets BEE 183,121 703,583 882,122 1,157,370
Total liabilities mak (58,121) (57,665) (99,205) (459,717)
Non-controlling interests RIS — — — (5.172)
(Deficit)/equity attributable RNATHEE AEG

to owners of the Company (B4t /= 125,000 645918 782,917 692,481
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